
  
 

APOPKA CITY COUNCIL AGENDA 
October 03, 2018 1:30 PM 

APOPKA CITY HALL COUNCIL CHAMBERS 

 

CALL TO ORDER 
INVOCATION 
PLEDGE 
 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES: 

1. City Council regular meeting and budget hearing September 19, 2018. 
 

AGENDA REVIEW 

 
EMPLOYEE RECOGNITION: 

 Five Year Service Award – Marianne R. Zerillo – Public Services/Utility Administration 
 Ten Year Service Award – Clifford R. MacDonald II – Police/Field Services 
 Fifteen Year Service Award – Clifford A. White – Public Services/Grounds  
 Fifteen Year Service Award – Barry Hornett – Fire/EMS 
 Fifteen Year Service Award – Mark J. Fry – Fire/EMS 

 
PRESENTATIONS: 

1. Presentation of funding by the Florida Department of Environmental Protection (FDEP)  Robert Charles Brooks 
for the Apopka Athletic Complex Florida Recreation Development Assistance Program (FRDAP) grant.                             
 

2. Boy Scout Troop 211: WWII Monument Marker at Kit Land Nelson Park.    Phil Lamphere 
Project: Monument to include a brick outlay with a bronze plaque.  

 
PUBLIC COMMENT PERIOD:  

The Public Comment Period is for City-related issues that may or may not be on today’s Agenda. If you are here for a matter that 
requires a public hearing, please wait for that item to come up on the agenda. If you wish to address the Council, you must fill out an 
Intent to Speak form and provide it to the City Clerk prior to the start of the meeting. If you wish to speak during the Public Comment 
Period, please fill out a green-colored Intent-to-Speak form. If you wish to speak on a matter that requires a public hearing, please fill 
out a white-colored Intent-to-Speak form. Speaker forms may be completed up to 48 hours in advance of the Council meeting. Each 
speaker will have four minutes to give remarks, regardless of the number of items addressed.  Please refer to Resolution No. 2016-16 
for further information regarding our Public Participation Policy & Procedures for addressing the City Council. 
 
CONSENT (Action Item) 

1. Approve an amendment to the Agreement with Lake County for shared public service radio communication facilities.         
2. School Concurrency Mitigation Agreement with Vista Reserve. 
3. School Concurrency Mitigation Agreement with Meadow View Apartments. 
4. Sewer and Water Capacity Agreement Lakeside Phase 2. 

 
BUSINESS (Action Item) 

1. Award a contract for the construction of the Alonzo Williams Park Community Center and off-street parking.    Edward Bass   
 

2. Final Development Plan/Plat - Lakeside, Phase 2                                                                         Bobby Howell 
Project: Avatar Properties, Inc.  
Location:  South of Marshall Lake and West of SR 451 
 

3. Final Development Plan/Plat – Vista Reserve                                                                                                 Jean Sanchez 
Project:  Pulte Home Company, LLC  
Location: East side of Rogers Road, approx. ½ mile north of the intersection of Rogers Road & Lester Road. 

 
PUBLIC HEARINGS/ORDINANCES/RESOLUTION (Action Item) 

1. Ordinance No. 2679 – Second Reading – Comprehensive Plan Amendment                                                       David Moon 
Project:  City of Apopka - Capital Improvements Element – Recreation Improvements 
 

1



  
 

2. Ordinance No. 2678 – First Reading – Change of Zoning/PUD Master Plan/Preliminary Development Plan       Bobby Howell 
Project:  Mid-Florida Freezer Warehouses LTD; Florida Express Trucking, Inc.; Eagles Landing at Ocoee, LLC.  
Location:  West side of SR 429, south of General Electric Road, and east of Hermit Smith Road  
 

3. Ordinance No. 2681 – First Reading – 2018 Annexation Cycle 5                                                                             J ean Sanchez 
Project:  Construesse USA, Inc.  
Location: 2600 Rock Springs Road 
 

4. Resolution 2018-20 - TEFRA Hearing on Revenue Bonds to Waste Management, Inc. Edward Bass 
 
5. Resolution 2018-21 - Statewide Mutual Aid Agreement                                    Assistant Chief Wylam 
 
6. Resolution 2018-22 - Railroad Reimbursement Agreement                   Jay Davoll 

 
CITY COUNCIL REPORTS 
 
MAYOR’S REPORT 

1. Follow up on building located at Park Ave. and 5th Street.  
 

ADJOURNMENT 
 
 

MEETINGS AND UPCOMING EVENTS 

DATE TIME EVENT 

October 4, 2018 5:30pm – 9:00pm Food Truck Round Up 

October 8, 2018 6:30pm –  CONA Meeting – UCF Apopka Business Incubator 

October 9, 2018 5:30pm – 7:30pm Planning Commission Meeting 

October 17, 2018 7:00pm –  City Council Meeting 

October 20, 2018 11:00am – 12:00pm Cookies & Milk with a Cop – NW Orange/Apopka Library 

October 22, 2018 10:00am – Lake Apopka Natural Gas District Board Meeting: Winter Garden 

October 27, 2018 5:00pm – 9:00pm Hometown Halloween in the Park – Kit Land Nelson Park  

November 1, 2018 5:30pm – 9:00pm  Food Truck Round Up 

November 7, 2018 1:30pm –  City Council Meeting 

November 12, 2018 - City Offices Closed in observance of Veterans Day 

November 12, 2018 6:30pm –  CONA Meeting – UCF Apopka Business Incubator 

November 13, 2018 5:30pm – 7:30pm  Planning Commissioner Meeting 

November 17, 2018 11:00am – 12:00pm Cookies & Milk with a Cop – NW Orange/Apopka Library 

November 20, 2018 6:00pm –  Code Enforcement Hearing 

November 21, 2018 7:00pm –  City Council Meeting 

November 22, 2018 - City Offices Closed in observance of Thanksgiving 

November 23, 2018 - City Offices Closed in observance of Thanksgiving 

November 26, 2018 10:00am –  Lake Apopka Natural Gas District Board Meeting: Winter Garden 

 
Individuals with disabilities needing assistance to participate in any of these proceedings should contact the City Clerk at least two (2) working days in 
advance of the meeting date and time at (407) 703-1704.  F.S. 286.0105 If a person decides to appeal any decision or recommendation made by 
Council with respect to any matter considered at this meeting, he will need record of the proceedings, and that for such purposes he may need to ensure 
that a verbatim record of the proceedings is made, which record includes the testimony and evidence upon which the appeal is to be based. 
 
Any opening invocation that is offered before the official start of the Council meeting shall be the voluntary offering of a private person, to and for the 
benefit of the Council.  The views or beliefs expressed by the invocation speaker have not been previously reviewed or approved by the City Council or 
the city staff, and the City is not allowed by law to endorse the religious or non-religious beliefs or views of such speaker.  Persons in attendance at the 
City Council meeting are invited to stand during the opening ceremony. However, such invitation shall not be construed as a demand, order, or any other 
type of command.  No person in attendance at the meeting shall be required to participate in any opening invocation that is offered or to participate in the 
Pledge of Allegiance.  You may remain seated within the City Council Chambers or exit the City Council Chambers and return upon completion of the 
opening invocation and/or Pledge of Allegiance if you do not wish to participate in or witness the opening invocation and/or the recitation of the Pledge of 
Allegiance. 
  

2



19ITY OF APOPKA 

 

Minutes of the regular City Council meeting held on September 19, 2018, at 7:00 p.m., in 

the City of Apopka Council Chambers. 
 

PRESENT:   Mayor Bryan Nelson 

Commissioner Doug Bankson 

Commissioner Kyle Becker  

Commissioner Alice Nolan 

Commissioner Alexander Smith 

City Attorney Cliff Shepard 

City Administrator Edward Bass 

 

PRESS PRESENT:  John Peery - The Apopka Chief 

    Reggie Connell, The Apopka Voice 

    Wesh News 

 

 

INVOCATION: - Mayor Nelson called on Chaplain Jim Schrock, Apopka Police Department, 

who gave the invocation. 

 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE: Mayor Nelson introduced Emanuel Dejesus who led in the 

Pledge of Allegiance. He said on September 17, 1787, George Washington and James Madison 

signed the first U.S. Constitution at the Philadelphia Convention. 

 

OPEN PUBLIC HEARING FOR FY18/19 BUDGET 

Mayor Nelson announced that the City of Apopka City Council convenes this Public Hearing 

on the City of Apopka’s Fiscal Year 2018-2019 Final Millage rate and Final Budget as 

required by Florida Statutes, Chapters 129 and 200. 

 

Florida Statutes, Chapter 200 requires that a final public hearing on the budget be preceded 

by a two to five day notice of hearing. Florida Statutes, Chapter 129 requires that we 

advertise a summary of the final budget.  He asked the clerk if there was proof of publication. 

 

Mrs. Goff stated there was proof of publication of the Tax Increase Notice and the Budget 

Summary were advertised in the Orlando Sentinel on Sunday, September 16, 2018.  

 

SET FINAL MILLAGE & BUDGET FOR FISCAL YEAR 2018-2019 

1. Resolution No. 2018-18 - Setting the millage levy for the fiscal year 2018-2019 at 

4.0376. The City Clerk read the title as follow: 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 2018-18 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF APOPKA, 

FLORIDA, SETTING THE MILLAGE LEVY FOR FISCAL YEAR 2018-

2019.  

3



 

 

CITY OF APOPKA 

Minutes of a regular City Council meeting held on September 19, 2018, 7:00 p.m.  

Page 2 

 

 Mayor Nelson said Resolution 2018-18 is setting the millage levy for the FY 2018-2019 at 

4.0376 mills, which represents an increase of 12.08% over the rolled back rate of 3.6024 

mills. 

 

Edward Bass, City Administrator, provided an overview of the proposed millage rate and 

proposed FY 18/19 Budget. He affirmed the first Public Hearing was held on September 5, 

2018, at 5:15 p.m. to set the tentative millage rate and proposed budget. This is the final 

Public Hearing to set the final millage rate and budget for fiscal year that begins October 1, 

2018, and ends September 30, 2019.  He provided highlights stating the millage rate is at 

4.0376 mills per $1,000 of assessed value, which is a .25 increase from the prior year. There 

were no reserves or borrowing to balance the general fund this year. As of December 31, 

2018, the Red Light Camera program is eliminated in the budget. There is funding for School 

Resource Officers in all of the Apopka Schools funded in this budget. Other highlights 

include the Orange County Station 29 agreement has been executed, and the meter 

replacement program are included.  The City received $85,000 for the Bear Cart Grant, 

which has been adjusted in this budget. Also, another change is the Police Department Grant 

funding for $26,757 is included in this budget. He reported some money has been redirected 

from the Police and Fire Impact Fees to start the process of a needs assessment for a Public 

Safety Facility. Funding has been included for merit increases on a scale of 1-6%. He advised 

the evaluation process is being reviewed to tighten down on the employee performance. 

Money has been included from the Recreation Impact Fees for improved and additional 

parking at the NW Recreation Complex. He reviewed capital improvements that have had 

funding included in this budget. He stated that as these funds are expended they will come 

before Council for approval.  

 

Mayor Nelson opened the meeting to a public hearing. 

 

William Gusler provided copies of spreadsheets to Council pertaining to salary and merit pay 

looking at a comparative to surrounding cities. He said the City of Apopka was currently 

3.4% higher than the other cities in the area.  He stated the initial budget for merit raises 

started at 3% and with contention, it went back to the 1-6% increase. He said Mr. Bass said 

the evaluation process was going to be reviewed to make sure employees are being evaluated 

properly. He said the city averaged 4.5% citywide last year and some departments averaged 

over 5%. He stated he did not think this was realistic. He said with the data, 3% would be 

reasonable and higher than surrounding entities.  

 

No one else wishing to speak, Mayor Nelson closed the public hearing. 

 

MOTION by Commissioner Nolan, and seconded by Commissioner Smith to approve 

Resolution No. 2018-18, establishing Fiscal Year 2018-2019 final millage rate at 4.0376 

mills. Motion carried unanimously with Mayor Nelson, and Commissioners Bankson, 

Becker, Smith, and Nolan voting aye. 

 

Mayor Nelson said the City of Apopka has determined that a final millage rate of 4.0376 

mills is necessary to fund the final budget. The final millage rate represents an increase of 

12.08% from the rolled back rate of 3.6024 mills. 

4



 

 

CITY OF APOPKA 

Minutes of a regular City Council meeting held on September 19, 2018, 7:00 p.m.  

Page 3 

 

2. Resolution No. 2018-19 - Adopt the annual budget for fiscal year 2018-2019. The City Clerk 

read the title as follows: 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 2018-19 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF APOPKA, 

FLORIDA, ADOPTING THE ANNUAL BUDGET FOR THE GENERAL 

FUND, SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS, AND ENTERPRISE FUNDS FOR 

FISCAL YEAR 2018-2019. 

 

Mayor Nelson said the Fiscal Year 2018-2019 proposed budget for all funds is balanced at 

$114,691,561. This represents a decrease of $9,981,148 or 8.0% from the FY 2017-2018 

budget.  

 

Commissioner Becker said at the last meeting Finance Director Roberson asked Council to 

let her know what reports going forward. He provided some examples of reports that would 

allow transparency and reports could be given either monthly or quarterly that would be 

helpful to see the year over year broken down and to see the total deficit.  

 

Ms. Roberson said they planned to start providing reports on a quarterly basis.  

 

Mayor Nelson opened the meeting to a public hearing.    No one wishing to speak, he closed 

the public hearing. 

 

Call for a MOTION to adopt Resolution No. 2018-19 adopting revenues, expenditures, and 

fund balances for the City’s Fiscal Year Budget commencing on October 1, 2018, and ending 

on September 30, 2019.  

 

MOTION by Commissioner Bankson, and seconded by Commissioner Nolan, to adopt 

Resolution 2018-19 adopting FY Budget 2018-2019 commencing on October 1, 2018, 

and ending on September 30, 2019. Motion carried unanimously with Mayor Nelson, 

and Commissioners Bankson, Becker, Smith, and Nolan voting aye.  

 

Mayor Nelson said the City of Apopka has adopted Resolution No. 2018-19, which adopts 

revenues, expenditures, and fund balances for the City’s Fiscal Year Budget commencing on 

October 1, 2018 and ending September 30, 2019 balancing all funds at $114,691,561. He 

stated this concludes the Public Hearing on the City of Apopka’s Fiscal Year 2018-2019 

Final Millage rate and Final Budget as required by Florida Statutes, Chapters 129 and 200. 

 

CLOSE PUBLIC HEARING FOR FY18/19 BUDGET 

 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES: 

1. City Council regular meeting September 5, 2018. 

2. City Council budget hearing September 5, 2018. 

 

5



 

 

CITY OF APOPKA 

Minutes of a regular City Council meeting held on September 19, 2018, 7:00 p.m.  

Page 4 

MOTION by Commissioner Bankson, and seconded by Commissioner Nolan, to 

approve the minutes of August 15, 2018 as presented.  Motion carried unanimously 

with Mayor Nelson, and Commissioners Bankson, Becker, Smith and Nolan voting aye.  

 

AGENDA REVIEW – City Administrator Bass advised of one change under Business. Item 4 

will be moved to Item 3.  

 

PUBLIC COMMENT; STAFF RECOGNITION AND ACKNOWLEDGEMENT 

Presentations: 

1. Super Hero Award to Christian Redmon and Anthony Torres for their outstanding 

community efforts. 

Mayor Nelson presented Christian Redmon with a “Super Hero” award for his outstanding 

community efforts in raising money to help his friend who has childhood cancer. He raised 

approximately $800 more or less by holding a carwash, selling pizza and lemonade, and a 

raffle to raise money.   

 

Mayor Nelson presented Anthony Torres with a “Super Hero” award for his outstanding 

community efforts in raising approximately $800 from selling lemonade from a lemonade 

stand on Wekiva Springs Road to help the homeless. He purchased all the food and he and 

his family helped serve food to the homeless at First Baptist Church.  

 

2. Boy Scout Troop 211: WWII Monument Marker at Kit Land Nelson Park.  Project: 

Monument to include a brick outlay with a bronze plaque. – Withdrawn to a later date.  

 

3. Chief McKinley recognized Captain Jerome Miller for his accomplishments in completing 

the FBI National Academy professional course at Quantico, VA. He said the FBI-NA is a 

national course of study for US and International law enforcement managers nominated by 

their agency head because of demonstrated leadership qualities. Participation in the Academy 

is by invitation only through a nomination process. Captain Miller attended Session 273 

which consisted of approximately 220 law enforcement officials from around the world. 

Classes were offered in Intelligence Theory, Terrorism and Terrorist Mindsets, Management 

Science, Law, Behavioral Science, Law Enforcement Communication, and Forensic Science. 

In addition to academics, Captain Miller was required to participate in a demanding fitness 

program. Captain Miller is the first Apopka Police Officer to attend this prestigious law 

enforcement management training. He congratulated Captain Miller in completing this 

milestone in his law enforcement career.  

 

Captain Miller thanked the Mayor, Commissioners and city staff for supporting him in his 

endeavor. He said he already had his information in the database prior to Chief McKinley 

coming to Apopka. Chief McKinley asked him if he was interested in attending the National 

Academy and his name was submitted for nomination. He said this was a once in a lifetime 

experience.  

 

Public Comment: 
Garvin Persad said he and his brother own Hi-Flo Muffler shop located in Apopka at 545 S. 

Orange Blossom Trail and for the past two years they have been establishing their business in 

Apopka. They would like to extend their business out and open a car wash under the existing 

awning. The prior owner conduced outdoor car repairs under this awning. They have requested a 

6



 

 

CITY OF APOPKA 

Minutes of a regular City Council meeting held on September 19, 2018, 7:00 p.m.  

Page 5 

permit for the carwash and it has not been issued.  He reiterated their desire to expand their 

business and said they have a plan for the water retention.  

 

Commissioner Becker said he has discussed this matter with them a few times and stated the city 

staff has made a notation regarding the downtown overlay district. He stated it was a broad term 

to the specific nature of what they are doing. They were told outdoor activity would be 

prohibited. He inquired how staff was classifying outdoor activity as well as indoor activity.  

 

Mr. Hitt said they have not had any conversations since the owners spoke at the Planning 

Commission meeting. He said they would need to speak with the city engineer regarding 

retention of water.  

 

Following discussion, Mr. Bass asked Mr. Persad to provide his contact information and staff 

will contact him to set up a meeting to discuss specifics with him.  

 

Alyssa James & Catalina Sandoval, from the Apopka High School Drama Club, spoke about the 

Dram Club and what they try to accomplish, as well as exposing children to the arts. They do not 

receive any funding from the school.  The Drama Club is getting ready to hold their fundraiser 

and requested support from the City.  They left flyers with the Clerk to provide to the Mayor and 

Commissioners stating they hope the City will be able to offer support.  

 

CONSENT 
1. Approval of alcohol sales at the R&B Festival at Kit Land Nelson Park on September 29, 

2018.  

 

 MOTION by Commissioner Becker, and seconded by Commissioner Smith, to approve 

one item on the Consent Agenda. Motion carried unanimously with Mayor Nelson and 

Commissioners Bankson, Becker, and Nolan voting aye.  

 

BUSINESS 

1. Reject RFP 2018-20 Insurance: Property, Casualty, and Liability & Workers Compensation. 

 

Mayor Nelson opened the meeting to public comment. 

 

David Lodwick, Halifax of Century and Public Risk, spoke in support of the staff 

recommendation. He said they understand this is a trying time to bid this service out. He said 

they were able to put together a proposal that included the Florida Municipal Insurance Trust 

administered by the Florida League of Cities. He said their proposal represented over a 10% 

decrease in opposition of the 9% increase in the current budget. Their bid also did not have a 

provision requiring a letter from the city 45 days in advance nor a resolution or ordinance 

from Council. Their proposal did not have any hidden fees. He said they were here to be a 

resource for the City and staff to allow them to get to know the Leagues program.  

 

Mayor Nelson advised the current provider has a buyout clause that would cost additional 

funds. This action gets the City to the position that they will be able to rebid next year.  

 

No others wishing to speak, Mayor Nelson closed the public comment. 

 

7



 

 

CITY OF APOPKA 

Minutes of a regular City Council meeting held on September 19, 2018, 7:00 p.m.  

Page 6 

MOTION by Commissioner Bankson, and seconded by Commissioner Smith to reject 

all bids for RFP 2018-20 and rebid at a future date. Motion carried unanimously with 

Mayor Nelson, and Commissioners Bankson, Becker, Smith, and Nolan voting aye. 

 

2. Memorandum of Agreement – Property Exchange 

Project:  St. John’s River Water Management District and the City of Apopka  

Location: Off of Binion Road 

 

Jim Hitt, Community Development Director, said this was a Memorandum of Agreement 

between the City of Apopka and St. John’s River Water Management District (SJRWMD). 

The property the City is looking to exchange is located off Lust Road and Binion Road. The 

property is at the entrance of the Wildlife Trail, also known as the loop. He reviewed the 

location on a map and said this was probably one of the best viewing areas in Central Florida 

for birders. He said this is an entrance feature and the Orange Audubon Society 

representatives is present to discuss. He explained we are looking to do a property exchange, 

stating this property was declared surplus in 2012 and it has to retain environmentally 

friendly and conscious property, which is a reflection of the property when it was provided to 

SJRWMD. He said the City would be stewards of the property, having worked out a 69-acre 

parcel with an entrance off Lust Road. Part of the exchange is the City taking over this 

portion and at a future date the SJRWMD may relocate their offices on a 5-acre piece of 

property the City owns off of Binion Road on the west side. IFAS is located nearby and the 

opportunity to have SJRWMD office in Apopka on the shores of Lake Apopka is something 

to seriously consider. He explained there are three parts to this, the Memorandum of 

Agreement and two options; one option is to possibly take over an additional portion of 

property for $10.00. He reiterated the swap of land is the City exchanging 5-acres for 69-

acres of land.  

 

Mayor Nelson opened public comment. 

 

Deborah Green, Orange Audubon Society, said Bird of Palooza introduced people to the 

Lake Apopka North Shore wildlife, which began a public movement to try to obtain access to 

see the wildlife. This led to the Lake Apopka Loop Trail being open by Orange County from 

Magnolia Park to the Pump House in 2013. The plan is for this to connect to the coast-to-

coast connector trail.  The Lake Apopka Wildlife Trail opened in 2015 with approximately 

2,500 people going through the drive each weekend. She said there has not been a lot of 

advertising on the trail and most of the comments are through Facebook where some good 

photographers are posting. The wildlife drive is only open Friday, Saturday, Sundays, and 

Federal Holidays. She said the Hickerson property is to the right of the entrance to the 

Wildlife Drive and the SJRWMD purchased this property in the late 1990’s and they are not 

using it to restore Lake Apopka, so the property was been placed on the surplus list in 2012. 

She stated this could be a passive nature park open 7-days a week. She reviewed the 

surrounding parcels. The Orange Audubon Society is proposing a Gateway Birding Park, 

passive recreation park, immediate valuate of parking for carpooling on the drive for the 

three days the drive is open. This could also be utilized for parking for cycling or pedestrian 

entry for the drive on the days it is closed, as well as a place to be able to go birding and 

hiking 7-days a week. This is an upland site that several species of birds need and found on 

this site. Orange Audubon did a study and found over 100 species of birds. She suggested the 

renovation of the existing building at some point could serve various functions. Prior to 

8



 

 

CITY OF APOPKA 

Minutes of a regular City Council meeting held on September 19, 2018, 7:00 p.m.  

Page 7 

opening a passive birding park, the concrete pads from the greenhouses could be utilized for 

parking and would only require cleaning up of the site. Fencing and a gate would need to be 

installed near the entrance, bear proof trashcans, and port-o-lets would be required.  She said 

this would be a low-level park for people to walk around and utilization of parking. They 

would plant bird friendly trees as well as other vegetation install benches and mowing paths. 

She affirmed they have a tentative plan for this and advised that a Memorandum of 

Understanding between Orange Audubon and the City was signed June 17, 2017. She urged 

Council to approve the Memorandum of Agreement with SJRWMD to accept this property 

exchange.  

 

Robert Stamps said he was a 4-year resident of the area and hopes Council approves this 

agreement. He stated Dr. Green has pointed out the benefits to Apopka. He said more bird 

species have been seen on the Wildlife Drive in Apopka than at Black Point Drive at Merritt 

Island National Wildlife Refuge. He said there were multiple economic benefits to Apopka 

with more people coming to this park and they will make purchases while here. The citizens 

will have a very unique park not seen any place else that will be free and provide access to 

the Lake Apopka Loop Trail, Wildlife Drive, and to this 69-acre passive park. Another 

potential is concerning the Director of IFAS sending a letter to the Executive Director of the 

SJRWMD about doing some cooperative programs and work.  

 

Steve Coleman said he was here to speak on behalf of the Gateway Birding Park proposal. 

He stated it is his hope Council would approve and proceed with this proposal and by doing 

this Apopka will make an unprecedented statement in eco-tourism. This very action would 

put Apopka on the map as a destination for anyone living in or visiting Central Florida. He 

said the best part is that this is free for families to come, explore, learn, and get away for a 

few hours. He stated he has learned so much about Lake Apopka and its wildlife since 

coming to the Wildlife Drive. The Gateway Birding Park will be the next step in the 

evolution of Apopka’s rise and commitment to something that is unique, different, and the 

only one of its kind in Central Florida. He said he comes to the drive every weekend to 

capture the landscape, gators, bald eagles, and sunsets in photographs. He spoke of many 

people he has met from all over while at the Wildlife Drive. He declared the Gateway 

Birding Park would attract hundreds of birders from all over the world to come visit and 

spend money in Apopka.  

 

Commissioner Becker said the photographs of sunsets and wildlife Steve takes are amazing. 

He thanked Steve for his comments. 

 

Commissioner Bankson said Dr. Green mentioned 2,500 visitors a week and that is 130,000 a 

year. He stated that could grow and bring business and interest to Apopka.  

 

Commissioner Nolan said we are very fortunate that we have the Wildlife Drive. She stated 

her family was recently out there and spoke of the people that were there enjoying the area. 

She would like to see more education for this area.  

 

Commissioner Smith said being an Agriculturist, this is his ideal that we have something no 

one else has to be able to enjoy and give citizens a different aspect of nature. He stated he 

fully supports this idea of the project.  

 

9



 

 

CITY OF APOPKA 

Minutes of a regular City Council meeting held on September 19, 2018, 7:00 p.m.  

Page 8 

Mayor Nelson said for Apopka to be able to have the SJRWMD Service Center there would 

make this a win-win. He stated Fred Brummer brought on the Bird of Palooza and got it 

started. They were not able to hold it last year due to the dikes being compromised from the 

storm. He affirmed that two years ago we were in the top 10 of birding destinations.  

 

MOTION by Commissioner Nolan and seconded by Commissioner Smith to approve 

the Memorandum of Agreement as presented. Motion carried unanimously with Mayor 

Nelson, and Commissioners Bankson, Becker, Smith, and Nolan voting aye. 

 

Mr. Hitt complimented the Audubon Society stating that Dr. Green has been out there 

tirelessly planting different trees and putting a lot into this based on our Memorandum of 

Understanding with the Orlando Audubon Society.  

 

3. Final Development Plan – Apopka Medical Office 

Project:  Urgent Care Developers of Apopka, LLC  

Location: 1520 West Orange Blossom Trail 

 

Jean Sanchez, Planner, provided an overview of the Apopka Medial Office Final 

Development Plan. She reviewed the location on a map and showed the surrounding land 

uses. She advised only a portion of this area is proposed to be developed at this time. The 

total area is approximately 4.5 acres and the applicant intends to replat the parcels and form 

lots 1 and 2. Approximately a 5,300 square foot building will be developed for this use. The 

stormwater will be located on the southern portion of the site that may later be incorporated 

into a master stormwater pond jointly used by the entire development.  There will be 26 

parking spaces will be provided, of which two are handicap accessible. This project will have 

right in right out only access to U.S. 441.  She reviewed the landscape plan.  The DRC 

recommends approval. The Planning Commission recommends approval subject to the 

findings of the staff report. The recommendation is to approve the Apopka Medical Office 

Final Development Plan subject to the findings of the staff report.  

 

Commissioner Becker said this was less than half a mile from the developments they 

reviewed at the last meeting in terms of the lack of a right turn lane into the property.  

 

Ms. Sanchez said the Transportation Planner as well as the project engineer and applicant are 

in contact with FDOT in terms of the right turn lane.  

 

Selby Weeks, Engineer for the project said the staff report has been reviewed and they agree 

with the conditions. He stated the City and the applicant have reached out to FDOT regarding 

the right turn lane.  They are in the permitting process on the driveway and they anticipate a 

right turn lane will not be required on this first phase of the project. The trips generated do 

not warrant a right turn lane for this project, but as it develops out, a right turn lane is more of 

a possibility.  

 

Pam Richmond, Transportation Planner, said this is a valid point, but with a traffic analysis, 

there are certain boundaries they have to stay within, one being that they can require a traffic 

study if the project generates less than 400 trips. In this case, they did not due to knowing 

more development is coming. She stated when they do that traffic study they will do an 

accumulative study for the site.  She declared with regards to a right turn lane, they are at the 

10



 

 

CITY OF APOPKA 

Minutes of a regular City Council meeting held on September 19, 2018, 7:00 p.m.  

Page 9 

mercy of FDOT on a road that they have jurisdiction.  She advised FDOT has been asked to 

please consider the safety with regards to a right turn lane for this area.  

 

Mr. Weeks said as this site is developed, it may have a higher number of trips generated and 

they will be back before Council with another plan and DOT will look at the site 

accumulatively.  At that time the developer may be required to put in a right turn lane. 

 

Mayor Nelson opened the meeting to public comment. No one wishing to speak he closed the 

public comment.  

 

MOTION by Commissioner Bankson, and seconded by Commissioner Nolan to 

approve the Final Development Plan for Apopka Medical Office Building. Motion 

carried 4-1 with Mayor Nelson, and Commissioners Bankson, Smith, and Nolan voting 

aye, and Commissioner Becker voting nay. 

 

PUBLIC HEARINGS/ORDINANCES/RESOLUTION 
1. Resolution No. 2018-17 – Land Dedication for Public Right-of-Way  

Project:  The Coca-Cola Company  

Location:  Grand Avian Parkway.  The City Clerk read the title as follows: 

 

RESOLUTION 2018-17 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF APOPKA, 

FLORIDA, ACCEPTING A QUIT CLAIM DEED FROM THE COCA-COLA 

COMPANY FOR REAL PROPERTY; DIRECTING THE CITY CLERK OR 

DESIGNEE TO RECORD THE EXECUTED DEED IN THE PUBLIC 

RECORDS OF ORANGE COUNTY, AND PAY ALL FEES NECESSARY TO 

EFFECTUATE SUCH RECORDATION; PROVIDING SEVERABILITY 

AND AN EFFECTIVE DATE.  

David Moon, Planning Manager, said this resolution is for City Council to accept a 30-foot 

wide tract of land owned by the Coca-Cola Company. The site is located on the east side of a 

30-acre piece of property owned by Coca-Cola. This dedication of land will allow improved 

road access to the Coca-Cola property, as well as allow Grand Avian Parkway to contain an 

80-foot wide right-of-way in lieu of 50-feet, allowing room for a two-lane divided street with 

a landscape or grass median and a multi-use trail and sidewalk on opposite sides of the street. 

DRC recommends acceptance of the land dedication.  

 

Mayor Nelson opened the meeting to a public hearing. No one wishing to speak, he closed 

the public hearing. 

 

MOTION by Commissioner Nolan, and seconded from Commissioner Smith to approve 

Resolution 2018-17, accepting a Quit Claim deed from Coca-Cola for the donation of 

said property. Motion carried unanimously with Mayor Nelson, and Commissioners 

Bankson, Becker, Smith, and Nolan voting aye. 

 

2. Ordinance No. 2618 – Second Reading – Comprehensive Plan Amendment – Large Scale –  

11



 

 

CITY OF APOPKA 

Minutes of a regular City Council meeting held on September 19, 2018, 7:00 p.m.  

Page 10 

Project: Orlando Beltway Associates  

Location: West & East of S.R. 429, north of Kelly Park Road. The City Clerk read the title as 

follows:  

 

ORDINANCE NO. 2618 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA, AMENDING 

THE FUTURE LAND USE ELEMENT OF THE APOPKA 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN OF THE CITY OF APOPKA; CHANGING THE 

FUTURE LAND USE DESIGNATION FROM “COUNTY” RURAL 

RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT TO “CITY” MIXED USE - INTERCHANGE FOR 

CERTAIN REAL PROPERTY GENERALLY LOCATED WEST OF 

PLYMOUTH SORRENTO ROAD AND EAST OF EFFIE DRIVE, OWNED 

BY ORLANDO BELTWAY ASSOCIATES; COMPRISING 107.5 ACRES, 

MORE OR LESS, PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; AND PROVIDING 

FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

David Moon, Planning Manager, advised there have been no changes since the first reading. 

 

Mayor Nelson opened the meeting to a public hearing. No one wishing to speak, he closed 

the public hearing. 

 

MOTION by Commissioner Bankson, and seconded by Commissioner Nolan to adopt 

Ordinance No. 2618. Motion carried unanimously with Mayor Nelson, and 

Commissioners Bankson, Becker, Smith, and Nolan voting aye. 

 

3. Ordinance No. 2658 – Second Reading – Comprehensive Plan Amendment – Large Scale – 

Legislative Project: Eagles Landing at Ocoee, LLC 

Location: South of Peterson Road, West of SR 429. The City Clerk read the title as follows: 

 

ORDINANCE NO. 2658 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA, AMENDING 

THE FUTURE LAND USE ELEMENT OF THE APOPKA 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN OF THE CITY OF APOPKA; CHANGING THE 

FUTURE LAND USE DESIGNATION FROM MIXED USE AND 

AGRICULTURE TO INDUSTRIAL FOR CERTAIN REAL PROPERTY 

GENERALLY LOCATED SOUTH OF PETERSON ROAD AND WEST OF 

STATE ROAD 429, OWNED BY EAGLES LANDING AT OCOEE, LLC; 

COMPRISING 37.4 ACRES, MORE OR LESS, PROVIDING FOR 

SEVERABILITY; AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

Phil Martinez, Planner, advised there have been no changes since the first reading. 

 

Mayor Nelson opened the meeting to a public hearing. No one wishing to speak, he closed 

the public hearing. 

12



 

 

CITY OF APOPKA 

Minutes of a regular City Council meeting held on September 19, 2018, 7:00 p.m.  

Page 11 

 

MOTION by Commissioner Nolan, seconded by Commissioner Bankson to adopt 

Ordinance No. 2658. Motion carried unanimously with Mayor Nelson, and 

Commissioners Bankson, Becker, Smith, and Nolan voting aye. 

 

4. Ordinance No. 2659 – Second Reading - Comp Plan – Large Scale – Kelly Park Reserve 

Project:   Min Sun Cho, Hong Sik and Deok Hwa Kim  

Location: 4068, 4046, & 4022 Plymouth Sorrento Road. The City Clerk read the title as 

follows: 

 

ORDINANCE NO. 2659 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA, AMENDING 

THE FUTURE LAND USE ELEMENT OF THE APOPKA 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN OF THE CITY OF APOPKA; CHANGING THE 

FUTURE LAND USE DESIGNATION FROM RESIDENTIAL VERY LOW 

SUBURBAN TO MIXED USE - INTERCHANGE FOR CERTAIN REAL 

PROPERTY GENERALLY LOCATED WEST OF PLYMOUTH SORRENTO 

ROAD AND NORTH OF APPY LANE, OWNED BY MIN SUN CHOE , 

HONG SIK KIM & DEOK HWA KIM; COMPRISING 20 ACRES, MORE 

OR LESS, PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; AND PROVIDING FOR AN 

EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 

Mr. Martinez advised there have been no changes since the first reading. 

 

Mayor Nelson opened the meeting to a public hearing. No one wishing to speak, he closed 

the public hearing. 

 

MOTION by Commissioner Smith, seconded by Commissioner Nolan to adopt 

Ordinance No. 2659. Motion carried unanimously with Mayor Nelson, and 

Commissioners Bankson, Becker, Smith, and Nolan voting aye. 

 

5. Ordinance No. 2671 – Second Reading - PUD Master Plan Amendment – Avian Pointe  

Project: Apopka Clear Lake Investments, LLC  

Location: East side of SR 429, north of Lust Road.  The City Clerk read the title as follows: 

 

ORDINANCE NO. 2671 

 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA, AMENDING 

ORDINANCE 2292, WHICH AMENDS THE ADOPTED “AVIAN POINTE 

PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT (PUD) MASTER PLAN” FOR 

CERTAIN REAL PROPERTY LOCATED NORTH OF LUST ROAD AND 

EAST OF SR 429, COMPRISING 127.21 ACRES MORE OR LESS; OWNED 

BY APOPKA CLEAR LAKE INVESTMENTS, LLC; PROVIDING FOR 

DIRECTIONS TO THE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR, 

SEVERABILITY, CONFLICTS, AND AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 

13



 

 

CITY OF APOPKA 

Minutes of a regular City Council meeting held on September 19, 2018, 7:00 p.m.  

Page 12 

Mr. Moon advised there have been no changes to the Ordinance. City Council is requested to 

take two actions, one is to adopt Ordinance No. 2671 and the second is to approve the 

Development Agreement related to the development site. He advised the developer is present 

to answer any questions by Council and he finds the agreement acceptable.  

  

Mayor Nelson opened the meeting to a public hearing.  

Derek Ryan lives on Petersen Road and expressed concerns regarding traffic and safety of 

equipment and trucks traveling in the area of King Street and Petersen Road. He said that 

Florida Cactus sells their succulents retail, so there is also a lot of smaller vehicle traffic. He 

stated the road was not wide enough for two-lane traffic to safely pass each other and trucks 

must swing wide to go around the 90-degree curve, which is also a blind curve.  

 

Commissioner Bankson inquired if the reason the curve is a blind curve was due to 

overgrowth, to which Mr. Ryan responded in the affirmative.  

 

Mr. Moon affirmed staff has been aware of the situation on Petersen Road and King Street 

since Mr. Bombeeck began planning this site. He stated it is likely that Petersen Road from 

King Street to the project entrance will require some type of improvement. He affirmed there 

was sufficient right-of-way on both streets.  

 

No one else wishing to speak, Mayor Nelson closed the public hearing. 

 

MOTION by Commissioner Bankson, and seconded by Commissioner Becker to adopt 

Ordinance No. 2671. Motion carried unanimously with Mayor Nelson, and 

Commissioners Bankson, Becker, Nolan, and Smith voting aye. 

 

MOTION by Commissioner Smith and seconded by Commissioner Nolan to approve 

the Development Agreement for Avian Pointe. Motion carried unanimously with Mayor 

Nelson, and Commissioners Bankson, Becker, Smith, and Nolan voting aye. 

 

6. Ordinance No. 2672 – Second Reading - “MEdTech Campus Overlay District” 

Project:  City of Apopka – Kelly Park Interchange Form-Based Code Amendment. The City 

Clerk read the title as follows: 

 

ORDINANCE NO. 2672 

 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA, AMENDING 

THE KELLY PARK INTERCHANGE FORM BASED CODE BY 

CREATING A NEW OVERLAY DISTRICT ENTITLED “MEDTECH 

CAMPUS OVERLAY DISTRICT”, PROVIDING FOR DIRECTIONS TO 

THE CITY CLERK; SEVERABILITY; CONFLICTS; AND AN EFFECTIVE 

DATE. 

 

Jim Hitt, Community Development Director, said suggested revisions were made to the 

definition of technology. 

 

Commissioner Becker asked if they were trying to isolate technology to more hardware, to 

which Mr. Hitt responded in the negative. The consensus was to add verbiage to include 

14



 

 

CITY OF APOPKA 

Minutes of a regular City Council meeting held on September 19, 2018, 7:00 p.m.  

Page 13 

“production or research of advance or sophisticated devices or software technologies in the 

field of electronics, robotics, …”.  

 

Mayor Nelson opened the meeting to a public hearing. No one wishing to speak, he closed 

the public hearing. 

 

MOTION by Commissioner Nolan, and seconded by Commissioner Bankson, to adopt 

Ordinance No. 2672 with the revised verbiage as suggested. Motion carried 

unanimously with Mayor Nelson, and Commissioners Bankson, Becker, Nolan, and 

Smith voting aye. 

 

7. Ordinance No. 2674 – Second Reading – 2018 Annexation Cycle 4 – Parcel 

Project:  City of Apopka 

Location: East side of North Hiawassee Road, south of US 441. The City Clerk read the title 

as follows: 

 

ORDINANCE NO. 2674 

 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA, TO EXTEND 

ITS TERRITORIAL AND MUNICIPAL LIMITS TO ANNEX PURSUANT 

TO CHAPTER 171.044, FLORIDA STATUTES THE HERINAFTER 

DESCRIBED LANDS SITUATED AND BEING IN ORANGE COUNTY 

FLORIDA, OWNED BY THE CITY OF APOPKA; AND LOCATED ON 

THE EAST SIDE OF N HIAWASSEE ROAD AND SOUTH OF US 

441/ORANGE BLOSSOM TRAIL; PROVIDING FOR DIRECTIONS TO 

THE CITY CLERK, SEVERABILITY, CONFLICTS, AND AN EFFECTIVE 

DATE. 

 

Pam Richmond, Senior Planner, said there have been no changes since the first reading. 

 

Mayor Nelson opened the meeting to a public hearing. No one wishing to speak, he closed 

the public hearing. 

 

MOTION by Commissioner Nolan, and seconded by Commissioner Bankson to adopt 

Ordinance No. 2674. Motion carried unanimously with Mayor Nelson, and 

Commissioners Bankson, Becker, Nolan, and Smith voting aye. 

 

8. Ordinance No. 2675 – Second Reading – 2018 Annexation Cycle 4 – Road Right-of-Ways 

Project:  Orange County  

Locations: North Hiawassee Road, Lust Road, East Votaw Road, North Christiana Avenue,  

South Christiana Avenue, Vick Road, West Martin Street, E Nancy Lee Lane, and W Nancy 

Lee Lane. The City Clerk read the title as follows: 

 

ORDINANCE NO. 2675 

 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA, TO EXTEND 

ITS TERRITORIAL AND MUNICIPAL LIMITS TO ANNEX PURSUANT 

TO FLORIDA STATUTE 171.044 THE HEREINAFTER DESCRIBED 

15



 

 

CITY OF APOPKA 

Minutes of a regular City Council meeting held on September 19, 2018, 7:00 p.m.  

Page 14 

PUBLIC RIGHTS-OF-WAY KNOWN AS NORTH HIAWASSEE ROAD, 

LUST ROAD, EAST VOTAW ROAD, NORTH CHRISTIANA AVENUE, 

SOUTH CHRISTIANA AVENUE, VICK ROAD, WEST MARTIN STREET, 

EAST NANCY LEE LANE, AND WEST NANCY LEE LANE, SITUATED 

AND BEING IN ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA, AND COMPRISED OF 

APPROXIMATELY 16.341 ACRES; OWNED BY ORANGE COUNTY 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS; PROVIDING FOR 

DIRECTIONS TO THE CITY CLERK, SEVERABILTY, CONFLICTS, AND 

AN EFFECTIVE DATE.  

 

Ms. Richmond advised there have been no changes since the First Reading. 

 

Mayor Nelson opened the meeting to a public hearing. No one wishing to speak, he closed 

the public hearing. 

 

MOTION by Commissioner Smith, and seconded by Commissioner Becker to adopt 

Ordinance No. 2675. Motion carried unanimously with Mayor Nelson, and 

Commissioners Bankson, Becker, Nolan, and Smith voting aye. 

 

9. Ordinance No. 2673 – First Reading – Land Development Code Amendment  

Project:  City of Apopka – Article V, Section 5.05.00 – Floodplains. The City Clerk read the 

title as follows: 

 

ORDINANCE NO. 2673 

 

AN ORDINANCE BY THE APOPKA CITY COUNCIL AMENDING THE 

APOPKA CODE OF ORDINANCES TO REPEAL LAND DEVELOPMENT 

CODE SECTION 5.05.00 FLOODPLAINS; TO ADOPT A NEW SECTION 

5.05.00; TO AMEND LAND DEVELOPMENT CODE SECTION 1.09.13 

DEFINITIONS; TO ADOPT FLOOD HAZARD MAPS, TO DESIGNATE A 

FLOODPLAIN ADMINISTRATOR, TO ADOPT PROCEDURES AND 

CRITERIA FOR DEVELOPMENT IN FLOOD HAZARD AREAS, AND 

FOR OTHER PURPOSES; TO ADOPT TECHNICAL AMENDMENTS TO 

THE FLORIDA BUILDING CODE; PROVIDING FOR APPLICABILITY; 

SEVERABILITY, AND AN EFFECTIVE DATE 

 

Richard Earp, City Engineer, said in order for the City to maintain compliance with the 

minimum requirements of FEMA National Flood Insurance program, revisions to the 

floodplain ordinance and associated floodplain elements of the Land Development Code are 

required. He stated he worked with FEMA to develop these code revisions as required by the 

Florida Division of Emergency Management and FEMA.  The language addresses the 

consistency issues between our definitions for Floodplain Administrator and other definitions 

with the Florida Building Code and FEMA minimum requirements. He said the only change 

not required by FEMA was the increase of a home 2-feet above floodplain elevation. This 

allows the City to continue additional FEMA community rating system credits and discounts 

for residents with flood insurance. The recommendation is to approve at first reading and 

carry over for a second reading.  

 

16



 

 

CITY OF APOPKA 

Minutes of a regular City Council meeting held on September 19, 2018, 7:00 p.m.  

Page 15 

Mayor Nelson opened the meeting to a public hearing. No one wishing to speak, he closed 

the public hearing.  

 

MOTION by Commissioner Nolan, and seconded by Commissioner Becker to approve 

Ordinance No. 2673 at First Reading and carry it over for a Second Reading. Motion 

carried unanimously with Mayor Nelson, and Commissioners Bankson, Becker, Smith, 

and Nolan voting aye. 

 

10. Ordinance No. 2679 – First Reading – Comprehensive Plan Amendment 

Project:  City of Apopka - Capital Improvements Element – Recreation Improvements. The 

City Clerk read the title as follows: 

 

ORDINANCE NO. 2679 

 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA, AMENDING 

THE CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS ELEMENT OF THE APOPKA 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN OF THE CITY OF APOPKA 

INCORPORATING AN AMENDMENT TO THE CITY’S FIVE YEAR 

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS PLAN; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY 

AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 

Mr. Moon said this was the first reading amending the Capital Improvement Element of the 

Comprehensive Plan to include playground improvements at Kit Land Nelson Park and the 

NW Recreation Area to be eligible for the grant.  

 

Mayor Nelson opened the meeting to a public hearing. No one wishing to speak, he closed 

the public hearing. 

 

MOTION by Commissioner Nolan, and seconded by Commissioner Smith to approve 

Ordinance No. 2679 at First Reading, and carry it over for a Second Reading. Motion 

carried unanimously with Mayor Nelson, and Commissioners Bankson, Becker, Smith, 

and Nolan voting aye. 

 

CITY COUNCIL REPORTS 

Commissioner Nolan thanked staff for constantly looking for grants to improve the City.  

 

Commissioner Bankson said a representative from Israel will be here next month and he would 

like to work with staff regarding partnering on bringing jobs to our area and headquartering here. 

He said when he makes the trip to Israel he wants to represent for the City and look at partnering 

and sister cities.  

 

Commissioner Smith said he attended, as well as Commissioner Becker, the event this weekend 

regarding Childhood Cancer Awareness and it was an outstanding event. He commended City 

staff for the lights out front of City Hall.  

 

MAYOR’S REPORT 

1. Billie Dean Building.  

17



 

 

CITY OF APOPKA 

Minutes of a regular City Council meeting held on September 19, 2018, 7:00 p.m.  

Page 16 

Mr. Bass said he met with Commissioner Dean and they came to a resolution of rather than 

naming a road after him, he is honored and satisfied with having his name on the new 

community center at Alonzo Williams Park.  

 

2. UCF Incubator Building located at Park Ave. and 5th Street.   

Mayor Nelson said Mr. Hitt was going to lead a discussion on the property at Park Avenue 

and 5
th

 Street.  Mr. Hitt said this property is for sale and has been for sale for approximately a 

year. He stated the building was a little over 20,000 square feet with five units currently in 

the building. He said the interior could be easily changed. It is block construction built in 

1953. The City has an opportunity to purchase the building that was originally put on the 

market for $1.2 million and the real estate agent came in to discuss the plans for the 

downtown and discussed the opportunity for this in terms of development. The property was 

recently reduced to $850,000. He said when Council discussed relocating the UCF Incubator; 

they talked about finding a more permanent home for it.  He said the Chamber of Commerce 

also needs a larger facility and this would be an opportunity for these entities sharing the 

space of this building with an opportunity to expand spaces for businesses that go through the 

incubator to stay and pay rent for the space. He stated the City would have to determine 

funding if they decide to move on this opportunity.  

 

Commissioner Becker said this was intriguing for the land, versus the building itself. He felt 

it would be a miss to exploit that location and use it for the incubator and chamber. In terms 

of making the area, an attractive space to tie in with the west development of Station Street 

makes that area a natural progression from there on to the City Center.  

 

Mayor Nelson said this property is available and the City has land we are selling. He stated 

there is a possibility for funding available up to 80% for improvements of the UCF Incubator 

if located there.  

 

Commissioner Nolan said this was a prime location for the private sector, but she did not see 

moving the incubator there or the City owning this property. She stated there were other 

areas they need to focus on more rather than spending money on this. 

 

Commissioner Bankson said this would put the City in the position to help develop and have 

more control of what is developed. He mentioned the condition of the roof and said there 

would need to be inspections of the building.  

 

Commissioner Smith said he felt it was a good idea for the City to purchase the property and 

have control of what types of businesses they would like to see there. He stated he looked at 

this as an investment and an opportunity to make more money to fill some of the gaps.  

 

Commissioner Becker said if looking at this as just that building alone, he could see those 

points. He stated with the RFP for Station Street and tying in the other city owned properties, 

it is all ties in together and makes that bundle more attractive to a potential developer.  

 

Commissioner Bankson said in regards to timing, it is a larger ticket item and the City can 

approach how to fund and finance this in a different way than smaller items. He stated 

interest rates were historically low now and it would be making an investment that will pay 

off longer in the end.  

18



 

 

CITY OF APOPKA 

Minutes of a regular City Council meeting held on September 19, 2018, 7:00 p.m.  

Page 17 

 

Mr. Bass said financing options would be utilizing proceeds from property the city sells and 

invest those in this capital. Another option would be to finance, or take from reserves. The 

reserves would be replenished when the property is sold.  

 

Mayor Nelson said the next step would be to look into having an appraisal done if the 

Council is interested in moving on this.  

 

Mr. Hitt said he had funds in his budget that would cover an appraisal and building 

inspection. 

 

Commissioner Smith asked if the owner could sale this property while the City obtains an 

appraisal. 

 

City Attorney Shepard said the owner could sale the property, unless the City puts it under an 

option contract to give them time, but the City would pay for the option. He explained the 

City could enter in to a contract for a specified amount and have it contingent on certain 

things such as the appraisal and inspection so that if anything comes back problematic, the 

City would then get their deposit money back, but they would pay for the time it is off the 

market as negotiated. He spoke of the City being able to control the palate being critical 

when discussing redevelopment and pointed out this is in the CRA.  

 

Commissioner Nolan said she felt the City should have the money before going down this 

road. 

 

Commissioner Bankson reiterated he would not want to purchase something without 

knowing what condition it is in.  

 

Mayor Nelson suggested an option of $10,000 and a purchase price of $800,000 with all the 

conditions that go with it including a sound roof, appraised value of $800,000 or more. If the 

appraisal does not come back, then we would not be out anything.  

 

Mr. Hitt said he could ask for a 2-3 week grace period without doing an option, and if not, 

then move forward with an option.  

 

MOTION by Commissioner Smith to allow Mr. Hitt to speak with the property owner 

to allow a three-week grace period to get the property inspected and appraised and if 

the owner does not agree to the grace period, and offer an option up to $10,000 deposit 

to allow time to inspect the building and have an appraisal done with an offer of 

$800,000.  Motion failed due to lack of a second. 

 

Discussion ensued regarding the building and what to utilize it for; whether to immediately 

put it on the market for development, or utilize for the Incubator and Chamber. It was 

determined this would be a matter to determine at a later time.  

 

MOTION by Commissioner Smith, and seconded by Commissioner Becker to allow for 

an appraisal to be done and ask for a three week grace period to get it done. Motion 

19



 

 

CITY OF APOPKA 

Minutes of a regular City Council meeting held on September 19, 2018, 7:00 p.m.  

Page 18 

carried 4-1 with Mayor Nelson, and Commissioners Bankson, Becker, and Smith voting 

aye and Commissioner Nolan voting nay. 

 

Mayor Nelson reported that Rotarian Gary Kreisler’s company, Clancy & Theys, is working 

with the Mason Lodge to get the wood repaired and painting of the lodge. Home Depot has 

offered all supplies to help with these improvements.  

 

Mayor Nelson reported the total taken in for the Splash Pad to date is $4,289.  This has paid 

for the chemicals and staff. He announced that Porkie’s purchased 200 tickets to give away to 

patrons that come in with children.  

 

Mr. Bass said we were hearing complaints regarding the mowing of the golf course at Errol 

Estates and Rock Springs Ridge. He advised both owners have been contacted and they have 

started mowing. The City has requested schedules from both parties.  

 

ADJOURNMENT: There being no further business the meeting adjourned at 10:21 p.m.  

 

 

 

       ______________________________ 

       Bryan Nelson, Mayor 

ATTEST; 

 

 
_______________________ 

Linda F. Goff, City Clerk 

 

20



 

 

 CITY OF APOPKA  

CITY COUNCIL 
 

 
 

 X   CONSENT AGENDA      MEETING OF:  October 3, 2018 

___ PUBLIC HEARING      FROM:              Police Department 

       SPECIAL REPORTS      EXHIBITS:       Agreement 

       OTHER:  
  

 

SUBJECT:  TOWER SITE AGREEMENT 

 

REQUEST: AUTHORIZE THE MAYOR TO EXTEND THE AGREEMENT WITH LAKE 

COUNTY TO CO-LOCATE A NORTHERN COMMUNICATIONS SITE. 

 
  
SUMMARY: 

 
The City Council authorized the purchase and construction of a northern communications site (Motorola 2

nd
 Site) to 

improve the radio communications coverage of public safety and general city services provided by the city.  

Apopka staff negotiated with Lake County staff regarding the colocation of radio services. Apopka City Council 

and Lake County Commission approved an agreement for Apopka’s use of Lake County land and Lake County’s 

use of Apopka’s communications tower.  The agreement had a six month permitting clause. The permitting process 

is nearly complete, however it has exceeded the six-month clause. Lake County and Apopka staff request an 

amendment to allow for a six-month extension. 

  
FUNDING SOURCE: 
 

N/A    
RECOMMENDATION ACTION: 
 

Authorize the Mayor to extend the permitting clause.  
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson     Finance Director  Public Services Director  

Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    

City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  

Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 
 

21



22



23



24



 

 

 

 CITY OF APOPKA  

CITY COUNCIL 
 

 
 

X CONSENT AGENA  MEETING OF: October 3, 2018 

 PUBLIC HEARING  FROM: Community Development 

 SPECIAL REPORTS  EXHIBITS: Concurrency Agreement 

 OTHER:    
  

 

SUBJECT:  VISTA RESERVE SCHOOL CONCURRENCY MITIGATION 

AGREEMENT 

   

REQUEST:  APPROVAL OF THE VISTA RESERVE SCHOOL CONCURRENCY 

MITIGATION AGREEMENT 
  
SUMMARY: 

 

New residential development applications are reviewed by Orange County Public Schools (OCPS) for their 

impact placed on existing student capacity at public schools. This school impact analysis, called school 

concurrency, occurs at the time of a Final Development Plan and Plat application. In 2008 the City of Apopka 

entered into an interlocal agreement with the Orange County School Board to address public school facility 

planning and implementation of school concurrency (hereafter School Agreement). As a party to this School 

Agreement, the City becomes a party to this Agreement. Therefore, City Council must accept the Agreement 

and authorize the Mayor to sign it to allow OCPS to implement the mitigation plan. When school enrollment is 

over capacity at the public schools serving additional students generated by a proposed residential development, 

a new development must have a school concurrency mitigation analysis to determine additional cost of school 

impacts the proposed development will generate above that considered by the school impact fee. The developer 

pays these additional fees according to the conditions of the school concurrency mitigation fee. (See exhibit.) 

 

OWNER/APPLICANT: Pulte Home Company, LLC/Pulte Home Corporation 

 

PROJECT ENGINEER: Madden, Moorhead & Stokes, Inc. 

 

LOCATION: East side of Rogers Road, approximately one half mile north of the 

intersection of Rogers Road and Lester Road 

 

PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT: 153 single family homes; developed in one phase 

 

DEVELOPABLE AREA: 61.1 +/- acres  

 

SCHOOL ATTENDENCE ZONES: Wolf Lake Elementary, Wolf Lake Middle, Apopka High 

  
FUNDING SOURCE: N/A 
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson     Finance Director  Public Services Director  

Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    

City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  

Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 

 

 
25



CITY COUNCIL – OCTOBER 3, 2018 
VISTA RESERVE - SCHOOL CONCURRENCY MITIGATION AGREEMENT  
PAGE 2 
 
PUBLIC HEARING SCHEDULE: 
October 3 – City Council (1:30 pm) 

  
RECOMMENDATION ACTION: 

 

City Council Recommended Motion:  Approve the Vista Reserve Concurrency Mitigation Agreement 

and authorize the Mayor to sign the Agreement. 

26



 

After recording return to: 
 
Jamie Boerger, AICP 
Orange County Public Schools  
6501 Magic Way, Building 200 
Orlando, Florida 32809 
 

 

---------------------[SPACE ABOVE THIS LINE FOR RECORDING DATA]------------------------ 

 

SCHOOL CONCURRENCY  
MITIGATION AGREEMENT 

APK-18-017 
Vista Reserve 

Parcel ID 29-20-28-0000-00-003 
 

 THIS SCHOOL CONCURRENCY MITIGATION AGREEMENT (“Agreement”), is 
entered into by THE SCHOOL BOARD OF ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA a body corporate 
and political subdivision of the State of Florida, (“School Board”); CITY OF APOPKA, a 
municipal corporation of the State of Florida, (“City”) and PULTE HOME COMPANY, a State 
of Florida limited liability company, whose address is 4901 Vineland Road, Suite 500, Orlando, 
Florida 32811, (collectively, the “Applicant”), collectively referred to herein as the “Parties.” 

RECITALS: 

 WHEREAS, the School Board, Orange County, and the municipalities within Orange 
County have entered into that certain “Amended and Restated Interlocal Agreement For Public 
School Facility Planning and Implementation of Concurrency” (the “Interlocal Agreement”), and   

 WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 16.6 of the Interlocal Agreement, an applicant submitting 
a School Concurrency Determination Application for approval of a Site Plan that will generate 
additional students in a School Concurrency Service Area in which there is insufficient Available 
School Capacity to accommodate the anticipated additional students must enter into a 
Proportionate Share Mitigation Agreement to prevent school overcrowding attributable to the 
anticipated additional students generated by the Residential Development as specified in the 
Interlocal Agreement;  

 WHEREAS, an Applicant must submit the School Concurrency Determination Application 
along with a Development Analysis which identifies the proposed location of the Residential 
Development, the number of Residential Units that will be created, a phasing schedule (if 
applicable), a map demonstrating land use and zoning classifications for the Applicant’s property, 
as well as all other information required pursuant to Section 16.5 of the Interlocal Agreement, to 
the City; and 

 WHEREAS, Applicant is the fee simple owner, or authorized agent of the owner, of that 
certain tract of land, as more particularly described on Exhibit “A,” attached hereto and 

27



 

incorporated herein by reference (the “Property”), the location of which is illustrated by a map 
attached hereto as Exhibit “B,” and incorporated herein by reference; and  

 WHEREAS, the Applicant has submitted a School Concurrency Determination 
Application and Development Analysis to the City in connection with a proposal to obtain 
approval for a plat in order to develop up to 153 single family Residential Units on the Property 
(the “Project”) and the City has forwarded the School Concurrency Determination Application and 
Development Analysis to the School Board; and  

 WHEREAS, the School Board has reviewed and evaluated the Applicant’s School 
Concurrency Determination Application and Development Analysis as required by Section 18.6 
of the Interlocal Agreement, and has determined that based on the current adopted Level of Service 
standards for the School Concurrency Service Areas within which the Property is located and the 
anticipated new School Capacity that will be available in the first three (3) years of the current 
District Facilities Work Program to serve the proposed Residential Development, there is 
insufficient Available School Capacity at the middle school level to serve the new single-family 
Residential Units within the School Concurrency Service Areas for the Project or within adjacent 
School Concurrency Service Areas as determined by an Adjacency Review; and  

  WHEREAS, approving the School Concurrency Determination Application without 
requiring Proportionate Share Mitigation for the impacts of the proposed Project will either create 
or worsen school overcrowding in the applicable School Concurrency Service Areas; and  

 WHEREAS, the Applicant has agreed to enter into this Agreement with the School Board 
and City to provide Proportionate Share Mitigation proportionate to the demand for Public School 
Facilities to be created by the Project, as more particularly set forth herein. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing, the mutual covenants contained 
herein, and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby 
acknowledged, the Parties hereto, intending to be legally bound, agree as follows:  

 1.  INCORPORATION OF RECITALS. The foregoing recitals are true and correct 
and are hereby incorporated into this Agreement by reference as if fully set forth herein. 

 2.  DEFINITION OF MATERIAL TERMS. Any capitalized terms used herein but not 
defined shall have the meaning attributed to such term in the Interlocal Agreement. 

 3.  LEGALLY BINDING COMMITMENT. This Agreement constitutes a legally 
binding commitment by the Applicant to mitigate for the impacts of the new Residential Units for 
which the Applicant is seeking approval pursuant to the School Concurrency Determination 
Application and is intended to satisfy the requirements of Florida law and the Orange County 
Code. 

 4.  PROPORTIONATE SHARE MITIGATION.  The Parties hereby agree that the 
Applicant shall provide Proportionate Share Mitigation in order to meet the demand for School 
Capacity created by the Project and to provide additional capacity for middle school students, as 
follows, in accordance with Section 19.2 of the Interlocal Agreement: 

28



 

  Payment in the amount of ONE MILLION ONE HUNDRED EIGHTY THREE 
THOUSAND SEVEN HUNDRED EIGHTY FIVE AND 00/100 DOLLARS ($1,183,785.00) to 
cover the Proportionate Share Mitigation associated with providing the necessary school capacity 
for the Project (the “Proportionate Share”) to the School Board. Such payment shall be due and 
payable prior to the time the plat for the Property is approved and has been calculated in accordance 
with the formula found in Section 17.2 of the Interlocal Agreement.  To the extent the Applicant’s 
proposed Residential Development is subject to a Capacity Enhancement Agreement, any capacity 
enhancement mitigation paid pursuant to such agreement will be applied as a credit to the 
Proportionate Share Mitigation required for the Project.  Such credit will be subtracted from the 
total Proportionate Share Mitigation required pursuant to this Agreement and the Interlocal 
Agreement.   

 5. USE OF PROPORTIONATE SHARE. The School Board shall direct the 
Proportionate Share to a School Capacity improvement identified in the capital improvement 
schedule in the five (5) year district work plan of the School Board’s District Facilities Work 
Program which mitigates the impacts from the proposed Residential Development.  If such a 
School Capacity improvement does not exist in the District Facilities Work Program, the School 
Board may, in its sole discretion, add a School Capacity improvement to its District Facilities 
Work Program to mitigate the impacts from the Project, as provided in Section 17.6 of the 
Interlocal Agreement.   

 6. IMPACT FEE CREDIT.  The Proportionate Share Mitigation paid pursuant to 
Section 4 of this Agreement shall be credited against the School Impact Fee on a dollar for dollar 
basis at fair market value, up to the amount of the School Impact Fee Credit (hereinafter defined).  

Upon payment of the Proportionate Share Mitigation., the School Board shall notify the 
City to establish a School Impact Fee credit account in the amount of NINE HUNDRED TWENTY 
ONE THOUSAND SEVEN HUNDRED FIFTY ONE AND 68/100 DOLLARS ($921,751.68) 
based upon 105 Equivalent Residential Units (as defined in Section 30-622 of the Orange County 
Code)(“Impact Fee Credit Amount”). Applicant shall not be entitled to a credit or refund for any 
portion of the Proportionate Share Mitigation in excess of the Impact Fee Credit Amount. 

 7. ISSUANCE OF SCHOOL CONCURRENCY RECOMMENDATION.  Upon final 
execution of this Agreement by all Parties hereto, this Agreement will serve as the Applicant’s 
Capacity Encumbrance Letter in accordance with Section 16.7 of the Interlocal Agreement. 

8. SCHOOL CAPACITY ENCUMBRANCE AND RESERVATION.  Upon final 
execution of this Agreement by all Parties hereto, this Agreement will serve as the Applicant’s 
Capacity Encumbrance Letter that School Capacity will be available for the Project.  This is in 
accordance with Section 16.6(g) of the Interlocal Agreement.  

At such time as Applicant has prepaid the School Impact Fees further described in Section 
6 of this Agreement, and paid the applicable installment(s) of the School Capacity Reservation Fee 
described in Section 9 below, School Capacity shall be reserved for 153 single family Residential 
Units; if the Applicant fails to make any of the required School Capacity Reservation Fee payments 
described in Paragraph 9 below or if this Agreement is terminated, such reserved School Capacity 
shall lapse and be returned to the applicable Concurrency Service Area.  

29



 

  9. CAPACITY RESERVATION FEE.  The Applicant shall also be required 
to pay a School Capacity Reservation Fee for the Project in accordance with Section 30-599 of the 
Orange County Code. The Applicant shall pay the School Capacity Reservation Fee further 
described below. 

 a. 1st Installment due within six (6) months of the Effective Date of this Agreement:  
  $ 447,984.00 

b. 2nd Installment due 18 months from the Effective Date of this Agreement: 
$447,984.00  

c. 3rd Installment due 30 months from the Effective Date of this Agreement: 
$447,984.00 

  Notwithstanding the schedule provided by this Section, Applicant may prepay any 
or all of the School Capacity Reservation Fees in advance.  School Capacity Reservation Fees paid 
pursuant to this Agreement shall be credited towards School Impact Fees as provided in Section 
30-599 of the County Code.  Additionally, Applicant may apply the Impact Fee Credit Amount 
against any one of the foregoing installment payments. 

 10. TERMINATION.  This Agreement shall terminate and Applicant shall forfeit any 
administrative fees paid, as well as any capacity encumbered or reserved under the following 
circumstances, unless the City and the School Board agree to an extension of the Applicant’s 
School Concurrency Mitigation Agreement: 

  a. The Applicable Local Government does not approve the Plat within one 
hundred eighty (180) days from approval of the Site Plan by the City Council. In such event, all 
Proportionate Share Mitigation paid by the Applicant shall be refunded to the Applicant by the 
School Board.     

b. The Applicant fails to proceed in good faith and secure at least one Building 
Permit for a unit other than a model home within three (3) years of recording of the plat.  In such 
case, this Agreement shall be terminated and any encumbered or reserved school capacity shall be 
returned to its applicable capacity bank.  The Applicant will not be entitled to a refund of any 
portion of the Proportionate Share Mitigation paid under this Agreement, and will only be entitled 
to receive a 90% refund of the Capacity Reservation Fee. 

  11. COVENANTS RUNNING WITH THE LAND. This Agreement shall be binding, 
and shall inure to the benefit of the heirs, legal representatives, successors, and assigns of the 
parties, and shall be a covenant running with the Property and be binding upon the successors and 
assigns of the Owner and upon any person, firm, corporation, or entity who may become the 
successor in interest to the Property. 

 12. NOTICES.  Any notice delivered with respect to this Agreement shall be in writing 
and be deemed to be delivered (whether or not actually received) (i) when hand delivered to the 
person(s) hereinafter designated, or (ii) upon deposit of such notice in the United States Mail, 
postage prepaid, certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the person at the address set 
forth opposite the party’s name below, or to such other address or other person as the party shall 
have specified by written notice to the other party delivered in accordance herewith: 

30



 

 
School Board  School Board of Orange County, Florida  

Attn: Superintendent  
 445 West Amelia Street 
 Orlando, Florida 32801 

 
With a Copy to:  Orange County Public Schools 

Attn: Facilities Planning Department 
   6501 Magic Way, Building 200 

 Orlando, Florida 32809 
 
Applicant:  Gray Robinson, P.A. 
   Attn:  Thomas Sullivan 
   301 E. Pine Street, Suite 1400 
   Orlando, Florida 32801 
 
With a Copy to: Pulte Home Company, LLC 
   4901 Vineland Road, Suite 500 
   Orlando, Florida 32811 
 
City:  City of Apopka 

Attn: Planning Department 
120 E. Main Street 
Apopka, Florida 32703 
 

 13. CAPTIONS AND PARAGRAPH HEADINGS. Captions and paragraph headings 
contained in this Agreement are for convenience and reference only. They in no way define, 
describe, extend or limit the scope or intent of this Agreement. 

  14. NO WAIVER. No waiver of any provision of this Agreement shall be effective 
unless it is in writing, and signed by the party against whom it is asserted. Any such written waiver 
shall only be applicable to the specific instance to which it relates, and shall not be deemed to be 
a continuing or future waiver.  

 15. EXHIBITS. All Exhibits attached hereto are a part of this Agreement and are fully 
incorporated herein by this reference.  

 16. AMENDMENTS. No modification, amendment, or alteration in the terms or 
conditions contained herein shall be binding upon the parties hereto unless in writing and executed 
by all the Parties to this Agreement. School Board does hereby confer upon the Superintendent, or 
Superintendent’s designee, the authority to amend this Agreement, provide any consent, notice or 
approval set forth herein or otherwise exercise any right or election of the School Board granted 
or reserved herein, without formal approval from School Board, provided such amendment or 
consent does not substantially alter or modify the terms herein. Further, the Superintendent, or 
Superintendent’s designee, shall have the authority, without further approval from the School 
Board, to finalize the form of all agreements, assignments, and similar documents set forth in this 
Agreement, and the School Board’s signature of those agreements, assignments, and similar 

31



 

documents is hereby authorized. The extension of any payment or deadline required hereunder for 
less than one (1) year shall not be considered to substantially alter or modify the terms herein. If, 
in the sole judgment of School Board, such amendment or consent does substantially alter or 
amend this Agreement, then School Board shall have the option of declaring the amendment or 
consent void ab initio, thus rendering the amendment or consent without any legal force and effect.   

 17. ASSIGNMENT, TRANSFER OF RIGHTS. The Applicant may assign its rights, 
obligations and responsibilities under this Agreement to a third-party purchaser of all or any part 
of fee simple title to the Property; provided, however, that any such assignment shall be in writing 
and shall require the prior written consent of all of the Parties hereto, which consent shall not be 
unreasonably withheld, conditioned, or delayed.  Such consent may be conditioned upon the 
receipt by the other parties hereto of the written agreement of the assignee to comply with 
conditions and procedures to aid in the monitoring and enforcement of the assignee’s performance 
of the Applicant’s obligations with regard to Proportionate Share Mitigation under this Agreement. 
The assignor under such assignment shall furnish the Parties with a copy of the written assignment 
within ten (10) days of the date of execution of same. 

 The School Board hereby consents to the assignment of this Agreement to KB Home 
Orlando LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, and by signing the Joinder and Consent to 
this Agreement, KB Home Orlando LLC, for itself and on behalf of any affiliate that may become 
an assignee of this Agreement, hereby agrees upon  acquisition of the Property to agree all rights 
and obligations of Applicant hereunder and further agrees to assume and comply with all 
conditions and procedures to aid in the monitoring and enforcement of the assignee’s performance 
of the Applicant’s obligations with regard to the applicable Capacity Reservation Fees and 
Proportionate Share Mitigation under this Agreement, including, without limitation, under 
Sections 4, 6 and Section 9 of this Agreement. 

 18. COUNTERPARTS. This Agreement may be signed in counterparts, each of which 
may be deemed an original, and all of which together constitute one and the same agreement.  

 19. RECORDING OF THIS AGREEMENT. The School Board agrees to record this 
Agreement, at Applicant’s expense, in the Public Records of Orange County, Florida.  

 20. ENTIRE AGREEMENT. This Agreement sets forth the entire agreement among 
the Parties with respect to the subject matter addressed herein, and it supersedes all prior and 
contemporaneous negotiations, understandings and agreements, written or oral, among the Parties.  

 21. SEVERABILITY. If any provision of this Agreement is declared invalid or 
unenforceable by a court of competent jurisdiction, the invalid or unenforceable provision will be 
stricken from the Agreement, and the balance of the Agreement will remain in full force and effect 
as long as doing so would not affect the overall purpose or intent of the Agreement.  

 22. APPLICABLE LAW. This Agreement and the provisions contained herein shall be 
construed, controlled, and interpreted according to the laws of the State of Florida and in 
accordance with the Orange County Code and venue for any action to enforce the provisions of 
this Agreement shall be in the Ninth Judicial Circuit Court in and for Orange County, Florida. 

32



 

 23. ATTORNEY’S FEES. In the event any party hereto brings an action or proceeding, 
including any counterclaim, cross-claim, or third party claim, against any other party hereto arising 
out of this Agreement, each party in such action or proceeding, including appeals therefrom, shall 
be responsible for its own attorney fees. 

 24. EFFECTIVE DATE. The effective date of this Agreement shall be the date when 
the last one of the parties has properly executed this Agreement as determined by the date set forth 
immediately below their respective signatures (the “Effective Date”). 

25. PRE-PAYMENT, MITIGATION & CAPACITY RESERVATION FORMS. This 
Agreement requires the Applicant to pay a Proportionate Share Mitigation and a portion of the 
Capacity Reservation Fee prior to the recording of a Plat.  The form attached hereto as Exhibit 
“C,” must be completed and returned to the School Board’s Facilities Planning Department with 
all fees due hereunder, including, but not limited to, applicable Capacity Reservation Fees and 
Proportionate Share Mitigation. This form must be completed and returned to the Facilities 
Planning Department, in addition to all fees payable pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, to 
satisfy Sections 4 and Section 9 of this Agreement. 

 

[SIGNATURE PAGES TO FOLLOW] 
  

33



 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have caused this Agreement to be 
executed by their respective duly authorized representatives on the dates set forth below each 
signature:   

 
 
Signed and sealed in the presence of: 
 
 
 
 
 
______________________________________ 
Print Name: ___________________________ 
 
______________________________________ 
Print Name: ___________________________ 
 
 

“SCHOOL BOARD” 
 
THE SCHOOL BOARD OF ORANGE 
COUNTY, FLORIDA, a body corporate 
and political subdivision of the State of 
Florida 
 
 
By: ________________________________ 
         William E. Sublette, its Chairman 
 
 
Date:________________________________ 

  
STATE OF FLORIDA ) 
    ) s.s.: 
COUNTY OF ORANGE ) 
 
 The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this ___ day of 
_________________, 2018, by William E. Sublette, Chairman of The School Board of Orange 
County, Florida, a body corporate and political subdivision of the State of Florida, on behalf of 
The School Board, who is personally known to me or had produced 
_________________________ (type of identification) as identification. 
 
 
 
       ________________________________ 
       NOTARY PUBLIC OF FLORIDA  
       Print Name:_______________________ 
       Commission No.:__________________ 
AFFIX NOTARY STAMP    Expires:__________________________ 
 
 

 
 

[ADDITIONAL SIGNATURE PAGES TO FOLLOW] 
  

34



 

      THE SCHOOL BOARD OF ORANGE 
      COUNTY, FLORIDA, a body corporate   
Signed and sealed in the presence of:  and political subdivision of the State of Florida    
 
       
 
       Attest:       
Print Name:      Barbara M. Jenkins, Ed.D. as its 

      Secretary and Superintendent 
       
Print Name:     Dated:       
 
 
STATE OF FLORIDA ) 
    ) s.s.: 
COUNTY OF ORANGE ) 
 
 The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this ___ day of 
_________________, 2018, by Barbara M. Jenkins, ED.D.as Superintendent of The School Board 
of Orange County, Florida, a body corporate and political subdivision of the State of Florida, on 
behalf of The School Board, who is personally known to me or has produced 
__________________________________ (type of identification) as identification. 
 
 
       ________________________________ 
       NOTARY PUBLIC OF FLORIDA  
       Print Name:_______________________ 
       Commission No.:__________________ 
AFFIX NOTARY STAMP    Expires:__________________________ 
 
 
 
Reviewed and approved by Orange County 
Public School’s Chief Facilities Officer 
 
 
 
____________________________________ 
John T. Morris 
Chief Facilities Officer 
 
Date: _________________________, 2018 

Approved as to form and legality by legal 
counsel to The School Board of Orange 
County, Florida, exclusively for its use and 
reliance. 
 
_____________________________________ 
Laura L. Kelly, Staff Attorney III/Planning 
and Real Estate  
 
Date: ___________________________, 2018 
 
 
 

 

35



 

“APPLICANT” 
 

Signed and sealed in the presence of:  
 
 
       
Print Name:       
 
 
       
Print Name:       
 

PULTE HOME COMPANY, LLC, a Florida 
limited liability company 
 
By:_________________________________ 
Print Name:__________________________ 
Title:       
 
 
 
Date:________________________________ 

  
 
STATE OF FLORIDA ) 
    ) s.s.: 
COUNTY OF ORANGE ) 
 
 The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this ____ day of __________, 
2018, by _____________________________ as _____________________________ of Pulte 
Home Company, LLC, a Florida limited liability company.  He/she is personally known to me or 
has produced __________________________________ (type of identification) as identification. 
 
 
       ________________________________ 
       NOTARY PUBLIC OF FLORIDA  
       Print Name:_______________________ 
       Commission No.:__________________ 
AFFIX NOTARY STAMP    Expires:__________________________ 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

36



 

Exhibit “A” Legal Description 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

37



 

Exhibit “B” Location Map 

 

 

38



Exhibit “C”-Forms 

 

 

 

39



Exhibit “C”-Forms 

 
 

 

40



Exhibit “C”-Forms 

 
 

41



 

 

 

 CITY OF APOPKA  

CITY COUNCIL 
 

 
 

X CONSENT AGENA  MEETING OF: October 3, 2018 

 PUBLIC HEARING  FROM: Community Development 

 SPECIAL REPORTS  EXHIBITS: Concurrency Agreement 

 OTHER:    
  

 

SUBJECT:  MEADOW VIEW APARTMENTS SCHOOL CONCURRENCY 

MITIGATION AGREEMENT 

   

REQUEST:  APPROVAL OF THE MEADOW VIEW APARTMENTS SCHOOL 

CONCURRENCY MITIGATION AGREEMENT 
  
SUMMARY: 

 

New residential development applications are reviewed by Orange County Public Schools for their impact 

placed on existing student capacity at public schools. This school impact analysis, called school 

concurrency, occurs at the time of a Final Development Plan and Plat application. In 2008 the City of 

Apopka entered into an interlocal agreement with the Orange County School Board to address public school 

facility planning and implementation of school concurrency (hereafter School Agreement). As a party to 

this School Agreement, the City becomes a party to the Agreement. Therefore, City Council must accept 

the Agreement and authorize the Mayor to sign it to allow OCPS to implement the mitigation plan. When 

school enrollment is over capacity at the public schools serving additional students generated by a proposed 

residential development, a new development must have a school concurrency mitigation analysis to 

determine additional cost of school impacts the proposed development will generate above that considered 

by the school impact fee. The developer pays these additional fees according to the conditions of the school 

concurrency mitigation fee. (See exhibit.) 

 

OWNER/APPLICANT:  Allonde Development, LLC 

 

PROJECT ENGINEER:  CivilCorp Engineering, Inc. c/o Stephen Allen, P.E.  

 

LOCATION:    West side of Vick Road at Welch Road 

 

PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT: Multi-Family (Apartments) Residential Subdivision – 43 Units 

 

DEVELOPABLE AREA:  4.314 +/- acres 

 

SCHOOL ATTENDENCE ZONES: Apopka Elementary; Wolf Lake Middle; Apopka High 

  
FUNDING SOURCE: N/A 
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson     Finance Director  Public Services Director  

Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    

City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  

Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 42



CITY COUNCIL – OCTOBER 3, 2018 
MEADOW VIEW APARTMENTS  
SCHOOL CONCURRENCY MITIGATION AGREEMENT  
PAGE 2 

 
 

PUBLIC HEARING SCHEDULE: 
October 3 – City Council (1:30 pm) 

  
RECOMMENDATION ACTION: 

 

City Council Recommended Motion:  Approve the Meadow View Apartments Concurrency Mitigation 

Agreement and authorize the Mayor to sign the Agreement. 

43



  1 
APK-18-010 Meadow View Apartments 

After recording return to: 
 
Jamie Boerger, AICP 
Orange County Public Schools  
6501 Magic Way, Building 200 
Orlando, Florida 32809 
 

 

---------------------[SPACE ABOVE THIS LINE FOR RECORDING DATA]------------------------ 

 

SCHOOL CONCURRENCY  
MITIGATION AGREEMENT 

APK-18-010 
Meadow View Apartments 

32-20-28-0000-00-042 
 

 THIS SCHOOL CONCURRENCY MITIGATION AGREEMENT (“Agreement”), is 
entered into by THE SCHOOL BOARD OF ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA a body corporate 
and political subdivision of the State of Florida, (“School Board”); CITY OF APOPKA, a 
municipal corporation of the State of Florida, (“City”) and ALLONDE DEVELOPMENT, LLC,  
a Florida limited liability company, whose address is 160 N. Spring Lake Drive, Altamonte 
Springs, Florida 32714(the “Applicant”), collectively referred to herein as the “Parties.” 

RECITALS: 

 WHEREAS, the School Board, Orange County, and the municipalities within Orange 
County have entered into that certain “Amended and Restated Interlocal Agreement For Public 
School Facility Planning and Implementation of Concurrency” (the “Interlocal Agreement”), and   

 WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 16.6 of the Interlocal Agreement, an applicant submitting 
a School Concurrency Determination Application for approval of a Site Plan that will generate 
additional students in a School Concurrency Service Area in which there is insufficient Available 
School Capacity to accommodate the anticipated additional students must enter into a 
Proportionate Share Mitigation Agreement to prevent school overcrowding attributable to the 
anticipated additional students generated by the Residential Development as specified in the 
Interlocal Agreement;  

 WHEREAS, an Applicant must submit the School Concurrency Determination Application 
along with a Development Analysis which identifies the proposed location of the Residential 
Development, the number of Residential Units that will be created, a phasing schedule (if 
applicable), a map demonstrating land use and zoning classifications for the Applicant’s property, 
as well as all other information required pursuant to Section 16.5 of the Interlocal Agreement, to 
the County; and 

 WHEREAS, Applicant is the fee simple owner, or authorized agent of the owner, of that 
certain tract of land, as more particularly described on Exhibit “A,” attached hereto and 

44



  2 
APK-18-010 Meadow View Apartments 

incorporated herein by reference (the “Property”), the location of which is illustrated by a map 
attached hereto as Exhibit “B,” and incorporated herein by reference; and  

 WHEREAS, the Applicant has submitted a School Concurrency Determination 
Application and Development Analysis to the City in connection with a proposal to obtain 
approval for a site plan in order to develop 43 multi-family, attached Residential Units on the 
Property (the “Project”) and the City has forwarded the School Concurrency Determination 
Application and Development Analysis to the School Board; and  

 WHEREAS, the School Board has reviewed and evaluated the Applicant’s School 
Concurrency Determination Application and Development Analysis as required by Section 18.6 
of the Interlocal Agreement, and has determined that based on the current adopted Level of Service 
standards for the School Concurrency Service Areas within which the Property is located and the 
anticipated new School Capacity that will be available in the first three (3) years of the current 
District Facilities Work Program to serve the proposed Residential Development, there is 
insufficient Available School Capacity at the middle school level to serve the new multi-family 
Residential Units within the School Concurrency Service Areas for the Project or within adjacent 
School Concurrency Service Areas as determined by an Adjacency Review; and  

  WHEREAS, approving the School Concurrency Determination Application without 
requiring Proportionate Share Mitigation for the impacts of the proposed new Residential Units 
will either create or worsen school overcrowding in the applicable School Concurrency Service 
Areas; and  

 WHEREAS, the Applicant has agreed to enter into this Agreement with the School Board 
and County to provide Proportionate Share Mitigation proportionate to the demand for Public 
School Facilities to be created by the Project, as more particularly set forth herein. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing, the mutual covenants contained 
herein, and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby 
acknowledged, the Parties hereto, intending to be legally bound, agree as follows:  

 1.  INCORPORATION OF RECITALS. The foregoing recitals are true and correct 
and are hereby incorporated into this Agreement by reference as if fully set forth herein. 

 2.  DEFINITION OF MATERIAL TERMS. Any capitalized terms used herein but not 
defined shall have the meaning attributed to such term in the Interlocal Agreement. 

 3.  LEGALLY BINDING COMMITMENT. This Agreement constitutes a legally 
binding commitment by the Applicant to mitigate for the impacts of the new Residential Units for 
which the Applicant is seeking approval pursuant to the School Concurrency Determination 
Application and is intended to satisfy the requirements of Florida law and the Orange County 
Code. 

 4.  PROPORTIONATE SHARE MITIGATION.  The Parties hereby agree that the 
Applicant shall provide Proportionate Share Mitigation in order to meet the demand for School 
Capacity created by the Project and to provide additional capacity for middle school students, as 
follows, in accordance with Section 19.2 of the Interlocal Agreement: 

45



  3 
APK-18-010 Meadow View Apartments 

  Payment in the amount of SEVENTY THREE THOUSAND TWO HUNDRED 
EIGHTY SEVEN AND 00/100 DOLLARS ($73,287.00) to cover the Proportionate Share 
Mitigation associated with providing the necessary capacity to complete the Project (the 
“Proportionate Share”) to the School Board. Such payment shall be due and payable prior to the 
time the plat for the Property is approved and has been calculated in accordance with the formula 
found in Section 17.2 of the Interlocal Agreement.  To the extent the Applicant’s proposed 
Residential Development is subject to a Capacity Enhancement Agreement, any capacity 
enhancement mitigation paid pursuant to such agreement was applied as a credit to the 
Proportionate Share Mitigation required for the Project.  Such credit was subtracted from the total 
Proportionate Share Mitigation required pursuant to the Interlocal Agreement and is reflected in 
the Proportionate Share required in this Section 4. 

 5. USE OF PROPORTIONATE SHARE.  The School Board shall direct the 
Proportionate Share to a School Capacity improvement identified in the capital improvement 
schedule in the five (5) year district work plan of the School Board’s District Facilities Work 
Program which satisfies the demands from the proposed Residential Development.  If such a 
School Capacity improvement does not exist in the District Facilities Work Program, the School 
Board may, in its sole discretion, add a School Capacity improvement to its District Facilities 
Work Program to mitigate the impacts from the Project, as provided in Section 17.6 of the 
Interlocal Agreement.   

 6. IMPACT FEE CREDIT.    The Proportionate Share paid pursuant to this Agreement 
shall be credited against the School Impact Fee on a dollar for dollar basis at fair market value.  

The School Board shall notify the City of the amount of the School Impact Fee Credit 
based upon 9.60 Equivalent Residential Units (as defined in Section 30-622 of the Orange County 
Code), currently estimated to be FIFTY SIX THOUSAND EIGHT HUNDRED SIXTY AND 
28/100 DOLLARS ($56,860.28), and shall request a School Impact Fee credit account in such 
amount upon receipt of the Proportionate Share Mitigation.  

 7. ISSUANCE OF SCHOOL CONCURRENCY RECOMMENDATION.  Upon final 
execution of this Agreement by all Parties hereto, this Agreement will serve as the Applicant’s 
Capacity Encumbrance Letter in accordance with Section 16.7 of the Interlocal Agreement. 

8. SCHOOL CAPACITY ENCUMBRANCE AND RESERVATION.  Upon final 
execution of this Agreement by all Parties hereto, this Agreement will serve as the Applicant’s 
Capacity Encumbrance Letter that School Capacity will be available for the Project.  This is in 
accordance with Section 16.6(g) of the Interlocal Agreement.  

At such time as Applicant has prepaid the School Impact Fees further described in Section 
6 of this Agreement, and paid the applicable installment(s) of the School Capacity Reservation Fee 
described in Section 9 below, School Capacity shall be reserved for the Project Units reflected on 
the application; if the Applicant fails to make any of the required School Capacity Reservation Fee 
payments described in Paragraph 9 below or if this Agreement is terminated, such reserved School 
Capacity shall lapse and be returned to the applicable Concurrency Service Area.  

  9. CAPACITY RESERVATION FEE.  The Applicant shall be required to pay 
a School Capacity Reservation Fee for the Project in accordance with Section 30-599 of the Orange 

46



  4 
APK-18-010 Meadow View Apartments 

County Code. The Applicant shall pay the School Capacity Reservation Fee further described 
below. 

a. 1st Installment due within six (6) months of the Effective Date of this Agreement: 
  $    84,839.00; and 

b. 2nd Installment due 18 months from the Effective Date of this Agreement:                  
$   84,839.00; and 

c. 3rd Installment due 30 months from the Effective Date of this Agreement:                   
$    84,839.00. 

  Notwithstanding the schedule provided by this Section, Applicant may prepay any 
or all of the School Capacity Reservation Fees in advance.  School Capacity Reservation Fees paid 
pursuant to this Agreement shall be credited towards School Impact Fees as provided in Section 
30-599 of the County Code.   

 10. TERMINATION.  This Agreement shall terminate and Applicant shall forfeit any 
administrative fees paid, as well as any capacity encumbered or reserved under the following 
circumstances, unless the City and the School Board agree to an extension of the Applicant’s 
School Concurrency Mitigation Agreement: 

  a. The Applicable Local Government does not approve the Site Plan within 
one hundred eighty (180) days from approval of the Site Plan by the City Council. In such event, 
all Proportionate Share Mitigation paid by the Applicant shall be refunded to the Applicant by the 
School Board.     

b. The Applicant fails to proceed in good faith in a diligent and timely manner 
and secure at least one Building Permit for a unit other than a model home within three (3) years 
of recording of the plat.  In such case, this Agreement shall be terminated and any encumbered or 
reserved school capacity shall be returned to its applicable capacity bank.  The Applicant will not 
be entitled to a refund of any portion of the Proportionate Share Mitigation paid under this 
Agreement, and will only be entitled to receive a 90% refund of the Capacity Reservation Fee 
assuming all other applicable conditions are met. 

  11. COVENANTS RUNNING WITH THE LAND. This Agreement shall be binding, 
and shall inure to the benefit of the heirs, legal representatives, successors, and assigns of the 
parties, and shall be a covenant running with the Property and be binding upon the successors and 
assigns of the Owner and upon any person, firm, corporation, or entity who may become the 
successor in interest to the Property. 

 12. NOTICES.  Any notice delivered with respect to this Agreement shall be in writing 
and be deemed to be delivered (whether or not actually received) (i) when hand delivered to the 
person(s) hereinafter designated, or (ii) upon deposit of such notice in the United States Mail, 
postage prepaid, certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the person at the address set 
forth opposite the party’s name below, or to such other address or other person as the party shall 
have specified by written notice to the other party delivered in accordance herewith: 

 

47



  5 
APK-18-010 Meadow View Apartments 

School Board  School Board of Orange County, Florida  
Attn: Superintendent  

 445 West Amelia Street 
 Orlando, Florida 32801 
 

With a Copy to:  Orange County Public Schools 
Attn: Facilities Planning Department 

   6501 Magic Way, Building 200 
 Orlando, Florida 32809 

 
Owner:  Allonde Development, LLC 
   Attn:  Talal Hilal    
   160 N. Spring Lake Drive 

                        Altamonte Springs, Florida 32714 

City:  City of Apopka 
Attn: Planning Department 
120 E. Main Street 
Apopka, Florida 32703 
 

 13. CAPTIONS AND PARAGRAPH HEADINGS. Captions and paragraph headings 
contained in this Agreement are for convenience and reference only. They in no way define, 
describe, extend or limit the scope or intent of this Agreement. 

  14. NO WAIVER. No waiver of any provision of this Agreement shall be effective 
unless it is in writing, and signed by the party against whom it is asserted. Any such written waiver 
shall only be applicable to the specific instance to which it relates, and shall not be deemed to be 
a continuing or future waiver.  

 15. EXHIBITS. All Exhibits attached hereto are a part of this Agreement and are fully 
incorporated herein by this reference.  

 16. AMENDMENTS. No modification, amendment, or alteration to the terms or 
conditions contained herein shall be binding upon the parties hereto unless in writing and executed 
by all the Parties to this Agreement.  

 17. ASSIGNMENT, TRANSFER OF RIGHTS. The Applicant may assign its rights, 
obligations and responsibilities under this Agreement to a third-party purchaser of all or any part 
of fee simple title to the Property; provided, however, that any such assignment shall be in writing 
and shall require the prior written consent of all of the Parties hereto, which consent shall not be 
unreasonably withheld, conditioned, or delayed.  Such consent may be conditioned upon the 
receipt by the other parties hereto of the written agreement of the assignee to comply with 
conditions and procedures to aid in the monitoring and enforcement of the assignee’s performance 
of the Applicant’s obligations with regard to Proportionate Share Mitigation under this Agreement. 
The assignor under such assignment shall furnish the Parties with a copy of the written assignment 
within ten (10) days of the date of execution of same. 

48



  6 
APK-18-010 Meadow View Apartments 

 18. COUNTERPARTS. This Agreement may be signed in counterparts, each of which 
may be deemed an original, and all of which together constitute one and the same agreement.  

 19. RECORDING OF THIS AGREEMENT. The School Board agrees to record this 
Agreement, at Applicant’s expense, in the Public Records of Orange County, Florida.  

 20. ENTIRE AGREEMENT. This Agreement sets forth the entire agreement among 
the Parties with respect to the subject matter addressed herein, and it supersedes all prior and 
contemporaneous negotiations, understandings and agreements, written or oral, among the Parties.  

 21. SEVERABILITY. If any provision of this Agreement is declared invalid or 
unenforceable by a court of competent jurisdiction, the invalid or unenforceable provision will be 
stricken from the Agreement, and the balance of the Agreement will remain in full force and effect 
as long as doing so would not affect the overall purpose or intent of the Agreement.  

 22. APPLICABLE LAW. This Agreement and the provisions contained herein shall be 
construed, controlled, and interpreted according to the laws of the State of Florida and in 
accordance with the Orange County Code and venue for any action to enforce the provisions of 
this Agreement shall be in the Ninth Judicial Circuit Court in and for Orange County, Florida. 

 23. ATTORNEY’S FEES. In the event any party hereto brings an action or proceeding, 
including any counterclaim, cross-claim, or third party claim, against any other party hereto arising 
out of this Agreement, each party in such action or proceeding, including appeals therefrom, shall 
be responsible for its own attorney fees. 

 24. EFFECTIVE DATE. The effective date of this Agreement shall be the date when 
the last one of the parties has properly executed this Agreement as determined by the date set forth 
immediately below their respective signatures (the “Effective Date”). 

25. PRE-PAYMENT, MITIGATION & CAPACITY RESERVATION FORMS. This 
Agreement requires the Applicant to pay a Capacity Reservation Fee and Proportionate Share 
Mitigation prior to the recording of a Plat.  The form attached hereto as Exhibit “C,” must be 
completed and returned to the School Board’s Facilities Planning Department with all fees due 
hereunder, including, but not limited to, Capacity Reservation Fees and Proportionate Share 
Mitigation. This form must be completed and returned to the Facilities Planning Department, in 
addition to all fees payable pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, to satisfy Paragraph 4 and 
Paragraph 9 of this Agreement. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

49



  7 
APK-18-010 Meadow View Apartments 

 

 

Signatures on Following Page 

  

50



  8 
APK-18-010 Meadow View Apartments 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have caused this Agreement to be 
executed by their respective duly authorized representatives on the dates set forth below each 
signature:   

 
Signed and sealed in the presence of: 
 
 
 
 
 
______________________________________ 
Print Name: ___________________________ 
 
______________________________________ 
Print Name: ___________________________ 
 
 

“SCHOOL BOARD” 
 
THE SCHOOL BOARD OF ORANGE 
COUNTY, FLORIDA, a body corporate 
and political subdivision of the State of 
Florida 
 
 
By: ________________________________ 
         William E. Sublette, its Chairman 
 
 
Date:________________________________ 

  
 
STATE OF FLORIDA ) 
    ) s.s.: 
COUNTY OF ORANGE ) 
 
 The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this ___ day of 
_________________, 2017, by William E. Sublette, Chairman of The School Board of Orange 
County, Florida, a body corporate and political subdivision of the State of Florida, on behalf of 
The School Board, who is personally known to me or had produced 
_________________________ (type of identification) as identification. 
 
 
 
       ________________________________ 
       NOTARY PUBLIC OF FLORIDA  
       Print Name:_______________________ 
       Commission No.:__________________ 
AFFIX NOTARY STAMP    Expires:__________________________ 
 
 

 
 

[ADDITIONAL SIGNATURE PAGES TO FOLLOW] 
  

51



  9 
APK-18-010 Meadow View Apartments 

      THE SCHOOL BOARD OF ORANGE 
      COUNTY, FLORIDA, a body corporate   
Signed and sealed in the presence of:  and political subdivision of the State of Florida    
 
       
 
       Attest:       
Print Name:      Barbara M. Jenkins, Ed.D. as its 

      Secretary and Superintendent 
       
Print Name:     Dated:       
 
 
STATE OF FLORIDA ) 
    ) s.s.: 
COUNTY OF ORANGE ) 
 
 The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this ___ day of 
_________________, 2017, by Barbara M. Jenkins as Secretary and Superintendent of The School 
Board of Orange County, Florida, a body corporate and political subdivision of the State of Florida, 
on behalf of The School Board, who is personally known to me or has produced 
__________________________________ (type of identification) as identification. 
 
 
       ________________________________ 
       NOTARY PUBLIC OF FLORIDA  
       Print Name:_______________________ 
       Commission No.:__________________ 
AFFIX NOTARY STAMP    Expires:__________________________ 
 
 
 
Reviewed and approved by Orange County 
Public School’s Chief Facilities Officer 
 
 
 
____________________________________ 
John T. Morris 
Chief Facilities Officer 
 
Date: _________________________, 2017 

Approved as to form and legality by legal 
counsel to The School Board of Orange 
County, Florida, exclusively for its use and 
reliance. 
 
_____________________________________ 
Laura L. Kelly, Staff Attorney III/Planning 
and Real Estate  
 
Date: ___________________________, 2017 
 
 
 

 

52



  10 
APK-18-010 Meadow View Apartments 

“APPLICANT” 
 

Signed and sealed in the presence of:  
 
 
       
Print Name:       
 
 
       
Print Name:       
 

ALLONDE DEVELOPMENT, a limited 
liability corporation 
 
 
By:        
 
Print Name:       
 
Title:        
 
Date:________________________________ 

 
STATE OF FLORIDA ) 
    ) s.s.: 
COUNTY OF ORANGE ) 
 
 The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this ____ day of __________, 
2017, by _____________________________ as _____________________________ of 
___________________________________________________, on behalf of the organization. 
He/she is personally known to me or has produced __________________________________ 
(type of identification) as identification. 
 
 
       ________________________________ 
       NOTARY PUBLIC OF FLORIDA  
       Print Name:_______________________ 
       Commission No.:__________________ 
AFFIX NOTARY STAMP    Expires:__________________________ 
 
 
 
 
 

  

53



  11 
APK-18-010 Meadow View Apartments 

     
 “CITY” 

CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA, a municipal 
corporation of the State of Florida. 

 

      By: Mayor      

      Print Name________________________________ 

      Title:________________________________     
       

Date:_______________________________ 
 

ATTEST:  
 
 
By:______________________________ 

      City Clerk      {Corporate Seal} 

Date:____________________________ 

 

54



Exhibit “A” – Legal Description 

  12 
APK-18-010 Meadow View Apartments 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

55



Vick Road Vick Road

W 
We

lch
 R

oa
d

W 
We

lch
 R

oa
d

Za
ch

ary
 D

riv
e

Za
ch

ary
 D

riv
e

We
kiv

a C
res

t D
riv

e
We

kiv
a C

res
t D

riv
e

Sm
ok

em
on

t C
ou

rt
Sm

ok
em

on
t C

ou
rt

.
Ju

ris
dic

tio
n: 

C
ity

 o
f A

po
pk

a 
Sc

ho
ol 

Bo
ard

 D
ist

.: #
 7 

Pa
rc

el
 ID

: 3
2-2

0-2
8-0

00
0-0

0-0
42

 
Ac

rea
ge

: +
/- 4

.31
 ac

Sc
ho

ols
ES

:  A
po

pk
a

MS
: W

olf
 La

ke
HS

: A
po

pk
a

AP
K-

18
-01

0
Me

ad
ow

 Vi
ew

 A
pa

rtm
en

ts

56



EXHIBIT C - SCHOOL MITIGATION FORM 
OCPS Department of Facilities Planning 

6501 Magic Way, Building 200, Orlando, FL 32809 
TEL: 407-317-3974 / FAX: 407-317-3263 / WEB: http://planning.ocps.net 

 

Page 1 

This form must be completed and returned to the 
Department of Facilities Planning at Orange County Public 
Schools (OCPS) in conjunction with each plat request made to the 
local government to satisfy Section 4.c. of a School Mitigation 
Agreement (“Agreement”). When applicable, a check for the 
Capital Contribution payable to OCPS should accompany this 
form. 

 

Received Stamp 

***THIS FORM APPLIES ONLY TO AGREEMENTS EXECUTED AFTER FEBRUARY 1, 2018. *** 

SE
CT

IO
N

 1
:  

CE
A 

IN
FO

RM
AT

IO
N

 

CEA #:           

CEA Title:    

Jurisdiction:  

Parcel ID(s) of property in this request:1  

General Location:  

Development Permit Type:2  

Please include copies of all transfers and/or assignments of 
units under the original CEA to the current property owner. 

Acknowledge and Initial: 
☐        ___________ 

 

SE
CT

IO
N

 2
: 

AP
PL

IC
AN

T 
IN

FO
RM

AT
IO

N
 Date:   

Applicant Name:   

Company: 
 
Phone #: 
 
Email: 
 
Signature: 
 

 

Section 3: Applicant Checklist 

☐ If applicable, copy of assignment and/or transfer of CEA credits to property. (Attach to 
email) 

☐ 11 X 17 copy of the site plan/plat associated with this request.  (Attach to email) 

☐ If applicable, check for Capital Contribution, payable to the Orange County Public Schools.   
 

  

57



EXHIBIT C - SCHOOL MITIGATION FORM 
OCPS Department of Facilities Planning 

6501 Magic Way, Building 200, Orlando, FL 32809 
TEL: 407-317-3974 / FAX: 407-317-3263 / WEB: http://planning.ocps.net 

 

Page 2 

 
SE

CT
IO

N
 4

:  
DE

VE
LO

PM
EN

T 
PR

O
FI

LE
 

Plat/Site Plan Title: 3  

Project Name:  

New Units (CEA Units) 
 Total # of Units # Single Family # Multi-Family # Townhome 
CEA Units     

CEA Units in this Request     

CEA Units in Previous Plats     

CEA Units Balance     

Vested Units (Leave blank if there are no vested units)4 
Vested Units     

Vested Units in this Request     
Vested Units in Previous 
Plats 

    

Vested Balance     
 

SE
CT

IO
N

 5
:  

M
IT

IG
AT

IO
N

 

Please refer to Section 4.a. of the Agreement 

Capital Contribution Amount (Payable to Orange County School Board) 

Unit Type # of Units $ per Unit Total Mitigation 

SF X $ $ 

TH X $ $ 

MH X $ $ 

  GRAND TOTAL: $ 
 

Footnotes: 
1. List all parcel identification numbers assigned to the parcels within the Preliminary Subdivision Plan (PSP), site plan, or plat 

boundaries that apply to this application. List parcel IDs in a separate attachment, if necessary. 
2. Development permit type – state whether the request applies to a plat, PSP, site plan, or other type of approval.   A separate 

School Mitigation Form must be completed for each development application. 
3. State the title of the PSP, site plan, master plan or plat exactly as it appears on that document. 
4. The CEA or your Capacity Determination application signed by the Applicable Local Government will have the number of 

residential units that are vested from the capacity enhancement process.    

For OCPS Use Only: 
 
Reviewer :__________________________ 

 
Date Reviewed:___________________________ 

☐ Application Sufficient  ☐ Letter of Authorization Approved 

58



59



 

 

 

 CITY OF APOPKA  

CITY COUNCIL 
 

 
 

X CONSENT AGENA  MEETING OF: October 3, 2018 

 PUBLIC HEARING  FROM: Community Development 

 SPECIAL REPORTS  EXHIBITS: Vicinity Map 

 OTHER:   Agreement 
  

 

SUBJECT:  LAKESIDE, PHASE 2 (124 LOTS) 

   

REQUEST:  AUTHORIZE THE MAYOR OR HIS DESIGNEE TO EXECUTE A SEWER 

AND WATER CAPACITY AGREEMENT FOR LAKESIDE PHASE 2 (124 

LOTS) 
  
SUMMARY: 

 

The City’s standard Sewer and Water Capacity Agreement has been prepared for Lakeside Phase 2, located 

south of Marshall Lake and West of SR 451. 

  
FUNDING SOURCE: N/A 
  
RECOMMENDATION ACTION: 
 

Authorize the Mayor or his designee to execute the Sewer and Water Capacity Agreement for Lakeside 

Phase 2. 

 
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson     Finance Director  Public Services Director  

Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    

City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  

Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 

  

60



CITY COUNCIL – OCTOBER 3, 2018 

SEWER & WATER CAPACITY AGREEMENT – LAKESIDE, PHASE 2 

PAGE 2 

 

 
 

LAKESIDE PHASE 2 
Avatar Properties Inc. 

Parcel ID No’s: 17-21-28-0000-00-014, 08-21-28-0000-00-043 
Total Acres: 154.18 +/- 

 

 

VICINITY MAP 
 

 
 

Subject 

Property 

61



 

1 

 

SEWER AND WATER CAPACITY AGREEMENT 
LAKESIDE SUBDIVISION PHASE 2 (124 UNITS) 

 
     THIS AGREEMENT, made as of this      day of                       , 20__, by 

and between the City of Apopka, Florida, a municipal corporation, hereinafter sometimes 

referred to as "City" or "Utility" or both; and _____________________________, 

sometimes hereinafter referred to as "Owner" or "Developer" or both.   

     WHEREAS, in the City of Apopka Comprehensive Plan it has been established that 

land development shall not be permitted unless adequate capital facilities exist or are 

assured; and 

     WHEREAS, in the City of Apopka Comprehensive Plan the policy has been 

established that land development shall bear a proportionate cost of the provision of the 

new or expanded capital facilities required by such development; and 

     WHEREAS, the City of Apopka Comprehensive Plan established that the imposition 

of impact fees and dedication requirements are the preferred methods of regulating land 

development in order to ensure that it bears a proportionate share of the cost of capital 

facilities necessary to accommodate the development and to promote and protect the 

public health, safety and welfare; and 

     WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Apopka has determined that the City of 

Apopka must expand its water and sewer systems in order to maintain current water and 

sewer standards if new development is to be accommodated without decreasing current 

standards; and  

     WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Apopka enacted an Ordinance providing 

for Water and Sewer Capital Facilities Fees and Tap Fees; and 

62



 

2 

 

     WHEREAS, Developer owns or controls lands located in City of Apopka or Orange 

County, Florida, and described in Exhibit "A" attached hereto and made a part hereof 

as if fully set out in this paragraph and hereinafter referred to as the "Property," and 

Developer intends to develop the Property by erecting thereon, individually metered units, 

general service units, or combination of these; and 

     WHEREAS, Developer has officially requested that the Utility provide central water 

distribution and sewage collection service for Developer's property herein described in 

Exhibit "A"; and 

     WHEREAS, the Utility is willing to provide, in accordance with the provisions of this 

Agreement, Utility's main extension policy and the City's Code of Ordinances, central 

water and sewer services to the Property and thereafter operate applicable facilities so 

that the occupants of the improvements on the Property will receive an adequate water 

supply and sewage collection and disposal service from Utility; and 

     WHEREAS, Developer's project and the receipt of water and sewer service is 

contingent upon the construction and utilization of existing and contemplated water and 

sewer service facilities and the availability of capacity of those facilities; and 

     WHEREAS, the Developer is obligated to pay certain Capital Facilities Fees in 

conjunction with this commitment for capacity and does desire to execute a Service 

Agreement with the City. 

    NOW, THEREFORE, the parties hereto agree as follows: 

     Section 1.  Compliance.  

     The Owner agrees that both he and his successors and assigns will abide by the 

provisions of this Agreement and the relevant Ordinances of the City and that he will 

63



 

3 

 

install or have installed the improvements required by the City in accordance with the 

provisions of this Agreement and of said Ordinances.  The Owner further understands 

and agrees that, in the development of the subject property, failure to abide by the terms 

of this Agreement, the provisions of the City's Ordinances, or any other applicable 

regulations, ordinances, or laws from time to time existing, shall constitute grounds for 

refusal by the City, or the appropriate authority thereof, to allow such development, to 

obtain building permits, to institute utility services, or to permit occupancy of completed 

improvements. 

     Section 2.  Definitions.  

 A. "ERU (Water)" means Equivalent Residential Unit defined as having the 

average demand of 400 gallons per day, without reclaimed water available, and having 

the average demand of 300 gallons per day, with reclaimed water available. 

 B. "ERU (Sewer)" means Equivalent Residential Unit defined as having the 

average demand of 300 gallons per day. 

 C. "DEP" shall mean the Department of Environmental Protection of the State of 

Florida. 

     D. "Notice To Proceed" - A document executed by the Developer requesting 

specific water. 

     E. "Point of Delivery" - The point where the pipes or meter of the Utility are connected 

with the pipes of the consumer or Owner.  Unless otherwise indicated, Point of Delivery 

shall be at the Owner's lot line. 

     F. "Property" - The area or parcel of land described in Exhibit "A" attached hereto. 

     G. "Service" - The readiness and ability on the part of the Utility to furnish and 

64



 

4 

 

maintain water and sewer service to the point of delivery for each lot or tract pursuant to 

applicable ordinances, laws, rules, regulations, permits and Utility policies. 

     Section 3.  On-Site Installation.  

     To induce the Utility to provide the water treatment and sewage collection and 

disposal facilities, and to continuously provide Owner's Property with water and sewer 

services, unless otherwise provided for herein, Owner hereby covenants and agrees to 

construct and to transfer ownership and control to the Utility, as a contribution-in-aid-of-

construction, the on-site water distribution and sewage collection systems located on 

Owner's Property.  The term "on-site water distribution and sewer collection systems" 

means and includes all water distribution and supply mains, lines and pipes, and related 

facilities and sewage collection lines facilities and equipment, including pumping stations, 

constructed within the boundaries of Owner's Property adequate in size to serve each lot 

or unit within the property or as otherwise required by Utility.  Owner shall install at its 

sole expense all of the aforesaid facilities within the Property in accordance with the plans, 

specifications and all other pertinent documents approved by the Utility.  Developer will 

furnish Utility with three (3) copies of the plans and specifications for the water distribution 

system, sewage collection main lift stations and other facilities necessary to serve the 

property described in Exhibit "A". 

     Developer shall obtain approval of plans and specifications from all necessary 

agencies.  No construction shall commence until utility and appropriate regulatory 

agencies have approved such plans and specifications in writing.   If construction 

commences prior to all such approvals and any other approvals required hereunder, 

Utility shall have no responsibility to accept such lines and facilities and Utility may elect 

65



 

5 

 

to terminate this Agreement and/or not provide service to Developer until such time as 

Developer obtains all such required approvals.  When permits and approved plans are 

returned by appropriate regulatory agencies to Developer, Developer shall submit to 

Utility one copy of the water and/or sewer construction permit and approved plans.  

Developer shall also supply to the Utility a copy of the final estimate or payment covering 

all contract items and Release of Lien from Contractor(s). 

     After the approval of plans and specifications by Utility and appropriate regulatory 

agencies, Developer, or the engineer of record, shall set up a preconstruction conference 

with engineer of record, utility contractor, appropriate building official(s), all other utility 

companies involved in the development of the Property, and Utility, as may be 

appropriate. 

     Developer shall provide to Utility's representative forty-eight (48) hours written notice 

prior to commencement of construction and forty-eight (48) hours written notice prior to 

any inspections or tests being performed as described herein.  "Notice" shall be 

complete when Utility actually receives same. 

     During the construction of the water distribution and sewage collection systems by 

Developer, Utility shall have the right to inspect such installations to determine 

compliance with the approved plans and specifications.  The engineer of record shall 

also inspect construction to insure compliance with the approved plans and specifications.  

The engineer of record and utility contractor shall be present for all standard tests and 

inspections for pressure, exfiltration, line and grade, and all other normal engineering 

tests and inspections to determine that the systems have been installed in accordance 

with the approved plan and specifications, and good engineering practices. 

66



 

6 

 

     Upon completion of construction, Developer's engineer of record shall submit to 

Utility a copy of the signed certification of completion submitted to the appropriate 

regulatory agencies.  If certification is for the water distribution system, a copy of the 

bacteriological results and a sketch showing locations of all sample points shall be 

included.  The engineer of record shall also submit to Utility paper copies of the as-built 

plans prepared signed and sealed by the engineer of record.  Developer will provide 

Utility with two (2) copies of the approved paving and drainage plans.  Developer will 

provide Utility with three (3) copies of the approved subdivision plat. 

 Section 4. Off-Site Installation. 

 The Developer will construct and install water mains, gravity sewer lines, lift 

station(s) and force main(s) from Developer’s property to the Utility existing facilities in 

accordance with overall master plans of the utility system and in accordance with 

approved engineering plans and specifications.  At all times prior to, during and upon 

completion of the construction of the extensions of water and sewer lines, Utility shall 

have the right to inspect and approve all construction plans and specifications, piping, 

connections, equipment, materials and construction work being provided or performed, 

or previously provided or performed, by or on behalf of the Developer.  Such approval 

shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed by Utility, and any costs of such inspections 

shall be borne by Utility.  It shall be the Developer’s responsibility to insure that all 

construction fully meets the plans and specifications approved by the Utility.  The cost of 

inspections resulting from required corrective action shall be borne by the Developer.  As 

conditions precedent to receiving water and sewer service, Developer shall: 

 A.  Provide Utility with three (3) copies of the approved subdivision plat. 

67



 

7 

 

 B.  Provide Utility with three (3) copies of the approved paving and drainage plans 

of the development. 

 C.  Furnish Utility with three (3) copies of the plans, specifications and engineering 

cost estimate for the water distribution system, sewage collection system, lift station(s) 

and other facilities necessary to serve the property described in Exhibit "A".  Developer 

must receive approval from Utility of said plans, specifications and engineering cost 

estimate prior to proceeding with any construction of the facilities. 

 D.  Obtain approval of the plans and specifications from all necessary 

governmental agencies, including, but not limited to, the Florida Department of 

Environmental Protection and the City of Apopka.  No construction shall commence until 

Utility and appropriate regulatory agencies have approved such plans and specifications 

in writing.  When permits and approved plans are returned by appropriate regulatory 

agencies to Developer, Developer shall submit to Utility one (1) copy of water and/or 

sewer construction permit and approved plans. 

  E.  After the approval of plans and specifications by Utility and appropriate 

regulatory agencies, Developer, or the engineer of record shall set up a preconstruction 

conference with engineer of record, utility contractor, appropriate building official(s), all 

other utility companies involved in the development of the Property, and Utility, as may 

be appropriate. 

 Developer shall provide to Utility’s representative forty-eight (48) hours written 

notice prior to commencement of construction and forty-eight (48) hours written notice 

prior to any inspections or tests being performed as described herein.  "Notice" shall be 

complete when Utility actually received same. 

68



 

8 

 

 During the construction of the water distribution and sewage collection systems by 

Developer, the Utility shall have the right to inspect such installations to determine 

compliance with the approved plans and specifications.  The engineer of record shall 

also inspect construction to assure compliance with the approved plans and 

specifications.  The engineer of record and utility contractor shall be present at all 

standard tests and inspections for pressure, exfiltration, line and grade, and all other 

normal engineering tests and inspections to determine that the systems have been 

installed in accordance with the approved plans and specifications, and good engineering 

practices. 

 F.  Upon completion of construction, Developer’s engineer of record shall submit 

to Utility a copy of the signed certifications of completion submitted to the appropriate 

regulatory agencies.  If certification is for the water distribution system, a copy of the 

bacteriological results and a sketch showing locations of all sample points shall be 

included. 

   Developer’s engineer shall deliver one (1) set of paper copies of "As-built" 

engineering plans, prepared signed and sealed by the professional engineer of record, 

showing the location of all water and sewer systems and services installed, and 

certification by the professional engineer of record to the Utility that such systems and 

services, as built, comply with the plans and specifications approved by the Utility. 

   Furnish proof satisfactory to the Utility that the installation of the facilities and all 

contractors, subcontractors, materialmen and laborers have been paid in full, and provide 

an engineer’s certificate of total cost of improvements, i.e., by Release of Lien or other 

appropriate means. 

69



 

9 

 

 G.  As per this Agreement, Developer shall install, at its sole expense, all of the 

aforesaid facilities off-site, in accordance with the plans and specifications approved by 

the Utility.  The Utility agrees it will complete its review of the plans and specifications 

within thirty (30) days of receipt from the Developer. 

 H.  Developer hereby agrees to transfer to Utility title to all water distributions and 

sewage collection systems installed by Developer or Developer’s contractor, pursuant to 

the provisions of this Agreement.  Such conveyance shall take effect at the time Utility 

issues its final letter of acceptance.  As further evidence of said transfer to title, upon 

completion of the installation, but prior to the issuance of the final letter of acceptance 

and the rendering of service by Utility, Developer shall: 

 I.  Provide Utility with copies of Release of Lien for said Property. 

 J.  Developer shall assign any and all warranties and/or maintenance bonds and 

the rights to enforce same to the Utility which Developer obtains from any contractor 

constructing the utility systems.  Developer shall remain secondarily liable on such 

warranties.  If Developer does not obtain such written warranty and/or maintenance bond 

from its contractor and deliver same to Utility, which warranty and/or maintenance bond 

shall be for a minimum period of two years, then in such event, Developer by the terms 

of this instrument, agrees to indemnify and save harmless the Utility for an loss, damages, 

costs, claims, suits, debts, or demands by reason of latent defects in the systems which 

could not have been reasonably discovered upon normal engineering inspection, for a 

period of two years from the date of acceptance by the Utility of said utility systems. 

 K.  The Developer shall provide Utility with all appropriate 

operations/maintenance and parts manuals. 

70



 

10 

 

 L.  The Developer shall further cause to be conveyed to Utility all easements 

and/or rights-of-way covering areas in which water and sewer systems are installed, by 

recordable document in form satisfactory to the Utility and shall convey title to the Utility, 

by recordable document in form satisfactory to Utility, and lift stations constructed on 

Developer’s Property along with recordable ingress/egress easement documents. 

 M.  Utility agrees that the issuance of the final letter of acceptance for the water 

distribution and sewage collection systems installed by Developer shall constitute the 

assumption of responsibility by Utility for the continuous operation and maintenance of 

such systems from that date forward. 

     Section 5.  Easement.   

 Developer hereby grants and gives to Utility, its successors and assigns, but 

subject to the terms of this Agreement, the exclusive right or privilege to construct, own, 

maintain or operate the water and sewer facilities to serve the Property; and the exclusive 

right or privilege to construct, own, maintain or operate the said facilities in, under, upon, 

over and across the present and future streets, roads, alleys and easements, reserved 

utility strips and utility sites, and any public place as provided and dedicated to public use 

in the record plats, or as provided for in agreements, dedications or grants made 

otherwise and is independent of said record plats.  Mortgagees, if any, holding prior liens 

on the Property shall be required to either release such lien, subordinate their positions 

or join in the grant or dedication of the easements or rights-of-way, or give to Utility 

assurance by way of a "non-disturbance agreement," that in the event of foreclosure, 

mortgagee would continue to recognize the easement rights of Utility, as long as Utility 

complies with the terms of this Agreement.  All water distribution and sewage collection 

71



 

11 

 

facilities, save and except consumer installations, shall be covered by easements or 

rights-of-way if not located within platted or dedicated road or rights-of-ways for utility 

purposes. 

     Developer hereby further agrees that the foregoing grants include the necessary 

right of ingress and egress to any part of the Developer's property upon which Utility is 

constructing or operating utility facilities.  The foregoing grants shall be for such period 

of time as Utility or its successors or assigns require such rights, privileges or easements 

in the construction, ownership, maintenance, operation or expansion of the water and 

sewer  facilities.  The parties agree that in the event Developer and Utility agree to install 

any of the water or sewer facilities in lands within the Property lying outside the streets 

and easement areas described above, then Developer or the owner shall grant to Utility, 

the necessary easement or easements for such "private property" installation; provided, 

all such "private property" installations by Utility shall be made in such a manner as not 

to interfere with the then primary use of such "private property".  The use of easements 

granted by Developer to Utility shall not preclude the use by other utilities of these 

easements, such as for cable television, telephone, electric, or gas utilities, or as 

otherwise agreed to by Utility, provided each does not interfere with Utility's use thereof. 

     The Utility hereby agrees that all easement grants will be utilized in accordance with 

the established and generally accepted practices of the water and sewer industry with 

respect to the installation of all its facilities in any of the easement areas. 

     Section 6.  Utility's Exclusive Right to Utility Facilities. 

     Developer agrees with Utility that all water and sewer  facilities accepted by Utility 

in connection with providing water and sewer services to the Property shall at all times 

72



 

12 

 

remain in the sole, complete and exclusive ownership of Utility, its successors and 

assigns, and any person or entity owning any part of the Property or any residence, 

building, or unit constructed or located thereon, shall not have any right, title, claim or 

interest in and to such facilities or any part of them, for any purpose, including the 

furnishing of water and sewer services to other persons or entities located within or 

beyond the limits of the Property. 

     Section 7.  Exclusive Right to Provide Service. 

     As a further and essential consideration of this Agreement, Developer, or the 

successors and assigns of Developer, shall not (the words "shall not" being used in a 

mandatory definition) engage in business or businesses of providing potable water or 

sewer services to the Property during the period of time Utility, its successors and assigns, 

provide water or sewer services to the Property, it being the intention of the parties hereto 

that under the foregoing provision and also other provisions of this Agreement, Utility shall 

have the sole and exclusive right and privilege to provide water and sewer services to the 

Property and to the occupants of each residence, building or unit constructed thereon, 

except for providing by Developer, from its own sources and lines for irrigation uses. 

     Section 8.  Rates.  

     The Utility agrees that the rates to be charged to Developer and individual 

consumers of water and sewer services shall be those set forth by the City Council.  

However, notwithstanding any provision in this Agreement, the Utility, its successors and 

assigns, may establish, amend or revise, from time to time in the future, and enforce rates 

or rate schedules so established and enforced and shall at all times be reasonable and 

subject to approval by the City Council.   

73



 

13 

 

     Notwithstanding any provision in this Agreement, the Utility may establish, amend or 

revise, from time to time, in the future, and enforce rules and regulations covering water 

and sewer services to the Property, including the costs thereof. 

     Any such initial or future lower or increased rate schedules, and rules and regulations 

established, amended or revised and enforced by Utility from time to time in the future 

shall be binding upon Developer; upon any person or other entity holding by, through or 

under developer; and upon any user or consumer of the water and sewer provided to the 

Property by Utility. 

 Section 9. Capital Facility Fees. 

 In addition to the contribution of any water distribution and sewage collection 

systems, where applicable, and further to induce the Utility to provide water and sewage 

service, Developer hereby agrees to pay to Utility the following Capital Facility Fees: 

 A.  Water Capital Facility Fee.  A capital facility fee which represents the capital 

cost of the Primary System capacity expansion will be charged and paid in the manner 

described herein.  The City reserves the right to also require additional contributions or 

in kind contributions, including but not limited to constructed donated facilities, as may be 

necessary to extend services or to further expand the Primary System to facilitate the 

providing of services to the Owner’s property and, if any oversizing is required the Owner 

shall be reimbursed in accordance with Section 26-80 of the Apopka Municipal Code.  

The City reserves the right to prospectively adjust unpaid fees and charges assessed 

herein.  The Owner will be required to build or to provide the cost of construction of the 

Secondary or Local Distribution System and all water facilities on site regardless of size 

necessary to provide service to the land development activity. 

74



 

14 

 

 The water Capital Facility Fee charged shall be calculated as follows: 

Total Water 

Capacity          No. Of           Water Capital           Facility Fee 
Committed         ERU’s            Facility Fee             Due from 
in Gallons      Committed         Per ERU             Owner        
37,200  124    $957.00   $118,668.00 

  B.  Sewer Capital Facility Fee.  A capital facility fee shall be assessed by the City 

which represents the capital cost of the Primary System Capacity expansion.  The City 

reserves the right to also require additional contributions or in kind contributions, including 

but not limited to constructed donated facilities, as may be necessary to extend services 

or to further expand the Primary System to facilitate the providing of services to the 

Owner’s property and, if any oversizing is required, the Owner shall be reimbursed in 

accordance with Section 26-80 of the Apopka Municipal Code.  The City additionally 

reserves the right to prospectively adjust unpaid fees and charges assessed herein.  

Owner will be required to build or to provide the cost of construction of the Secondary or 

Local Distribution System and all water facilities on site regardless of size necessary to 

provide service to the land development activity. 

 The Sewer Capital Facility Fee charged shall be calculated as follows: 

Total Sewer 

Capacity          No. Of           Sewer Capital           Facility Fee 
Committed         ERU’s            Facility Fee             Due from 
in Gallons      Committed         Per ERU             Owner     
37,200  124    $4,775.00   $592,100.00 
 
 
 
 Section 10.  Payment of Capital Fees. 

 The capital facility fees described herein shall be due and payable as follows: 

75



 

15 

 

 A.  10% of all capital facilities fees for all units at the time of applying to DEP for 

a permit. 

 B.  20% of all capital facilities fees at the time of receiving DEP approval/permit or 

120 days from the date of application whichever occurs first. 

 C.  10% of all capital facilities fees at the time of issuance of Certificate of 

Acceptance by City or 120 days from the date of issuance of DEP permit whichever 

occurs first. 

 D.  20% of all capital facilities fees 12 months after the date of issuance of the 

DEP permit as set forth in (b). 

 E.  20% of all capital facilities fees not later than 24 months after the date of 

issuance of the DEP permit as set forth in (b). 

 F.  All capital facilities fees are due not later than 36 months after the date of the 

issuance of the DEP permit as set forth in (b). 

 The capital facilities fees shall be based on the fee schedule in effect at the time 

payment is actually made to the City.  The fees set forth therein are the minimum due 

and payable.  Capital Facilities Fees shall be due and payable by the Owner on or before 

application for building permits for each individual lot or land development activity.  

During the time period following the issuance of the DEP permit until all capital facilities 

fees are paid, the amount due and payable shall always be the greater of the scheduled 

fees or the fees due upon applying for building permits during this period.  If the Capital 

Facilities fees are paid in conjunction with the application for building permits are less 

than the fees currently due pursuant to subparagraphs (d), (e), and (f) of this Section, the 

Owner must remit the difference as same comes due pursuant to the schedule.  If the 

76



 

16 

 

amount due in conjunction with the application for building permits exceeds the amount 

due pursuant to schedule, the amount due in conjunction with the application for building 

permits shall be the amount due and payable regardless of the amount of the scheduled 

payment. 

 The 40% first paid in accordance with subparagraphs (a), (b), and (c) of this 

Section will apply to the last 40% of the building permits applied for by the Developer.  A 

failure of the Developer to pay all sums due in accordance with this Section shall be 

considered a default and all of the Capital Facilities Fees shall become immediately due 

and payable and all other rights and remedies associated with a default shall be available 

to the City. 

 It is also agreed by the parties that: 

  (a) No lots, units or interests in the property, development or units may be 

sold until 100% of all the capital facilities fees on those lots or units to be sold have been 

paid. 

  (b) No capacity may be transferred, sold or bartered to any other land 

development activity. 

  (c) If the Developer should default on any of the aforedescribed, the City 

shall have the right to record a lien on all remaining lots owned by the Developer for 

unpaid fees and shall have the right to demand the return of unused capacity.  This right 

is in addition to all other rights available to the City under Florida law. 

 

 Section 11.  Refund of Fee Paid. 

 The parties agree that if a DEP permit expires and DEP has released all permitted 

77



 

17 

 

capacity back to the City and no construction has been commenced, then the Developer 

shall be entitled to a refund of the capital facility fees paid as a condition for its issuance 

except that the City shall retain three percent (3%) of the refunded funds as a fee to offset 

the costs of collection and refund. 

 Section 12.  Recapture of Capacity.  

   The parties agree that if the development has not been substantially completed by the 

end of the calendar quarter immediately following two (2) years from the date on which 

the water and sewer capital facility fee was paid in full, or if the developer is in default 

under this agreement or if the DEP permit issued to the developer has expired or the 

Developer has not proceeded to develop the property described in Exhibit "A" within two 

years from the date of execution of this Agreement, the City may petition, if necessary, 

the DEP to recapture the capacity committed pursuant to this Agreement.  If said 

capacity is all released back to the City, the City may refund the capital facility fees as set 

forth in paragraph 11 above. 

 Section 13.  Maintenance Fees. 

 The parties agree that the City may subject encumbered or committed water and 

sewer capacity to a maintenance fee to be assessed by the City.  The amount of such 

fee will be determined by the City Council and shall be based upon the costs of 

maintaining the committed capacity for the Developer.  Such fees shall not be a Capital 

Facility Fee as described herein and shall be due and payable as directed by the City. 

 

     Section 14.  Water System Tap Fee.  

     The parties agree that a Water Tap Fee shall be charged at the time of approval by 

78



 

18 

 

the City of a service connection.  Such fee will include the labor cost and the cost of 

connection piping from the main to the meter not to exceed fifty (50) feet in length and 

shall be charged as follows: 

Single Service Meter                     
      3/4"                      $350.00                    
        1"                      $412.00                    
      1½"                      $631.00                    
        2"                      $757.00                    
 
Dual Service Meter 
      3/4"       $274.00 
 
Short Service Tap                   
     3/4" & 1"                     $275.00                    
     1½" & 2"                   $357.00                    
 
Long Service Tap                   
     3/4" & 1"                     $836.00                    
     1½" & 2"                   $918.00                    
 
     For a meter or tap over two (2) inches in size, the work will be performed by the 

contractor, however, in circumstances where the City elects to perform the work, the fee 

charged shall be actual cost plus ten percent (10%). 

     Short service is defined as service located on the same side of a road or driveway 

of an existing water line where the connection is to be made.  Long service is defined as 

service located on the opposite side of a road or driveway of an existing water line where 

the connection is to be made.  There will be an additional charge of $10.00 for every 

linear foot for service over 50 linear feet.  An additional charge will be added equal to the 

county right-of-way permit fee when it is required.  All Tap Fees are due and payable at 

the time that a service connection is approved by the Utility. 

 Section 15.  Sewer Tap Fee and Other Charges. 

79



 

19 

 

 The parties agree that a sewer tap fee shall be charged at the time of approval by 

the City of a service connection.  The cost of extending or installing 6" sewer lateral shall 

be $745.00 up to 25 feet and including cleanout, and shall be payable by the Developer 

upon billing.  For additional footage beyond 25 feet, the charge shall be $12.00 per linear 

foot.  The costs of any applicable county or state permits will be also an additional charge 

payable by the Developer.  Any sewer lateral within the public right-of-way easement will 

remain the property of the City.  All Tap Fees are due and payable at the time that a 

service connection is approved by the Utility.  The other charges described herein are 

due and payable within 10 days of the date of the billing. 

     Section 16.  Miscellaneous Provisions Regarding Payments. 

     The parties agree to the following with reference to fees described herein: 

     A.  No building permit for any developmental activity requiring the payment of a 

capital facility fee shall be issued unless and until the water and sewer capital facility fees 

have been paid. 

     B.  The City may require that all payments be made with certified funds or cashier’s 

check if payments have been late or if the Developer has previously provided bad funds 

or if the Developer has an impaired credit reputation. 

     C.  In the event that the City should have to take any actions other than initial 

presentment of a check to a local bank in order to collect the payments due and payable 

pursuant to this Agreement, the Owner shall be responsible for any costs, including 

reasonable attorney's fee, incurred in taking such actions. 

     D.  Acceptance of payment of any of the Fees described herein in part or in full shall 

not constitute a waiver of the Utility's rates or regulations. 

80



 

20 

 

     E.  Neither Developer nor any person or other entity holding any of the Property by, 

through or under Developer, or otherwise, shall have any present or future right, title, 

claim or interest in and to the Capital Facility Fee charges paid or to any of the water or 

sewer facilities and properties of Utility, and all prohibitions applicable to Developer with 

respect to refund of such fees, are applicable to all persons or entities owning such 

property or an interest in such property. 

     Section 17.  Agreement to Serve. 

     Upon the completion of construction of the water and sewer facilities by Developer, 

its inspection, the issuance of the final letter of acceptance by the Utility, the Utility 

covenants and agrees that it will allow the connection of the water distribution and sewage 

collection facilities installed by Developer to the central facilities of the Utility and shall 

provide utility service in accordance with the terms and intent of this Agreement.  Such 

connections shall at all times be in accordance with rules, regulations and orders of the 

applicable governmental authorities including the City.  The Utility agrees that once it 

provides water and sewer service to the Property and Developer or others have 

connected consumer installations to its system, that thereafter the Utility will continuously 

provide, in accordance with the other provisions of this Agreement, including rules and 

regulations and rate schedules, water and sewer service to the Property in a manner to 

conform with all requirements of the applicable governmental authority. 

     The parties agree that the capacity needed to provide service to the Property is  

37,200 gallons per day for potable water supply and 37,200 gallons per day for 

wastewater removal.  Developer agrees that the number of units of development for 

which capacity is reserved hereby shall not exceed the number of units of development 

81



 

21 

 

for which capacity is reserved hereby pursuant to final development plans on file in the 

Community Development Department.  Developer agrees that sewage to be treated by 

the Utility from Developer's property will consist of domestic wastewater and further 

agrees that it will not allow any abnormal strength sewage to flow from developers’ 

property to the Utility Sewage treatment facility that will cause harm to the treatment 

process.  In addition, Developer further agrees that no wastewater, fluids or other 

substances and materials shall be discharged to the Utility's sanitary sewer 

collection/transmission system, which contain any hazardous, inflammable, toxic and/or 

industrial constituents, in whole or in part, regardless of the concentrations (i.e., strengths) 

of said constituents.  Developer grants to Utility the right to sample the Developer's 

sewage, as referred to hereinabove, to verify Developer's compliance with this paragraph.     

 Section 18.  Application for Service: Consumer Installations. 

     Developer, or any owner of any parcel of the Property, or any occupant of any 

residence, building or unit located thereon shall not have the right to and shall not connect 

any consumer installation to the facilities of Utility until formal written application has been 

made to Utility by the prospective user of service, or either of them, in accordance with 

the then effective rules and regulations of the Utility and approval for such connection has 

been granted. 

     Although the responsibility for connecting the consumer installation to the meter 

and/or lines of the Utility at the point of delivery is that of the Developer or entity other 

than the Utility, with reference to such connections, the parties agree as follows: 

     A.  Application for the installation of water meters and backflow preventers shall be 

made twenty-four (24) hours in advance, not including Saturdays, Sundays and holidays. 

82



 

22 

 

     B.  All consumer installation connections may at its sole option be inspected by the 

Utility before backfilling and covering of any pipes. 

     C.  Written notice to the Utility requesting an inspection of a consumer installation 

connection may be given by the Developer or his contractor, and the inspection will be 

made within twenty-four (24) hours, not including Saturdays, Sundays and holidays, 

provided the meter and backflow preventer, if applicable, have been previously installed. 

     D.  The cost of constructing, operating, repairing or maintaining consumer 

installations shall be that of Developer or a party other than the Utility. 

     E.  If a kitchen, cafeteria, restaurant or other food preparation or dining facility is 

constructed within the Property, the Utility shall have the right to require that a grease trap 

and/or pretreatment unit be constructed, installed and connected so that all waste waters 

from any grease producing equipment within such facility, including floor drains in food 

preparation areas, shall first enter the grease trap for pretreatment before the wastewater 

is delivered to the lines of the Utility.  The size, materials and construction of said grease 

traps are to be approved by the Utility.  Developer hereby grants to the Utility the right to 

periodically inspect the pretreatment facilities herein described.  The provisions of this 

paragraph shall not apply to individual residential kitchens. 

     No substance other than domestic wastewater will be placed into the sewage system 

and delivered to the lines of the Utility.  Should any non-domestic wastes, grease or oils, 

including, but not limited to, floor wax or paint, be delivered to the lines, the Owner will be 

responsible for payment of the cost and expense required in correcting or repairing any 

resulting damage or impairment of the treatment process and/or facilities. 

       Section 19.  Assurance of Title. 

83



 

23 

 

     Within fifteen (15) days of DEP approval or prior to Developer issuing the Notice to 

Proceed to the Utility, at the expense of Developer, Developer agrees to deliver to the 

Utility a Certificate of Title, a Title Insurance Policy or an opinion of title from a qualified 

attorney-at-law, with respect to the Property.  The provisions of this paragraph are for 

the purpose of evidencing Developer's legal right to grant the exclusive rights of service 

contained in the Agreement. 

     Section 20.  Binding Effect of Agreement. 

     The Agreement shall be binding upon and shall inure to the benefit of Developer, the 

Utility and their respective assigns and successors by merger, consolidation, conveyance 

or otherwise, subject to the terms of this Agreement, as contained herein.  This 

Agreement is freely assignable by either party. 

     Section 21.  Notice. 

     Until further written notice by either party to the other, all notices provided for herein 

shall be in writing and transmitted by messenger, by mail or by telegram, and if to 

Developer, shall be mailed or delivered to Developer at: 

    Avatar Properties, Inc.   
    2420 S. Lakemont Ave Suite 450  
    Orlando, FL 32814    

Attention: Laura McPherson  

 
With a copy to:   AV Homes, Inc.    
   8601 N. Scottsdale Road, Suite 225 
   Scottsdale, Arizona 85253   
   Attn: Gary Shullaw, Esq.   
 

and if the Utility, at:   City of Apopka 

    Utilities Department, Attn:  Eusie Watson 
120 East Main Street, Apopka, FL 32704 
 

     Section 22.  Laws of Florida. 

84



 

24 

 

     This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of Florida and it shall be 

and become effective immediately upon execution by both parties hereto. 

     Section 23.  Cost and Attorney's Fees. 

     In the event the Utility or Developer is required to enforce this Agreement by Court 

proceedings or otherwise, by instituting suit or otherwise, then the prevailing party shall 

be entitled to recover from the other party all costs incurred, including reasonable 

attorney's fees. 

    Section 24.  Force Majeure. 

     In the event that the performance of this Agreement by either party to this Agreement 

is prevented or interrupted in consequence of any cause beyond the control of either 

party, including but not limited to Act of God or of the public enemy, war, national 

emergency, allocation or of other governmental restrictions upon the use of availability of 

labor or materials, rationing, civil insurrection, riot, racial or civil rights disorder or 

demonstration, strike, embargo, flood, tidal wave, fire, explosion, bomb detonation, 

nuclear fallout, windstorm, hurricane, earthquake, or other casualty or disaster or 

catastrophe, unforeseeable failure or breakdown of pumping transmission or other 

facilities, and all governmental rules or acts or action of any government or public or 

governmental authority or commission of board or agency or agent or official or officer, 

the enactment of any statute or ordinance or resolution or regulation or rule or ruling or 

order, order of decree or judgment or restraining order or injunction of any court, said 

party shall not be liable for such non-performance. 

     Section 25. 

     The rights, privileges, obligations and covenants of Developer and the Utility shall 

85



 

25 

 

survive the completion of the work of Developer with respect to completing the facilities 

and services to any development phase and to the Property as a whole. 

     Section 26.   

     This Agreement supersedes all previous agreements or representations, either 

verbal or written, heretofore in effect between Developer and Utility, made with respect to 

the matters herein contained, and when duly executed, fully constitutes the Agreement 

between Developer and the Utility.  No additions, alterations or variations of the terms of 

this Agreement shall be valid, nor can provisions of this Agreement be waived by either 

party, unless such additions, alterations, variations or waivers are expressed in writing 

and duly signed. 

     Section 27.  Construction. 

     Whenever the singular number is used in this Agreement and when required by the 

context, the same shall include the plural, and the masculine, feminine and neuter 

genders shall each include the others. 

     In case of any differences of meaning or implication between the text of this 

Agreement and any caption, illustration, summary table, or illustrative table, the text shall 

control. 

     The phrase "used for" includes "arranged for", "designed for", "maintained for", or 

"occupied for". 

     The work "includes" shall not limit a term to the specific example but is intended to 

extend its meaning to all other instances or circumstances of like kind or character. 

     Section 28. 

     Both parties warrant that they have the legal authority to execute this Agreement. 

86



 

26 

 

     Section 29. 

     Notwithstanding the gallonage calculations that could be made hereunder relative to 

ERU's, by and execution hereof, Developer agrees that the intention of this contract is to 

reserve a given number of units of capacity for the property described in Exhibit "A" and 

not for purposes of any other calculations. 

     Section 30. 

It is agreed by and between the parties hereto that all words, terms and conditions 

contained herein are to be read in concert, each with the other, and that provision 

contained under one heading may be considered to be equally applicable under another 

in the interpretation of this contract. 

     Section 31. 

     By the execution hereof, Developer agrees that the Utility Company has certain 

obligations as a municipal utility to protect the health, safety and welfare of the public and 

not to burden Utility's customers with extraordinary expenses attributed or attributable to 

Developer, his successors or assigns, and that the Utility may, at its sole option, require 

pretreatment or special features such as grease traps.  It is the intention of the parties 

that all sewage shall conform to the requirements of the Utility prior to introduction into 

Utility's collection system.  Developer shall be responsible for all costs associated 

herewith. 

     Section 32. 

     The Utility shall, at all reasonable times and hours, have the right of inspection of 

Developer's internal lines and facilities.  This provision shall be binding on the 

successors and assigns of the Developer. 

87



 

27 

 

     Section 33.  Water Conservation Measures. 

     Water conservation measures shall be employed by the Developer.  Said measures 

shall include but not be limited to: 

     A.  Low flush toilets which utilize 3.5 gallons or less of water per flushing cycle. 

     B.  Shower heads which have flow restrictors, pulsating features, flow control 

devices or other features which result in water conservation; and do not allow a flow 

exceeding 3.0 gallons per minute at 60 psi. 

     C.  No swimming pool filter backwash water or any other swimming pool wastewater 

shall be discharged to the sanitary sewer system. 

    D.  Spring-loaded/automatic shut-off water fixtures shall be utilized in all public 

restrooms.  This shall include lavatory fixtures. 

     E.  Consideration and use (where possible) of dishwashers and washing machines 

which have water conservation features and/or utilize less water per cycle. 

     The Utility, at its discretion, shall review and approve all water conservation 

measures proposed by Developer. 

     Section 34. 

     Failure to insist upon strict compliance of any of the term, covenants, or conditions 

hereof shall not be deemed a waiver of such terms, covenants, or conditions, or shall any 

waiver or relinquishment of any right or power hereunder at any one time, or times, be 

deemed a waiver or relinquishment of such right or power at any other time or times. 

Section 35. 

     In the event that relocation of existing water and sewer utilities are necessary for the 

Developer, Developer will reimburse utility in full for such relocations. 

88



 

28 

 

 

 

 

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank.  [Signatures on the following pages.] 

89



 

29 

 

WITNESSES:    THE CITY OF APOPKA,  
A Florida municipal corporation 

 
      _______________________________ 
      Edward Bass 
      City Administrator 
Print Name 
       
      
 
      
Print Name 
 
 
 
STATE OF FLORIDA 
COUNTY OF ORANGE 
 
 
 
The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this ______ day of 
________________, 20____, by Edward Bass, City Administrator of the City of Apopka, 
a Florida municipal corporation, he is personally known to me or has produced 
_________________________________________________ as identification and did 
(did not) take an oath. 
 
(NOTARY’S SEAL)            
       Notary Public 
 
              
       Print Name 
       Commission No.      
 

 

90



 

30 

 

WITNESSES:               OWNER: 
 
                                    Avatar Properties, Inc., a Florida Corporation  
       
_______________________  By:                                     
Print Name         Laura McPherson, VP of Finance  

    
  
 
________________________          
 
________________________ 
Print Name 
 
 
STATE OF                              
COUNTY OF                                                 
 
 The  foregoing  instrument  was acknowledged  before  me  this     day of  
                      , 20___ by                                                        
(Name of officer or agent) of                                                            
(Name of corporation acknowledging), a                                                
(state or place of corporation) Corporation, on behalf of the corporation.  He/She/They 
Is/are personally known to me or has produced                                          
(type of identification) as identification and did (did not) take an oath. 
 
 
 
 
 
 S E A L                                                                                       
                                       NOTARY PUBLIC 
         
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
           

91



 

31 

 

EXHIBIT "A" 
 

Legal Description 
 

 

92



  

 CITY OF APOPKA  

CITY COUNCIL 
 

 
 

       CONSENT AGENDA      MEETING OF: October 3, 2018  

___ PUBLIC HEARING      FROM:              Administration  

       SPECIAL REPORTS      EXHIBITS:        

  X   OTHER: Business  
  

 

SUBJECT: COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT BLOCK GRANT – ALONZO WILLIAMS PARK 

COMMUNITY CENTER  

 

REQUEST: AWARD TWO CONTRACTS CONTINGENT UPON THE FLORIDA 

DEPARTMENT OF ECONOMIC OPPORTUNITY’S APPROVAL 
  
SUMMARY: 

 

The City was awarded a $750,000 Florida Small Cities, Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) 

by the Florida Department of Economic Opportunity (DEO).  The grant was accepted with a matching 

requirement of $50,000 via City Council in order to construct a Community Center at Alonzo Williams 

Park.  A grant administrator was also awarded in the amount of $60,000 to assist with the project and is 

being funded with the grant.  

 

On December 17, 2017 a bid was advertised for the construction of the Community Center and off-street 

parking.  Three bids were received significantly higher than the funding available, ranging from 

$1,157,410 - $1,371,619.   City Council voted to reject said bids and establish additional funding for the 

project before re-bidding.  During this time period an updated engineer’s estimate for the complete project 

was conducted to re-evaluate the cost of construction and was received at $1,361,114. On August 15, 

2018 the Community Redevelopment Agency (CRA) met and approved additional funding in the amount 

of $621,114 in order to complete the project.  

 

On August 19, 2018, a re-bid was advertised for the construction of the Community Center and off-street 

parking.  Seven bids were received on September 21, 2018, as follows:  

 

     Community Center   Off-Street Parking  

     Bid Amount    Bid Amount 

MIE Inc.     $1,086,563.84    $30,000.00 

Mid-South Contractors, LLC  $1,114,000.00    $29,500.00 

Morton Construction Company  $1,242,007.00    $33,800.00 

MC/Mulligan Constructors  $1,494,100.00    $30,770.00 

R.L. Burns, Inc.    $1,535,562.17    $27,561.83 

Johnson-Laux Construction  $1,554,142.00    $38,000.00 

Marbek Construction Company  $1,639,800.00    $32,000.00 

 

DEO does not allow for a joint award of alternate bid items (off-street parking) and the city is required to 

award the community center and off-street parking separately.   Therefore MIE Inc. (Community Center) 

and R.L. Burns (off-street parking) are being requested as the awarded contractors for the project 

contingent upon DEO’s final approval.  The contingency is being proposed at 10% of the total project 

cost or $111,412.57 ($1,086,563.84 + $27,561.83 = $1,114,125.67).         
93



In the event that either of the contractors do not meet the requirements of DEO or any substantial issues 

with either contractors are identified, staff requests the ability to move on to the next lowest qualified 

bidder contingent upon DEO approval.  Any remaining dedicated funding for the project beyond the 

contingency will be brought forward for City Council approval in the future.   

 

Total Summary of CDBG and Project funding:  

Description Funding Expenses 

CDBG Grant $750,000  

City Grant Funding Match $  50,000  

CRA Funding $621,114  

   

Grant Administrator: Fred Fox Enterprises  $60,000 

Construction of Community Center: MIE Inc.   $1,086,563.84 

Construction of Off-Street Parking: RL Burns Inc.   $27,561.83 

Project Contingency at 10%  $111,412.57 

   

Total  $1,421,114 $1,285,538.24 

Remaining Balance  $135,575.76 

 

  
FUNDING SOURCE: 
 

$740,000.00 CDBG Funds and includes matching funds ($50k) from previous FY budget  

$485,538.24 CRA funds 

$1,225,538.24 for the Community Center, Off-Street Parking and Contingency    
RECOMMENDATION ACTION: 
 

Approval of award for the Alonzo Williams Park Community Center construction, contingent upon DEO 

approval, to MIE Inc.  Approval of award for the Alonzo Williams Park off-street parking, contingent 

upon DEO approval, to R.L. Burns, Inc. Authority to continue to the next lowest qualified bidder with 

DEO approval, if any issues are identified with MIE, Inc. or RL Burns Inc.  Authorize budgeted funding 

as described above.  
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson     Finance Director  Public Services Director  

Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    

City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  

Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 
 

94



 

 

 

 CITY OF APOPKA  

CITY COUNCIL 
 

 
 

 CONSENT AGENA  MEETING OF: October 3, 2018 

X PUBLIC HEARING  FROM: Community Development 

 SPECIAL REPORTS  EXHIBITS: Vicinity Map 

X OTHER: Final Development Plan/Plat  Final Development Plan 

    Plat 
  

 

SUBJECT:  LAKESIDE, PHASE 2 RESIDENTIAL SUBDIVISION – FINAL 

DEVELOPMENT PLAN AND PLAT 

   

REQUEST:  APPROVAL OF THE LAKESIDE, PHASE 2 RESIDENTIAL 

SUBDIVISION FINAL DEVELOPMPENT PLAN AND PLAT 
  
SUMMARY: 

 
OWNER:   Avatar Properties Inc. 
   
APPLICANT:   Appian Engineering, LLC. c/o Luke M. Classon, P.E. 
 
LOCATION: South of Marshall Lake and West of SR 451 
 
EXISTING USE:  Vacant land 
 
FUTURE LAND USE: Low Density Residential, Mixed-Use  
 
ZONING:   PUD (Planned Unit Development) 
 
PROPOSED USE:  124 single-family homes  
 
TRACT SIZE:   154.18 +/- acres 
 
DEVELOPABLE AREA: 52.06 +/- acres 
  
FUNDING SOURCE: N/A 
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson     Finance Director  Public Services Director  

Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    

City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  

Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 

  

95



CITY COUNCIL – OCTOBER 3, 2018 

LAKESIDE, PHASE 2 – FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN AND PLAT 

PAGE 2 

 
RELATIONSHIP TO ADJACENT PROPERTIES: 
 

Direction Future Land Use Zoning Present Use 

North (City) Industrial (max 0.60 
FAR) 

I-1 John’s Nursery, vacant property  

East (City) Industrial, None assigned  

(SR 451 right-of-way)  

I-1, no 

zoning 

assigned  

Existing agricultural use (John’s Nursery), 

SR 451 right-of-way  

South (City) Low Density Residential 

(0-5 du/ac), Commercial 

(max 0.25 FAR) 

R-1A, C-1 Vacant property, SR 451 retention pond 

West (City) Low Density Residential 

(0-5 du/ac) 

PUD  Breckenridge residential subdivision buffer 

tract  

 

Project Use:  On April 4, 2018 the City Council approved a PUD Master Plan/Preliminary Development 

Plan for the Lake Marshall subdivision, which details the development of 301 single family residential lots 

in two phases. The subject property is located south of Marshall Lake and west of SR 451. The surrounding 

properties consist primarily of single-family residential and agricultural uses. The developer has submitted 

a Final Development Plan and Plat for Phase 2 of the Lake Marshall subdivision, now named Lakeside.  

 

The applicant is requesting approval of the Final Development Plan and Plat for Phase 2 of Lakeside, which 

is for 124 single-family residential lots. All internal roadways are proposed as privately owned and 

maintained, and the subdivision will be gated. Consistent with the approved PUD Master Plan/Preliminary 

Development Plan, lot widths of 55-feet and 60-feet are provided in Lakeside, Phase 2. A minimum living 

area of 1,600 square feet is provided for all units located within Phase 2.  

 

The minimum setbacks applicable to this project are: 
 

Setback Min. Standard 

Front 25’ 

Side 
5’ – 60’ lot 

7.5’ – 55’ lot 

Rear 20’ 

Corner 15’ 
 
Access:  Ingress/egress access points for the development will be via Johns Road. Adjacent to the west of 
the subject property is the Breckenridge subdivision. A gated access for emergency vehicles will be 
provided between the two subdivisions. This access point will only be for emergency vehicles. In response 
to the Breckenridge homeowners association, pedestrian access will not be permitted between the two 
subdivisions. 
 
Stormwater: There are three (3) retention ponds designed to meet the City’s Land Development Code 
requirements. 
 
Recreation and Open Space: Consistent with the approved PUD Master Plan/Preliminary Development Plan, 
the recreation package will be located within Phase 1 and will consist of a cabana with restrooms, a 
swimming pool, a playground, and a mixed-use active field at a minimum. In addition the developer is 
dedicating a tract in Phase 1 adjacent to Marshall Lake as a Community Lake Park that will have a 
community dock, and a 1.03 acre open space tract across the street from this park. These amenities will be 96



CITY COUNCIL – OCTOBER 3, 2018 

LAKESIDE, PHASE 2 – FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN AND PLAT 

PAGE 3 

 
available to residents in Phase 2. In the Phase 2 area, two tracts will be dedicated as a park/open space area.  
A 15.12 acre Conservation area within Tract “II” will also be dedicated with an easement to the St. Johns 
River Water Management District. 
 

Buffer/Tree Program:  Consistent with the approved PUD Master Plan/Preliminary Development Plan, 

landscaping is provided at the subdivision entrance on Johns Road, a 10-foot landscape buffer is provided along 

Johns Road, and a 20-foot wide landscape buffer is provided along SR 451. An existing 50-foot landscape 

buffer occurs along the western and northern project line within the Breckenridge plat. This buffer is noted 

as a tract on the Breckenridge plat. The Lake Marshall development will not be visible from the homes 

within Breckenridge or along SR 451.  
 

The following is a summary of the tree replacement program for this project: 

 

Total inches on-site:      15,296 

Total number of specimen trees: 45 

Total inches removed:  15,161 

Total inches retained: 135 

Total inches replaced:  2,502 

Total Inches (Post Development): 4,637 

 

SCHOOL CAPACITY REPORT:  The developer has obtained a school concurrency mitigation agreement 

with Orange County Public Schools to address school impacts generated by this residential development. The 

schools zoned to receive students from this community are the following: Apopka Elementary School, Wolf 

Lake Middle School and Apopka High School.  

 

ORANGE COUNTY NOTIFICATION:  The County was notified at the time of the subdivision plan and plat 

for this property through the DRC agenda distribution.  

 

PUBLIC HEARING SCHEDULE: 

September 11, 2018 - Planning Commission, 5:30 p.m. 

October 3, 2018 - City Council, 1:30 p.m.  
  
RECOMMENDATION ACTION: 
 

The Development Review Committee recommends approval of the Lakeside, Phase 2 Final Development Plan 

and Plat subject to the final review by the City surveyor and City Engineer prior to recording the plat. 

 

The Planning Commission at its meeting on September 11, 2018, found the plat for Lakeside, Phase 2 consistent 

with the Comprehensive Plan and Land Development Code, and unanimously recommended approval of the 

Lakeside, Phase 2 plat subject to the findings of this staff report.  

 

City Council: Approve the Lakeside, Phase 2 Final Development Plan and Plat.    

 

Note: This item is considered quasi-judicial.  The staff report and its findings are to be incorporated into 

and made a part of the minutes of this meeting. 
  

97



CITY COUNCIL – OCTOBER 3, 2018 

LAKESIDE, PHASE 2 – FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN AND PLAT 

PAGE 4 

 
Application:  Lakeside, Phase 2 plat 
Owners:  Avatar Properties, Inc   
Project Engineer: Appian Engineering, Inc., c/o Luke M. Classon, P.E. 
Parcel ID#s:    17-21-28-0000-00-014, 08-21-28-0000-00-043 
Total Acres:  154.18 +/- 
 

 

VICINITY MAP 
 

  

98



CITY COUNCIL – OCTOBER 3, 2018 

LAKESIDE, PHASE 2 – FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN AND PLAT 

PAGE 5 

 
 
 
 

AERIAL MAP 
 

 

99



100



101



102



103



104



105



106



107



108



109



110



111



112



113



114



115



116



117



118



119



120



121



122



123



124



125



126



127



128



129



130



131



132



133



134



135



136



137



138



139



140



141



142



143



144



145



146



147



148



149



150



151



152



153



154



155



156



157



158



159



160



161



162



163



164



165



166



167



168



169



170



171



172



 

 

 

 CITY OF APOPKA  

CITY COUNCIL 
 

 
 

 CONSENT AGENA  MEETING OF: October 3, 2018 

X PUBLIC HEARING  FROM: Community Development 

 SPECIAL REPORTS  EXHIBITS: Vicinity Map 

X OTHER: Final Development Plan/Plat  Final Development Plan 

    Plat 
  

 

SUBJECT:  VISTA RESERVE – FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN AND PLAT  

   

REQUEST:  APPROVE THE VISTA RESERVE FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN 
AND PLAT 

  
SUMMARY: 

 
OWNER:    Pulte Home Company, LLC 
 
APPLICANT:    Pulte Home Corporation  
 
LOCATION: East side of Rogers Road, approximately one half mile north of the 

intersection of Rogers Road and Lester Road 
 
PARCEL ID NUMBERS: 29-20-28-0000-00-003 
 
EXISTING USE: Vacant 
 
FLUM DESIGNATION:  Low Density Suburban Residential 
 
CURRENT ZONING: PUD (Planned Unit Development)  
 
PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT: 153 single family homes; developed in one phase 
 
TRACT SIZE:    61.1 +/- acres 
  
FUNDING SOURCE: N/A 

 
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson     Finance Director  Public Services Director  

Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    

City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  

Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 

  

173



CITY COUNCIL – OCTOBER 3, 2018 

VISTA RESERVE – FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN AND PLAT 
PAGE 2 
 
RELATIONSHIP TO ADJACENT PROPERTIES: 

 

Direction Future Land Use Zoning Present Use 

North (City) Low Density Suburban Residential 

(0-3.5 du/ac) 

R-1AA Vacant, Lake Merril 

East (City) Low Density Suburban Residential 

(0-3.5 du/ac) 

PUD  Oak Hill Reserve subdivision  

South (City) Low Density Suburban Residential 

(0-3.5 du/ac) 

R-1AA, R-

1 

Carriage Hills subdivision (under 

construction), Vacant property 

West (City) Low Density Suburban Residential 

(0-3.5 du/ac) 

R-1AA Wekiva Run subdivision  

 

Project Use: On August 1, 2018, the City Council approved a PUD Master Plan/Preliminary Development 

Plan for the Vista Reserve subdivision, which details the development of 153 single family residential lots 

in one phase. The subject property is located on the east side of Rogers Road, approximately one half mile 

north of the intersection of Rogers Road and Lester Road. The applicant is requesting approval of the Final 

Development Plan and Plat for Vista Reserve, which details 153 lots. Consistent with the approved PUD 

Master Plan/Preliminary Development Plan, lot widths of 65-feet and 90-feet are provided. The minimum 

living area is proposed at 2,190 square feet. 

 

Access: Ingress/egress access points for the development are located via Rogers Road. Rogers Road will 

terminate at the main entrance of the development. The developer will be dedicating a 0.68 acre portion of 

right-of-way along Rogers Road to the City. The subdivision will consist of public roads and infrastructure 

that is owned and maintained by the City. Vehicular and pedestrian connections are provided to the property 

to the north and to the Carriage Hills subdivision located to the south. 

 

Stormwater: Two tracts located on the northwestern and northeastern corners of the site are reserved for 

stormwater retention. The stormwater retention areas will be owned and maintained by the homeowners 

association. 

 

Recreation: Consistent with the approved PUD Master Plan/Preliminary Development Plan, a 1.67 acre 

tract is reserved for the community recreation facility that will be owned and maintained by the homeowners 

association. Included within the recreation facility is a picnic area, pool, pool cabana building, play 

structure, open play area, bicycle parking, and a parking area for 8 cars.    

 

Buffer/Tree Program: Consistent with the approved PUD Master Plan/Preliminary Development Plan, a 

continuous open space tract with is provided around the perimeter of the subdivision to buffer the homes 

from the surrounding existing subdivisions. Thirty percent of the site, or 18.13 acres of open space is 

provided, and will be owned and maintained by the homeowners association. Landscaping and a 6-foot high 

brick wall is provided along Rogers Road. Trees are located within the open space tract provided around 

the perimeter of the subdivision.  

 
The applicant has agreed to pay a tree mitigation payment of $56,143.06.  

 

SCHOOL CAPACITY REPORT: The developer has obtained a school concurrency mitigation agreement 

with Orange County Public Schools to address school impacts generated by this residential development. The 

174



CITY COUNCIL – OCTOBER 3, 2018 

VISTA RESERVE – FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN AND PLAT 
PAGE 3 
 
schools zoned to receive students from this community are the following: Wolf Lake Elementary School, Wolf 

Lake Middle School and Apopka High School. 
 

ORANGE COUNTY NOTIFICATION: The County was notified at the time of the subdivision plan and 

plat for this property through the DRC agenda distribution. 
 

PUBLIC HEARING SCHEDULE: 

September 11, 2018 - Planning Commission, 5:30 pm 

October 3, 2018 - City Council, 1:30 pm  
  
RECOMMENDATION ACTION: 
 

The Development Review Committee recommends approval of the Vista Reserve Final Development Plan 

and Plat, subject to final review by the City surveyor and City Engineer prior to recording the plat.  

 

The Planning Commission at its meeting on September 11, 2018, found the plat of Vista Reserve consistent 

with the Comprehensive Plan and Land Development, and unanimously recommended approval of the Vista 

Reserve plat subject to the findings of this staff report.     

 

City Council: Approve the Vista Reserve Final Development Plan and Plat.  

  

175



CITY COUNCIL – OCTOBER 3, 2018 

VISTA RESERVE – FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN AND PLAT 
PAGE 4 
 

 
Project: VISTA RESERVE 

Owned by:  Pulte Home Company LLC 
Located:         East side of Rogers Road, approximately one half mile north of the intersection of  

Rogers Road and Lester Road 
Parcel ID#s: 29-20-28-0000-00-003 

 

 

VICINITY MAP 

 
 

 

 

 
  

176



CITY COUNCIL – OCTOBER 3, 2018 

VISTA RESERVE – FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN AND PLAT 
PAGE 5 
 

 

 

 

AERIAL MAP 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 

177



178



179



180



181



182



183



184



185



186



187



188



189



190



191



192



193



194



195



196



197



198



199



200



201



202



203



204



205



206



207



208



209



210



211



212



213



214



215



216



217



218



219



220



221



222



223



224



225



226



227



228



229



230



231



232



233



234



235



236



237



238



239



240



241



242



243



 

 

 
 CITY OF APOPKA  

CITY COUNCIL 
 

 
 

 CONSENT AGENA  MEETING OF: October 3, 2018 
X PUBLIC HEARING  FROM: Community Development 
 SPECIAL REPORTS  EXHIBITS: Ordinance No. 2679 
X OTHER: Ordinance  Appendix 7-1 – CIE – Five-Year CIP 

  
 

SUBJECT:  ORDINANCE NO. 2679 - AMENDMENT TO THE CITY’S FIVE-YEAR CAPITAL 
IMPROVEMENTS PLAN TO ADD RECREATION IMPROVEMENTS, AND 
INCORPORATING INTO THE CITY OF APOPKA, COMPREHENSIVE PLAN, 
CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS ELEMENT. 

   
REQUEST:  ORDINANCE NO. 2679 – SECOND READING -- AMENDMENT TO THE CITY OF 

APOPKA, FIVE-YEAR CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS PLAN AND INCORPORATE 
INTO THE CITY OF APOPKA COMPREHENSIVE PLAN, CAPITAL 
IMPROVEMENT ELEMENT 

  
SUMMARY: 

 
The City desires to conduct recreation improvements at Kit Land Nelson Park and at Northwest Recreation Complex 
to accommodate a need for additional and improved playground equipment and facilities for youth.  To fund these 
recreation improvements, the City proposes to apply for available grant funds sponsored by the Florida Department 
of Environmental Project.  
 
Eligibility requirements for thee grant program require that the proposed recreation improvement must be recognized 
within the City’s capital improvement program (CIP) established in the Comprehensive Plan. Further, the City must 
proceed expeditiously at this time to meet grant application deadlines.  Hence, the proposed update to the five-year 
CIP of the Comprehensive Plan at this time only addresses the new recreation improvements at Kit Land Nelson Park 
and at Northwest Recreation Complex. 
 
After the Fiscal year 2018-19 budget has been approved by City Council, staff will conduct an annual update of the 
five-year CIP to address necessary to meet accepted levels of service (LOS), to maintain and repair failing facilities, 
and to provide additional infrastructure facilities and roads to meet demands generated by new growth and 
development. Typically, the five-year CIP within the Comprehensive Plan addresses the infrastructure needs related 
to transportation, water, sewer, reclaimed water, stormwater management, and recreation.   
 
Exhibit ‘A’ of this report includes the updated CIP to be incorporated as Appendix 7-1 of the Capital Improvements 
Element.  The proposed CIP changes (additions) are included in the ‘General Fund’ and ‘FDEP Grant Fund’ sections 
of the Recreation CIP (shown in Exhibit ‘A’).  Funds appearing in the ‘General Fun’ serve as the local government 
match requirement per the conditions of the FDEP grant program.  
 
Legislative changes in 2011 to Chapter 163, Florida Statues allow local governments to update their five-year CIP 
by ordinance, and is not considered a comprehensive plan policy amendment. Therefore, incorporation of the updated 
CIP into the Capital Improvements Element does not require transmittal to the Florida Department of Economic 
Opportunity for state agency review. 

  
FUNDING SOURCE: N/A 
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson     Finance Director  Public Services Director  

Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    

City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  

Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 
 

244



CITY COUNCIL – OCTOBER 3, 2018 

UPDATE TO THE FIVE-YEAR CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS PLAN  

PAGE 2 

 
PUBLIC HEARING SCHEDULE: 

September 11, 2018 – Planning Commission (5:30 pm)  

September 19, 2018 – City Council 1st Reading (7:00 pm) 

October 3, 2018 – City Council 2nd Reading (1:30 pm) 

 

DULY ADVERTISED: 

August 31, 2018 – Public Hearing Notice 

September 22, 2018 – Public Hearing Notice 

  
RECOMMENDATION ACTION: 
 

The Development Review Committee recommends approval of the update of the City of Apopka Five-Year Capital 

Improvements Plan to be incorporated into the Apopka Comprehensive Plan – Capital Improvements Element. 

 

The Planning Commission, at its meeting on September 11, 2018, found the proposed amendment of the Apopka 

Five-Year Capital Improvements Plan consistent with the Apopka Comprehensive Plan; and unanimously 

recommended approval of the Five-Year Capital Improvements Plan amendment and the incorporation into the 

Capital Improvements Element of the Comprehensive Plan. 

 

The City Council, at its meeting on September 19, 2018, accepted the First Reading of Ordinance No. 2679 and 

held it over for Second Reading and Adoption October 3, 2018. 

 

Adopt Ordinance No. 2679. 

 

Note: This item is considered legislative and establishes general policy.  The staff report and its findings are 

to be incorporated into and made a part of the minutes of this meeting. 

 

245



ORDINANCE NO. 2679 

 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA, AMENDING 

THE CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS ELEMENT OF THE APOPKA 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN OF THE CITY OF APOPKA; 

INCORPORATING AN AMENDMENT TO THE CITY’S FIVE YEAR 

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS PLAN; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; 

AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 

 WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Apopka, Florida, on October 2, 1991 adopted 

Ordinance No. 653 which adopted the Comprehensive Plan for the City of Apopka; and  

 

 WHEREAS, the City of Apopka has subsequently amended the Comprehensive Plan for 

the City of Apopka, most recently through Ordinance No. 2617; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City of Apopka’s Local Planning Agency and the City Council have 

conducted the prerequisite advertised public hearings, as per Chapter 163, Florida Statutes, relative 

to the adoption of this ordinance and the requirements for amendment to the Comprehensive Plan.   

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of the City of Apopka, 

Florida, as follows:  

 

 SECTION I: The City of Apopka hereby amends the Capital Improvements Element of 

the adopted Comprehensive Plan as follows:   

 

 The Capital Improvements Element is hereby amended to incorporate annual updates to 

the Five Year Capital Improvements plan and replaced in its entirety by Exhibit “A” of this 

Ordinance, and incorporated herein by reference.  

 

 SECTION II: If any section or portion of a section or subsection of this Ordinance proves 

to be invalid, unlawful, or unconstitutional, it shall not be held to invalidate or impair the validity, 

force, or effect of any other section or portion of a section or subsection or part of this ordinance.  

 

 SECTION III:  That all ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby 

repealed. 

 

 SECTION IV: This Ordinance shall become effective upon adoption.  

 

 

 

246



ORDINANCE NO. 2679 

PAGE 2 

 

 ADOPTED at a regular meeting of the City Council of the City of Apopka, Florida, this 

3rd day of October, 2018. 

 

READ FIRST TIME: September 19, 2018 

  

READ SECOND TIME 

AND ADOPTED: 

 

October 3, 2018 

 

 

_______________________________________                                                                       

       Bryan Nelson, Mayor                            

 

ATTEST: 

 

_______________________________ 

Linda Goff, City Clerk 

 

DULY ADVERTISED FOR PUBLIC HEARING: August 31, 2018; September 21, 2018 

247



Comprehensive Plan Element/Project
Source of 

Funding
FY 16-17 FY 17-18 FY 18-19 FY 19-20 FY 20-21 FY 21-22 Totals

Concession, bathrooms, building and sidewalks at 

NWRC
$300,000 $0 $300,000 

Parking Lot-NWRC Little League Fields $510,000 $0 $510,000 

Picnic Pavilions $100,000 $100,000 $0 $100,000 $300,000 

NWRC Ball Field Renovations $23,900 $50,000 $50,000 $50,000 $0 $173,900 

Fitness Equipment for Kit Land Nelson Park (with 

grant)
$0 $23,900 

Bleacher Covers Over Quad 3 $60,000 $0 $60,000 

Tennis Court Resurfacing – NWRC $50,000 $0 $50,000 

Basketball Resurfacing – NWRC $50,000 $0 $50,000 

Lk. Ave. Park – Playground, Pavilion, Shade 

Structure
$350,000 $0 $350,000 

Old Little League Fields New Park $200,000 $0 $200,000 

NWRC Scoreboards for (1) Quad $30,000 $30,000 $0 $60,000 

New ball fields (Baseball, soccer, etc.) $2,200,000 $0 $2,200,000 

Alonzo Williams Park Improvements (Contingent 

upon CDBG grant award)
$50,000 $0 $50,000 

Kit Land Nelson Park Fitness (grant contingent)* $80,000 $0 $80,000 

Kit Land Nelson Park Playground    (Grant 

Match)
$75,000 $0 $75,000

Northwest Recreation Complex Playground   

(Grant Match)
$35,000 $0 $35,000

TOTAL GENERAL FUND $23,900 $1,290,000 $2,630,000 $450,000 $0 $100,000 $4,493,900

Recreation Splash Pad at NWRC $400,000 $400,000 

Skate Park $300,000 $300,000 

Playground at Apopka Athletic Complex (AAC) $75,000 $75,000 

Splash Pad w/ Restrooms (Kit Land Nelson Park) $750,000 $750,000 

Park Lot - NWRC $267,000 $865,000 $1,165,000 $2,297,000 

TOTAL RECREATION IMPACT FUND $750,000 $375,000 $267,000 $865,000 $400,000 $1,165,000 $3,822,000

Recreation 

Impact Fund

APPENDIX 7-1: FIVE-YEAR SCHEDULE OF CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS - RECREATION

PROPOSED CHANGES - UNDERSCORED

General Fund

248



Comprehensive Plan Element/Project
Source of 

Funding
FY 16-17 FY 17-18 FY 18-19 FY 19-20 FY 20-21 FY 21-22 Totals

APPENDIX 7-1: FIVE-YEAR SCHEDULE OF CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS - RECREATION

PROPOSED CHANGES - UNDERSCORED

General Fund

Alonzo Williams Community Center Bldg. CDBG $750,000 $750,000 

TOTAL CDBG $750,000 $750,000 

Alonzo Williams Park[1] Renovations $28,000 $28,000 

Alonzo Williams Park New Construction[2] $22,000 $22,000 

Kit Land Nelson Park Renovations[3] $3,700 $3,700 

Kit Land Nelson Park New Construction[4] $42,500 $42,500 

AAC Renovations[5] $17,000 $17,000 

AAC New Construction[6]
$33,000 $33,000

Old Little League Fields New Park Construction $200,000 $200,000

TOTAL FRDAP GRANT FUNDS $96,200 $50,000 $0 $200,000 $0 $0 $346,200
[1] Resurfacing, irrigation, drinking fountain, picnic facilities

[2] Playground, security lighting

[3] Resurfacing, tennis court maintenance, drinking fountain, picnic facilities, miscellaneous maintenance

[4] New playground, bike rack, picnic facilities

[5] Restrooms, playground surface materials, baseball dugout shelters, drinking fountain & picnic facilities

[6] Playground, landscaping, picnic facilities

Kit Land Nelson Park Fitness Track/Trail*
$200,000 $200,000

Kit Land Nelson Park Playground $75,000
$75,000

Northwest Recreation Complex Playground $35,000
$35,000

TOTAL FDEP GRANT FUNDS $310,000 $200,000 $110,000 $0 $0 $0 $310,000

Gymnasium/Aquatic Center (GO Bond) $20,000,000 $20,000,000 

Fitness Equipment for Kit Land Nelson 

Park/Outdoor Fitness Grant
$9,560 $9,560 

TOTAL OTHER FUNDS $9,560 $20,000,000 $0 $0 $0 $0 $20,009,560 

Downtown Parking Lot $200,000 $200,000 

Downtown Park Lot Upgrades $500,000 $500,000 

TOTAL CRA FUND $200,000 $500,000 $700,000 

CRA

FRDAP Grant

FDEP GRANT

Other Funds

249



Comprehensive Plan Element/Project
Source of 

Funding
FY 16-17 FY 17-18 FY 18-19 FY 19-20 FY 20-21 FY 21-22 Totals

APPENDIX 7-1: FIVE-YEAR SCHEDULE OF CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS - RECREATION

PROPOSED CHANGES - UNDERSCORED

General Fund

Brick Streets, Repair & Restoration $500,000 $500,000 

Equipment (3412 Streets-6400) $60,000 $60,000 $60,000 $50,000 $50,000 $50,000 $330,000 

New Sidewalk & Curb Construction (3412 Streeets-

6304)
$50,000 $50,000 $50,000 $50,000 $50,000 $50,000 $300,000 

Paving & Resurfacing (3412 Streets-6304) $600,000 $600,000 $600,000 $600,000 $600,000 $3,000,000 

8
th
 Street Complex (Renovation/or Relocate) Split 

with 3412/3513/3181)
$300,000 $300,000 

TOTAL STREET IMPROVEMENT 

FUND
$1,010,000 $1,210,000 $710,000 $700,000 $700,000 $100,000 $4,430,000 

6
th
 Street Reconstruction & Downtown Related 

Street Improvements, Central Ave to US 441
$500,000 $500,000 $1,000,000 $2,000,000 

Bradshaw Rd US 441 Traffic Signal $400,000 $400,000 

Peterson Rd (End of pavement to Hermit Smirth 

Rd) 2 lanes
$750,000 $750,000 

Maine Ave, Martin St to Old Dixie Hwy (2 lanes) $1,000,000 $1,000,000 

Martin St, Maine Ave between Park Ave $1,600,000 $1,600,000 

Marden Rd (Keene Rd to CR 437A) 2 lanes, Urban 

Section Improvement
$500,000 $500,000 $1,000,000 

New Sidewalks $50,000 $50,000 $50,000 $50,000 $50,000 $250,000 

Rogers Rd, Lester Rd to Ponkan Rd $1,400,000 $1,400,000 

Old Dixie (Hawthorne Ave to Schopke Lester Rd) 

turn lane, curb, gutter
$1,000,000 $1,000,000 

Sheeler Ave/Cleveland St Intersection 

Improvement (turn lanes/traffic light)
$500,000 $500,000 

Plymouth Rd/Yothers Rd Intersection 

Improvements
$500,000 $500,000 

Piedmont-Wekiwa Rd/Greenacres Rd (Traffic 

Light)
$350,000 $350,000 

TOTAL TRAFFIC IMPACT FUND $2,950,000 $1,550,000 $3,550,000 $2,650,000 $50,000 $0 $10,750,000 

TOTAL STORMWATER FUND $350,000 $350,000 $350,000 $350,000 $350,000 $350,000 $2,100,000 

TOTAL WATER IMPACT FUND $100,000 $100,000 $100,000 $100,000 $100,000 $100,000 $600,000 

Water Impact 

Fee

$350,000 $2,100,000 

Miscellaneous Water Mains (2) $100,000 $100,000 $100,000 $100,000 $100,000 $100,000 $600,000 

Traffic Impact 

Fee

Drainage Upgrading – Citywide (6308) $350,000 $350,000 $350,000 $350,000 $350,000 
Stormwater 

Fund

Street 

Improvement 

Fund

250



Comprehensive Plan Element/Project
Source of 

Funding
FY 16-17 FY 17-18 FY 18-19 FY 19-20 FY 20-21 FY 21-22 Totals

APPENDIX 7-1: FIVE-YEAR SCHEDULE OF CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS - RECREATION

PROPOSED CHANGES - UNDERSCORED

General Fund

Binion Rd RWM, IFAS to Ocoee Apopka Rd, 5,329 

LF, 
$511,584 $511,584 

16” Golden Gem Reuse Station HSP $6,500,000 $6,500,000 

Keene Rd RWM, Marden Rd to Ocoee Apopka Rd, 

4,413 LF, 36”
$794,340 $794,340 

Kelly Park Rd RMW II, Jason Dwelley Pkwy to 

Rock Springs Rd 16”, 8,801 LF (2)
$705,000 $705,000 

Kelly Park Rd RWM, Golden Gem Rd to Round 

Lake Rd 24”
$371,400 $371,400 

Miscellaneous RWM (5) $100,000 $100,000 $100,000 $100,000 $100,000 $100,000 $600,000 

Northwest Reclaim Water Pump Station, 2 @ 

$3,000
$700,000 $700,000 

Northwest Reclaim Water Pond 2 & 3 $250,000 $250,000 

Ocoee Apopka Rd, RWM, Harmon Rd to Alston 

Bay Blvd, 2,500 LF, 30”
$412,500 $412,500 

Ocoee Apopka Rd RWM, Keene Rd to Alston Bay 

Blvd, 4,000 LF 30”
$660,000 $660,000 

Plymouth Sorrento Rd RWM, Yothers Rd to 

Ponkan Rd, 4,654 LF 24” (2)
$670,176 $670,176 

Ocoee Apopka Rd RWM, Keene Rd to Binion Rd, 

3,500 LF 30”
$308,000 $308,000 

Plymouth Sorrento Rd RWM, Ponkan Rd to Kelly 

Park Rd 2,745 LF, 20” (2)
$645,000 $645,000 

TOTAL RELAIM FUND $2,524,840 $2,486,576 $805,000 $611,584 $6,600,000 $100,000 $13,128,000 

Grossenbacher WTP, Replace Well $910,000 $910,000 

Haas Rd WM, Mt. Plymouth Rd to Round Lake Rd, 

22,708 LF 12” (1)
$1,634,976 $1,634,976 

Kelly Park Rd WM, Golden Gem Rd to Round Lake 

Rd, 4,035 LF 16” (1)
$387,360 $387,360 

Kelly Park Rd WM, Plymouth Sorrento Rd to 

Golden Gem, 6,672 LF 12” (1)
$400,320 $400,320 

Miscellaneous Water Mains (2) $100,000 $100,000 $100,000 $100,000 $100,000 $100,000 $600,000 

Mt. Plymouth Water Plant (Well #1) modifications 

and improvements
$700,000 $700,000 

Mt. Plymouth Water Plant (Well #4) modifications 

and improvements
$900,000 $900,000 

NW WTP (1 MG Storage Tank) (1) $850,000 $850,000 

Plymouth Sorrento Rd WM Ponkan Rd to Kelly 

Park Rd, 10,720 LF 16” (1)
$1,030,000 $1,030,000 

Plymouth Sorrento Rd WM, Yothers Rd to Ponkan 

Rd, 5,423 LF 12” (1)
$390,456 $390,456 

Water Impact 

Fee

Water Impact 

Fee (Con't)

Reclaim Fund

251



Comprehensive Plan Element/Project
Source of 

Funding
FY 16-17 FY 17-18 FY 18-19 FY 19-20 FY 20-21 FY 21-22 Totals

APPENDIX 7-1: FIVE-YEAR SCHEDULE OF CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS - RECREATION

PROPOSED CHANGES - UNDERSCORED

General Fund

Plymouth Regional Water Plant, modifications and 

improvements Wells #1 & 2
$900,000 $900,000 

Ponkan Rd, Ponkan Pines to Golden Gem 8,271 

LF 12”
$595,572 $595,572 

Sheeler Oaks WTP 65T .75 MG (1) $750,000 $750,000 

Southwest Water Plant (1) $4,500,000 $4,500,000 

US 441 WM, Roger Williams Rd to Sheeler Rd (1) $240,000 $240,000 

TOTAL WATER IMPACT FUND $1,590,776 $3,632,932 $2,220,000 $2,644,976 $4,600,000 $100,000 $14,788,684 

Martin’s Pond Improvements
Other Funds 

(TBD)
TBD

TOTAL OTHER FUNDS TBD

Water Impact 

Fee (Con't)

252



 

 

 
 CITY OF APOPKA  

CITY COUNCIL 
 

 
 

 CONSENT AGENA  MEETING OF: October 3, 2018 

X PUBLIC HEARING  FROM: Community Development 

 SPECIAL REPORTS  EXHIBITS: Zoning Report 

X OTHER: PUD Master Plan/PDP/PSP  Vicinity Map 

    Adjacent Zoning Map 

    Aerial Map 

    Ordinance No. 2678 

    Ex. A – PUD Master Plan/PDP/PSP 
  

 

SUBJECT:  ORDINANCE NO. 2678 - CHANGE OF ZONING; APPROVAL OF PUD MASTER 

PLAN/PRELIMINARY DEVELOPMENT PLAN/SUBDIVISION SITE PLAN FOR 

MID-FLORIDA LOGISITCS PARK 

   

REQUEST:  FIRST READING OF ORDINANCE NO. 2678 - CHANGE OF ZONING; APPROVAL 

OF PUD MASTER PLAN/PRELIMINARY DEVELOPMENT PLAN/SUBDIVISION 

SITE PLAN FOR MID-FLORIDA LOGISITCS PARK; AND HOLD OVER FOR 

SECOND READING & ADOPTION. 
  
SUMMARY: 

 
OWNERS:    Mid-Florida Freezer Warehouses LTD, Florida Express Trucking, Inc., 

Eagles Landing at Ocoee, LLC.  
 
APPLICANT:    Dave Schmitt Engineering, Inc., c/o Bryan Gaines, AICP  
 
LOCATION: West side of SR 429, south of General Electric Road, and east of Hermit 

Smith Road  
 
PARCEL ID NUMBERS: 01-21-27-0000-00-060; 06-21-28-7172-12-020; 06-21-28-7172-12-041; 

06-21-28-7172-12-060; 01-21-27-0000-00-030; 06-21-28-7172-13-000; 
12-21-27-0000-00-010; 12-21-27-0000-00-018; 12-21-27-0000-00-015; 
12-21-27-0000-00-017;    12-21-27-0000-00-021 

 
EXISTING USE: Vacant 
 
FLUM DESIGNATION: Industrial (adopted September 19, 2018) 
 
CURRENT ZONING: I-1 (Restricted Industrial District); Mixed-EC; R-1AA (Residential Single-

Family District); AG (Agriculture District); and A-1 (ZIP) 
 
PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT: 2,406,095 sq. ft. industrial buildings; developed in multiple phases 
 
PROPOSED ZONING: Planned Unit Development (PUD)  
 
TRACT SIZE:    188.893 +/- acres 

  
FUNDING SOURCE: N/A 
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson     Finance Director  Public Services Director  

Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    

City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  

Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 
253



CITY COUNCIL – OCTOBER 3, 2018 

MID-FLORIDA LOGISTICS PARK – CHANGE OF ZONING 
PAGE 2 
 
 

SUMMARY:  The subject property is approximately 188.893 acres in size and is zoned I-1 (Restricted Industrial 

District), Mixed-EC, R-1AA (Residential Single-Family District), AG (Agriculture District), and A-1 (ZIP) and 

has a future land use designation of Industrial. The subject property is located west of SR 429, south of General 

Electric Road and east of Hermit Smith Road. The proposed change of zoning to PUD (Planned Unit 

Development) is being requested by the prospective developer, who proposes to construct a subdivision 

consisting of five industrial warehouse buildings totaling 2,406,095 on the property.  

 

ADDITIONAL APPROVALS:    A development agreement is required to address off-site infrastructure 

obligations placed on either the City or the Developer, land dedications, vacate of city right-of-way, timing of 

infrastructure, and special design or use standards.  City staff and the city attorney’s office has worked with the 

applicant and its attorney to prepare the development agreement.  At this time it is not complete, but is anticipated 

to be ready for City Council review and action at the second public hearing for the PUD zoning.  If the 

development agreement is not ready for the October 17 City Council meeting, City staff will request a 

continuation of the second hearing to the November 7 City Council meeting date. 

 

PROJECT DESCRIPTION:   The PUD Master Plan/Preliminary Development Plan/Preliminary Site Plan 

proposes a subdivision consisting of five industrial warehouse buildings totaling 2,406,095 square feet. Access 

to the site is proposed an ingress/egress point on Hermit Smith Road, two ingress/egress points on General 

Electric Road, and a yet to be constructed road that is dedicated to the public that is referred to as Fern Industrial 

Drive, which is proposed to be constructed in a north-south direction. In addition, three railroad spurs are 

proposed to lead into buildings 1A and 1B, 2, and 3. The railroad spurs will be located along the right-of-way 

of Fern Industrial Drive. Parking will be provided on each lot, and will be owned and maintained by each 

property owner.  

 

Four Stormwater retention areas are proposed on site. Pond A (dry retention) is proposed south of Building 3, 

Pond B is proposed east of Building 1A and 1B and adjacent to SR 429, and Ponds C1 (dry retention) and C2 

(wet detention) are proposed south and west of Building 5.  

 

An unimproved platted right-of-way known as Peterson Road bisects the property in an east to west direction. 

This right-of-way is proposed to be vacated when the property is platted, and the right-of-way of Peterson Road 

will be relocated to the south to allow access to the property owners located to the south of the PUD. The 

proposed relocation of the Peterson Road right-of-way is shown on the PUD Master Plan in a “J” shaped 

configuration that extends from north to south and east to west. The new right-of-way of Peterson Road is 

proposed at 55-feet in width in the north/south direction. Adjacent to the east of the new Peterson Road right-

of-way, the Central Florida Expressway Authority has 25-foot perpetual ingress/egress easement that allows 

access to the property to the south. This easement will not be included in the north/south portion of the right of 

way. 80-feet of right-of-way is proposed in the east/west direction.  

 

In order accommodated the subdivision plan and site plan, a small area of right-of-way in the northwestern 

corner of the site that is referred to as Fronds Road must also be vacated.  

 

Deviations:  The applicant is requesting five deviations to the City’s required development standards.  For a 

PUD Master Plan, a deviation from the City’s Land Development Code (LDC) does not represent a variance but 

a development standard or zoning condition unique to and approved as part of the Planned Unit Development 

zoning. PUD’s are required to satisfy the requirements of the Land Development Code unless the City Council 

finds that, based on substantial evidence, a proposed alternative development guideline is adequate to protect to 

the public health safety, and welfare.  Any deviations must be consistent with the policies of the Comprehensive 

Plan. 

 

 254



CITY COUNCIL – OCTOBER 3, 2018 

MID-FLORIDA LOGISTICS PARK – CHANGE OF ZONING 
PAGE 3 
 

1. LDC, Section 6.03.02.A. Number of parking spaces required (Wholesale, industrial, manufacture, 

processing or assembly uses) - 2 spaces per 1,000 square feet of gross floor area up to 150,000 square 

feet, plus 1 space per vehicle operating from premises or 1 space per 2 employees. 1 space per 1,000 

square feet over 150,000 square feet of gross floor area.  

 

The applicant is proposing 0.89 parking spaces per 1,000 square feet of gross floor area.  

 

The following justification has been provided: “The ITE Parking Generation Manual, 4th Edition, 85th 

percentile parking requirement for warehouse use is 0.81 spaces per 1,000 square feet of gross floor 

area.”   

 

2. LDC, Section 2.02.01.A. - Maximum building height for all zoning districts is 35-feet.  

 

The applicant is proposing a maximum building height of 55-feet within the PUD.  

 

The following justification has been provided: “The modern warehouses require 36-feet to 45-feet of 

clear space under roof to accommodate automated materials handling equipment and maximize 

storage.”  

 

3. LDC, Section 2.02.15.F. Yard requirements - Front yard – 25-feet, side yard – 10-feet, Yards adjacent 

to road right-of-ways shall be a minimum of 25-feet, Rear Yard – 10-feet (30-feet adjacent to 

residential)  

 

The applicant is proposing 15-foot setback on General Electric Road, Hermit Smith Road to main 

entrance, 0-feet to 10-feet adjacent to SR 429, 10-feet to 25-feet adjacent to Peterson Road, 10-feet 

adjacent to Fern Industrial Drive.  

 

The following justification has been provided: “The northwestern portion of the site is constrained by 

the encroachment of General Electric Road. SR 429 has 300-feet of right-of-way, 6 lanes, and provides 

a 20-foot high barrier to adjacent property to the east.”  

 

4. LDC, Section 2.02.01.b(8a) – Roof top equipment shall be completely screened from adjacent 

properties and rights-of-way to the maximum extent possible.  

 

The applicant is proposing roof top equipment shall be screened from view from adjacent property 

lines and public right-of-way, with the exception of SR 429 due to the large elevation change of the 

roadway and the finished floor elevation of the building. SR 429 is at an elevation of 135-feet, 

approximately 20-feet above the finished floor height of Building 2. Screening shall be reviewed to be 

in conformance by the subdivision president and the City of Apopka. Screening shall be reviewed 

through a sight line document from the nearest adjacent property line and/or from the center line of 

the public right-of-way. The eye line shall be from the typical height of a person driving an automobile.  

 

The following justification has been provided: “All buildings will have a site line evaluation to confirm 

that rooftop equipment will not be visible from adjacent properties and right-of-way.”    

  

5. LDC, Section 6.02.08.B.2 – All subdivisions are required to have four-foot wide concrete sidewalks 

on both sides of all local and minor collector streets.  

 

The applicant is proposing to construct a sidewalk along only one side of Fern Industrial Drive.  

 

The following justification has been provided: “We are requesting that we do not place a sidewalk on 255



CITY COUNCIL – OCTOBER 3, 2018 

MID-FLORIDA LOGISTICS PARK – CHANGE OF ZONING 
PAGE 4 
 

the east side of the right-of-way proximate to the rail spurs. The pedestrian access plan provided on 

Sheet 6 of the PUD Master Plan shows a network of pedestrian facilities serving the entire site. The 

sidewalk on the west side of Fern Industrial is the spine connecting the southern end of the site with 

General Electric Road. All buildings are connected to this north/south spine and the appropriate 

crosswalks are provided when needed. We (BlueScope) remain concerned that placement of a sidewalk 

will not increase the pedestrian connectivity over the current plan but will put pedestrians in close 

proximity to the rail spurs to the east of Fern Industrial serving the site. The benefit of the additional 

sidewalk does not, in our opinion, warrant the risk of inadvertent interaction of pedestrians and rail 

vehicles.”  

 

TRANSPORTATION IMPACTS:   

ACCESS:  Access to the site is provided from General Electric Road and Hermit Smith Road.  Peterson Road 

is also a future access point for this project as well as for properties to the south of the Mid-Florida Logistics 

Park site.  Peterson Road and Fronds Road are both proposed to be vacated at the request of the applicant and 

property owner.  Peterson Road will be re-aligned to follow the south project/property line and intersect with 

Fern Industrial Drive. The vacated road right-of-way will become part of the development site, making it more 

compact and contiguous.  Peterson Road access will serve as a future secondary access for emergency response.  

The proposed Peterson Road alignment will also create connection to Peterson Road east of SR 429, allowing 

residents of the proposed Avian Pointe residential development to reach the Logistics Park.  The Peterson Road 

connection between the east and west side of SR 429 also allows another road connection besides using West 

Orange Avenue and Binion Road, thus allowing traffic to distribute over more routes. 

 

A transportation impact analysis (TIA) was conducted for this project to assess its impacts on the surrounding 

roadway segments and intersections within a one-mile radius of the project per the City’s adopted TIA 

methodology. Included in the analysis were segments of US 441, General Electric Road, Binion Road, Hermit 

Smith Road and Hogshead Road. Intersections analyzed were General Electric Road and Orange Avenue, 

Hermit Smith Road and General Electric Road, Hermit Smith Road and US 441, SR 429 Connector Road and 

US 441, Orange Avenue and US 441, Plymouth Sorrento Road and US 441, Boy Scout Boulevard and US 441, 

General Electric Road and Site Access, and Hermit Smith Road and Site Access.  Peterson Road connection 

requires additional right-of-way east of SR 429.  In exchange for the City vacating Fronds Road and Peterson 

Road, Mid-Florida Freezer will be obligated to donate an additional 30-foot width of land along Peterson Road, 

east of SR 429, to create a 50-foot wide right-of-way. 

 

The project will generate 3,444 daily trips and 246 P.M. Peak Hour trips. It is estimated that 20% of the total 

traffic generated by this project will be truck traffic. The nature of the land use supports the assumption that 

most of the truck traffic will leave the site and access SR 429 from US 441 and SR 429 Connector Road.  

 

The addition of project trips to the study roadways will not cause the Level of Service (LOS) to fall below the 

City’s adopted LOS standard. The addition of project traffic to the intersection of Hermit Smith Road and US 

441 will cause the intersection to fail. The applicant is required to design and construct a dedicated right turn 

lane on Hermit Smith Road to allow for safe access to US 441. The addition of project traffic to the other study 

intersections is not project to cause failures in the future. 

 

The tenants of the Mid-Florida Logistics Park are unknown at this time, so trip generation is based on the best 

information currently available; however, it is possible that tenants occupying space at Mid-Florida Logistics 

Park will exceed the trip generation used to conduct the analysis. As the site develops and becomes occupied, 

the applicant must reassess the trip generation. If it exceeds the projected trip generation used in the analysis, an 

updated study is required and additional mitigation for roadway and intersection failures caused by the project 

traffic. 

 

 256



CITY COUNCIL – OCTOBER 3, 2018 

MID-FLORIDA LOGISTICS PARK – CHANGE OF ZONING 
PAGE 5 
 

 

PUD RECOMMENDATIONS:  That the zoning classification of the following described property be 

designated as Planned Unit Development (PUD), as defined in the Apopka Land Development Code, and with 

the following Master Plan provisions subject to the following zoning provisions: 
 

A. The uses permitted within the PUD district shall be those described in C below. 
 

B. Terms of Expiration for this PUD shall be as follows: 

 

If a Final Development Plan associated with the PUD district has not been approved by the City within 

three years, and site development has not commenced within four years after approval of these Master 

Plan provisions, the approval of the Master Plan provisions will expire. At such time, the City Council 

may: 

 

1. Permit a single six-month extension for submittal of the required Final Development Plan; 

 

2. Allow the PUD zoning designation to remain on the property pending resubmittal of new 

Master Plan provisions and any conditions of approval; or 

 

3. Rezone the property to a more appropriate zoning classification. 

 

C.  Zoning Standards 

 

1.   Permitted Uses: 

 

(a)   All permitted uses allowed under I-1 zoning district; 

(b)  The uses allowed by the “Developer’s Agreement for Development of Copart, Inc. Apopka 

Property,” as recorded as document number 20160275220 within the official records of 

Orange County, Florida, shall be available uses within this PUD if the Copart Developer’s 

Agreement is terminated with the mutual consent of City Council and the property owner 

subject to the Copart Developer’s Agreement; 

 

(c)  Long-term outdoor vehicle (bus, car, cab, and truck) storage and terminal use is permitted 

within the PUD as an accessory use if said vehicle parking is associated with an enclosed 

building having a minimum floor area of 10,000 square feet and located within the same 

Lot or abutting lots.  All vehicles stored outdoors must be operable.    

 

(d)  Prohibited Use: Flea markets; day-care centers except when provided solely for on-site   

employees; churches, public or private schools (k-12th grade) except when located within 

a stand-alone building; community residential homes; All prohibited uses for the I-1 zoning 

district. 

 

(e) Special Exceptions: As set forth by the I-1 zoning district except if listed as a permitted or 

prohibited uses above. 
 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN COMPLIANCE: The proposed use of the property is consistent with the 

proposed Industrial Future Land Use designation and is consistent with the Land Development Code.   

 

ORANGE COUNTY NOTIFICATION: Pursuant to Section 7 of the Joint Planning Area agreement, 

notification to Orange County was provided on July 18, 2018.  257



CITY COUNCIL – OCTOBER 3, 2018 

MID-FLORIDA LOGISTICS PARK – CHANGE OF ZONING 
PAGE 6 
 

 

PUBLIC HEARING SCHEDULE: 

September 11, 2018 - Planning Commission (5:30 pm) 

October 3, 2018 - City Council (1:30 pm) - 1st Reading 

October 17, 2018 – City Council (7:00 pm) - 2nd Reading 

 

DULY ADVERTISED: 

August 24, 2018 – Public Notice (Apopka Chief); Letter, Poster 

October 5, 2018 – Public Notice (Apopka Chief) 
  
RECOMMENDATION ACTION: 
 

The Development Review Committee finds the proposed rezoning to Planned Unit Development (PUD), 

PUD Master Plan/Preliminary Development Plan/Preliminary Site Plan consistent with the Comprehensive 

Plan and Land Development Code and recommends approval of the Mid-Florida Logistics Park PUD 

Master Plan/Preliminary Development Plan/Preliminary Site Plan. 

 

The Planning Commission, at its meeting on September 11, 2018, found the proposed zoning and PUD 

Master Plan/Preliminary Development Plan/Preliminary Site Plan consistent with the Comprehensive Plan 

and Land Development Code, and unanimously recommended approval of the rezoning of the subject parcel 

from I-1 (Restricted Industrial District), Mixed-EC, R-1AA (Residential Single-Family District), AG 

(Agriculture District), and A-1 (ZIP) to PUD (Planned Unit Development), and approval of the PUD Master 

Plan/Preliminary Development Plan/Preliminary Site Plan based on the findings and facts presented in the 

staff report and exhibits, subject to City Council approving a Development Agreement. 

 

City Council: Accept the First Reading of Ordinance No. 2678 and Hold it Over for Second Reading and 

Adoption on October 17, 2018.  

 

Note: This item is considered quasi-judicial.  The staff report and its findings are to be incorporated 

into and made a part of the minutes of this meeting. 

258



CITY COUNCIL – OCTOBER 3, 2018 

MID-FLORIDA LOGISTICS PARK – CHANGE OF ZONING 
PAGE 7 
 

ZONING REPORT 

 

RELATIONSHIP TO ADJACENT PROPERTIES: 

 

Direction Future Land Use Zoning Present Use 

North (City) Industrial (max FAR 0.60) I-1 Transport/freight uses, Copart  

East (City) None assigned  N/A SR 429 right-of-way  

South 

(County) 

Orange County Rural  AG Vacant property 

West (City) Orange County Rural  AG Lake Apopka Restoration Area 

 
LAND USE &  
TRAFFIC COMPATIBILITY: The property is accessed via Hermit Smith Road and General Electric 

Road and a yet to be constructed public roadway referred to as Fern 
Industrial Drive, which will be owned and maintained by the City of 
Apopka. Future land use designations and zoning categories assigned 
to properties to the north, south, east, and west are predominantly 
Industrial and Rural.   

 
COMPREHENSIVE 
PLAN COMPLIANCE:  The proposed PUD zoning is compatible with policies set forth in the 

Comprehensive Plan.  
 
ALLOWABLE 
USES:  Industrial uses as set forth within the Planned Unit Development 

Master Plan. 
  

259



CITY COUNCIL – OCTOBER 3, 2018 

MID-FLORIDA LOGISTICS PARK – CHANGE OF ZONING 
PAGE 8 
 

 
Project: MID-FLORIDA LOGISTICS PARK  

Owned by:  Mid-Florida Freezer Warehouses, LTD, Florida Express Trucking, Inc. Eagles  

  Landing at Ocoee, LLC 
Located:         East side of Hermit Smith Road, South of General Electric Road, west of SR 429 
Parcel ID#s: 01-21-27-0000-00-060, 06-21-28-7172-12-020, 06-21-28-7172-12-041, 06-21-28-7172-12-

060, 01-21-27-0000-00-030, 06-21-28-7172-13-000, 12-21-27-0000-00-010, 12-21-27-

0000-00-018, 12-21-27-0000-00-015, 12-21-27-0000-00-017, 12-21-27-0000-00-021 

 

  VICINITY MAP 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 260



CITY COUNCIL – OCTOBER 3, 2018 

MID-FLORIDA LOGISTICS PARK – CHANGE OF ZONING 
PAGE 9 
 

 

 

 

 

ADJACENT ZONING 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
261



CITY COUNCIL – OCTOBER 3, 2018 

MID-FLORIDA LOGISTICS PARK – CHANGE OF ZONING 
PAGE 10 
 

 

AERIAL MAP 

  

 

 

 
 
 

 

262



ORDINANCE NO. 2678 

 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA, CHANGING 

THE ZONING FROM “COUNTY” A-1 (ZIP), “CITY” RESIDENTIAL 

SINGLE-FAMILY DISTRICT (R-1AA), “CITY” MIXED-EC (MIXED-

USE), “CITY” AG (AGRICULTURE), AND “CITY” I-1 (RESTRICTED 

INDUSTRIAL DISTRICT) TO “CITY” PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT 

(PUD), FOR CERTAIN REAL PROPERTY GENERALLY LOCATED ON 

THE WEST SIDE OF SR 429, SOUTH OF GENERAL ELECTRIC ROAD, 

AND EAST OF HERMIT SMITH ROAD, COMPRISING 186.03 ACRES 

MORE OR LESS, AND OWNED BY MID FLORIDA FREEZER 

WAREHOUSES LTD; AND EAGLES LANDING AT OCOEE, LLC; 

PROVIDING FOR DIRECTIONS TO THE COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR, SEVERABILITY, CONFLICTS, AND AN 

EFFECTIVE DATE. 
 

 WHEREAS, to manage growth, the City of Apopka, Florida, finds it in the best interest of 
the public health, safety and welfare of its citizens to establish zoning classifications within the 
City; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Dave Schmitt Engineering, Inc. has requested a change in zoning on said 
property as identified in Section II of this ordinance; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the proposed Planned Unit Development (PUD) zoning has been found to be 
consistent with the City of Apopka Comprehensive Plan, and the City of Apopka Land 
Development Code. 
 
 NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED, by the City Council of the City of Apopka, 
Florida, as follows: 
 
 Section I.  That the zoning classification of the following described property be designated 
as Planned Unit Development (PUD), as defined in the Apopka Land Development Code, and with 
the following development standards and provisions, and subject to the following zoning 
provisions: 
 

A. The following uses are permitted within the PUD district: 
 

1. All permitted uses allowed under I-1 zoning district; 

 

2. The uses allowed by the “Developer’s Agreement for Development of Copart, Inc. 

Apopka Property,” as recorded as document number 20160275220 within the official 

records of Orange County, Florida, shall be available uses within this PUD if the Copart 

Developer’s Agreement is terminated with the mutual consent of City Council and the 

property owner subject to the Copart Developer’s Agreement; 

 

3. Long-term outdoor vehicle (bus, car, cab, and truck) storage and terminal use is 

permitted within the PUD as an accessory use if said vehicle parking is associated with 

263



ORDINANCE NO. 2678 

PAGE 2 
 

 

an enclosed building having a minimum floor area of 10,000 square feet and located 

within the same Lot or abutting lots.  All vehicles stored outdoors must be operable.   
  

B. The following uses are Prohibited within the PUD district:  

 

1. Flea markets 

 

2. Day-care centers except when provided solely for on-site employees  

 

3. Churches 

 

4. Public or private schools (K-12th grade) except when located within a stand-alone 

building 

 

5. Community residential homes  

 

6. All prohibited uses for the I-1 zoning district 

 

C. Special Exceptions: As set forth by the I-1 zoning district except if listed as a permitted or 

prohibited uses above. 
 

D.  Development of the property shall occur consistent with the Master Site Plan set forth in 
Exhibit “B”.  Where any development standard conflicts between the Master Site Plan and 
the Land Development Code, the Master Site Plan shall preside.  Any proposed revision to 
the Master Site Plan shall be evaluated and processed pursuant to Section 2.02.18.N. 
(Master plan revision), LDC 

 
E. If a Final Development Plan associated with the PUD district has not been approved by the 

City within three years after approval of these Master Plan provisions, the approval of the 
Master Site Plan/PDP provisions will expire.   At such time, the City Council may: 
 

1. Permit a single six-month extension for submittal of the required Final 
Development Plan; 

 
2. Allow the PUD zoning designation to remain on the property pending resubmittal 

of new Master Site Plan provisions and any conditions of approval; or 
 
3. Rezone the property to a more appropriate zoning classification. 

 
Section II.  That the zoning classification of the following described Property, being 

situated in the City of Apopka, Florida, is hereby PUD as defined in the Apopka Land 
Development Code: 
 

Legal Description: See Exhibit “A” 
  

Section III.  That the zoning classification is consistent with the Comprehensive Plan of 
the City of Apopka, Florida. 
  

264



ORDINANCE NO. 2678 

PAGE 3 
 

 

 Section IV.  That the Community Development Director, or the Director’s designee, is 
hereby authorized to amend, alter, and implement the official zoning maps of the City of Apopka, 
Florida, to include said designation. 
 
 Section V. That if any section or portion of a section or subsection of this Ordinance proves 
to be invalid, unlawful, or unconstitutional, it shall not be held to invalidate or impair the validity, 
force or effect of any other section or portion of section or subsection or part of this ordinance.   
 
 Section VI.  That all ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby 
repealed.   
 
 Section VII.  That this Ordinance shall take effect upon the date of adoption. 
 
 

READ FIRST TIME:  October 3, 2018 
 
READ SECOND TIME 
AND ADOPTED:     

 
 
 

                       
 

        
_____________________________________ 

       Bryan Nelson, Mayor                                  
 
ATTEST:  
 
 
__________________________________ 
Linda Goff, City Clerk 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
__________________________________ 
Cliff Shepard, City Attorney 
 
 
DULY ADVERTISED:  August 24, 2018; October 5, 2018 
  

265



ORDINANCE NO. 2678 

PAGE 4 
 

 

Exhibit “A” Legal Description  
 

 

THAT PART OF THE SOUTHEAST 1/4 OF SECTION 1, TOWNSHIP 21 SOUTH, RANGE 27 

EAST AND THE NORTHEAST 1/4 OF SECTION 12, TOWNSHIP 21 SOUTH, RANGE 27 

EAST, BEING DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS; COMMENCE AT THE NORTHWEST CORNER 

OF THE SOUTHEAST 1/4 OF SAID SECTION 1; THENCE RUN S00°14'22"W ALONG THE 

WEST LINE OF SAID SOUTHEAST 1/4, 60.00 FEET TO A POINT 60.00 FEET SOUTH OF, 

WHEN MEASURED PERPENDICULAR TO, THE NORTH LINE OF SAID SOUTHEAST 1/4; 

THENCE RUN N89°59'32"E PARALLEL WITH SAID NORTH LINE, 30.00 FEET TO THE 

EAST RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF HERMIT SMITH ROAD BEING THE EAST LINE OF A 

30.00 RIGHT OF WAY RECORDED IN DEED BOOK 633, PAGE 385, PUBLIC RECORDS 

OF ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA, FOR THE POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE 

CONTINUE N89°59'32"E ALONG THE SOUTH RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF GENERAL 

ELECTRIC ROAD, AS RECORDED IN DEED BOOK 966, PAGE 424, PUBLIC RECORDS 

OF ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA, 800.00 FEET; THENCE CONTINUE ALONG SAID 

SOUTH RIGHT OF WAY LINE N86°30'41"E, 494.11 FEET TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER 

OF LOT 4, BLOCK "L", MAP OF PLYMOUTH, AS RECORDED IN PLAT BOOK B, PAGES 

17-18, PUBLIC RECORDS OF ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA; THENCE RUN N89°59'32"E 

ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF SAID BLOCK "L", 872.00 FEET TO THE NORTHWEST 

CORNER OF LOT 1 OF SAID BLOCK "L"; THENCE RUN S00°08'04"E ALONG THE WEST 

LINE OF LOT 1 AND LOT 8 OF SAID BLOCK "L", 852.07 FEET TO THE NORTHWEST 

CORNER OF LOT 9 OF SAID BLOCK 'L"; THENCE RUN N89°59'14"E ALONG THE NORTH 

LINE OF SAID LOT 9, 305.56 FEET TO THE WEST RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF STATE ROAD 

429 (WESTERN BELTWAY); THENCE RUN THE FOLLOWING SIX (6) COURSES ALONG 

SAID WEST RIGHT OF WAY LINE S03°11'39"E, 222.83 FEET TO A CURVE CONCAVE TO 

THE WEST; THENCE RUN SOUTHERLY ALONG SAID CURVE HAVING A CENTRAL 

ANGLE OF 06°55'43", A RADIUS OF 7850.00 FEET, AN ARC LENGTH OF 949.26 FEET, A 

CHORD BEARING OF S04°57'27"W AND A CHORD DISTANCE OF 948.68 FEET; 

S08°25'18"W, 432.58 FEET; S12°48'38"W, 196.00 FEET; S07°57'36"W, 604.02 FEET; 

S15°57'29"W, 30.55 FEET TO THE SOUTH LINE OF THE NORTH 1/2 OF THE NORTHEAST 

1/4 OF THE NORTHEAST 1/4 OF SAID SECTION 12; THENCE RUN S89°58'43"W ALONG 

SAID SOUTH LINE AND THE SOUTH LINE OF THE NORTHEAST 1/4 OF THE 

NORTHWEST 1/4 OF THE NORTHEAST 1/4 OF SAID SECTION 12, 1583.51 FEET TO THE 

SOUTHWEST CORNER OF SAID NORTHEAST 1/4 OF THE NORTHWEST 1/4 OF THE 

NORTHEAST 1/4; THENCE RUN S00°26'22"W ALONG THE EAST LINE OF THE 

NORTHWEST 1/4 OF THE SOUTHWEST 1/4 OF THE NORTHEAST 1/4 OF SAID SECTION 

12, 1316.77 FEET TO THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID NORTHWEST 1/4 OF THE SOUTHWEST 

1/4 OF THE NORTHEAST 1/4; THENCE RUN S89°53'17"W ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF 

SAID NORTHWEST 1/4 OF THE SOUTHWEST 1/4 OF THE NORTHEAST 1/4, 124.64 FEET 

TO THE EASTERN BOUNDARY OF LANDS DEDICATED TO ST. JOHN'S RIVER WATER 

MANAGEMENT DISTRICT PROPERTY PER OFFICIAL RECORDS BOOK 7711, PAGE 

4081, OFFICIAL RECORDS BOOK 7786, PAGE 3958, AND OFFICIAL RECORDS BOOK 

5586, PAGE 2510; THENCE RUN THE FOLLOWING FIFTEEN (15) COURSES ALONG 

SAID EASTERN  BOUNDARY OF LANDS DEDICATED TO ST. JOHN'S RIVER WATER 

MANAGEMENT DISTRICT; N34°51'34"W, 185.69 FEET; N09°14'28"W, 154.82 FEET; 

266



ORDINANCE NO. 2678 

PAGE 5 
 

 

N57°52'23"E, 35.05 FEET; N47°21'45"W, 206.75 FEET; N46°03'10"W, 257.06 FEET; 

S64°40'44"W, 30.12 FEET; N33°59'32"W, 130.01 FEET; S00°32'05"W, 79.45 FEET; 

N19°49'43"W, 669.98 FEET; N63°05'41"W, 470.00 FEET; N00°32'05"E, 19.26 FEET; 

N38°59'11"W, 151.57 FEET; N20°38'44"W, 140.91 FEET; N32°02'37"W, 141.62 FEET; 

N24°49'10"W, 65.79 FEET; N77°14'37"W, 124.93 FEET TO THE NORTH LINE OF 

AFORESAID NORTHEAST 1/4 OF THE NORTHWEST 1/4 OF SECTION 12; THENCE RUN 

S89°54'33"E ALONG SAID NORTH LINE, 1028.15 FEET TO THE NORTHWEST CORNER 

OF THE NORTHEAST 1/4 OF SAID SECTION 12; THENCE RUN S89°58'53"E ALONG THE 

NORTH LINE OF THE NORTHEAST 1/4 OF SECTION 12, 333.31 FEET TO THE WEST LINE 

OF THE EAST 3/4 OF SAID SOUTHWEST 1/4 OF THE SOUTHEAST 1/4; THENCE RUN 

N00°11'01"E ALONG THE WEST LINE OF SAID EAST 3/4 OF THE SOUTHWEST 1/4 OF 

THE SOUTHEAST 1/4, 659.17 FEET TO THE SOUTH LINE OF THE NORTH 660.00 FEET 

OF SAID EAST 3/4 OF THE SOUTHWEST 1/4 OF THE SOUTHEAST 1/4; THENCE RUN 

S89°59'40"E, PARALLEL WITH SAID SOUTH LINE, 200.00 FEET TO A LINE 200.00 FEET 

EAST OF THE WEST LINE OF SAID EAST 3/4 OF THE SOUTHWEST 1/4 OF THE 

SOUTHEAST 1/4; THENCE RUN N00°11'01"E PARALLEL WITH SAID WEST LINE, 720.00 

FEET TO A LINE 30.00 FEET NORTH OF, WHEN MEASURED PERPENDICULAR TO, THE 

SOUTH LINE OF THE NORTHWEST 1/4 OF THE SOUTHEAST 1/4 OF SAID SECTION 1, 

BEING THE NORTH LINE OF A 60.00 FOOT RIGHT OF WAY RECORDED IN OFFICIAL 

RECORDS BOOK 889, PAGE 331, PUBLIC RECORDS OF ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA; 

THENCE RUN N89°59'40"W ALONG SAID NORTH LINE OF RIGHT OF WAY, 501.97 FEET 

TO A LINE 30.00 FEET EAST OF, WHEN MEASURED PERPENDICULAR TO, THE WEST 

LINE OF SAID NORTHEAST 1/4 OF THE SOUTHEAST 1/4, BEING THE EAST LINE OF A 

30.00 RIGHT OF WAY RECORDED IN DEED BOOK 633, PAGE 385, PUBLIC RECORDS 

OF ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA; THENCE RUN N00°14'22"E ALONG SAID EAST 

RIGHT OF WAY LINE, 1199.11 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING. 

 

THE ABOVE DESCRIBED PARCEL OF LAND CONTAINS 188.893 ACRES MORE OR 

LESS. 
 
Parcel ID Numbers:   01-21-27-0000-00-030; 01-21-27-0000-00-060; 06-21-28-7172-12-020; 

06-21-28-7172-12-041; 06-21-28-7172-12-060; 06-21-28-7172-13-000; 
12-21-27-0000-00-010; 12-21-27-0000-00-015; 12-21-27-0000-00-
017;12-21-27-0000-00-018; 12-21-27-0000-00-021 

 
Containing 188.893 +/- Acres 

  

267



ORDINANCE NO. 2678 

PAGE 6 
 

 

Exhibit “B” – Mid-Florida Logistics Park PUD Master Plan  

268



269



270



271



272



273



274



275



276



277



278



279



280



281



282



283



284



285



286



287



288



289



290



291



292



293



294



295



MID-FLORIDA LOGISTICS PARK 
Project № 18008, v2.0 

August 2018 
 
 
 

TRAFFIC IMPACT ANALYSIS 
CITY OF APOPKA 

FLORIDA 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Prepared by: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

3101 Maguire Boulevard, Suite 265 
Orlando, Florida 32803 
www.trafficmobility.com 

(407) 531-5332 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Prepared for: 
BlueScope Properties Group 

1540 Genessee Street 
Kansas City, Missouri 64102 

 
ARCO National Construction-KC 
5015 NW Canal Street, Suite 110 

Riverside, Missouri 64150 
 

Dave Schmitt Engineering, Inc 
12301 Lake Underhill Road, Suite 241 

Orlando, Florida 32828 

296



 

Mid-Florida Logistics Park 
Traffic Impact Analysis 

Project № 18008, v2.0 
Executive Summary 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
Project Information 
Name: Mid-Florida Logistics Park  

Location: South of General Electric Road, east of Hermit Smith Road and west of 
SR 429, in the City of Apopka, Florida. 

Description: 2,459,755 square feet of warehousing  

 
Findings 
Trip Generation: 3,444 ADT / 246 PM Peak Hour Trips 

Approximately 20% of trips projected to be trucks. 

 

Roadway Capacity: All study segments currently operate within their adopted capacity and 
are projected to continue to do so at project buildout. 

 

Intersection Capacity: All study intersections operate at adequate LOS and are projected to 
continue to do so at project buildout. Except for US 441 & Hermit 
Smith Road. 

 

Mitigation: The deficient intersection of US 441 and Hermit Smith Road will 
require a dedicated northbound right turn lane to more efficiently serve 
the projected traffic volume. 

A modified timing plan may be implemented in the future as vested 
and project traffic materialize on the minor approaches to the 
intersection. 

  

  

297



 

 

 
PROFESSIONAL ENGINEERING CERTIFICATION 

 
I hereby certify that I am a Professional Engineer properly registered in the State of Florida 

practicing with Traffic & Mobility Consultants LLC, a corporation authorized to operate as an 

engineering business, CA-30024, by the State of Florida Department of Professional Regulation, 

Board of Professional Engineers, and that I have prepared or approved the evaluations, findings, 

opinions, conclusions, or technical advice attached hereto for: 

 

 

PROJECT: Mid-Florida Logistics Park 

LOCATION:  City of Apopka, Florida  

CLIENT: Dave Schmitt Engineering, Inc 

 

 

 

I hereby acknowledge that the procedures and references used to develop the results contained 

in these computations are standard to the professional practice of Transportation Engineering as 

applied through professional judgment and experience. 

 

 

 

 

NAME:  Mohammed N. Abdallah 

P.E. No.:  Florida P.E. No. 56169 

DATE:  August 30, 2018 
 
 
SIGNATURE:      
 

298



 

Mid-Florida Logistics Park 
Traffic Impact Analysis 

Project № 18008, v2.0 
Table of Contents i 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
 Page  

1.0  INTRODUCTION ................................................................................................................ 1 

2.0  EXISTING CONDITIONS ANALYSIS ................................................................................ 3 

2.1  Roadway Segment Capacity .......................................................................................... 3 
2.2  Intersection Capacity ...................................................................................................... 4 

3.0  PROJECT TRAFFIC .......................................................................................................... 6 

3.1  Trip Generation ............................................................................................................... 6 
3.2  Truck Traffic .................................................................................................................... 6 
3.3  Trip Distribution/Assignment ........................................................................................... 6 

4.0  PROJECTED CONDITIONS ANALYSIS .......................................................................... 8 

4.1  Background Traffic Volumes .......................................................................................... 8 
4.2  Roadway Segment Capacity .......................................................................................... 8 
4.3  Intersection Capacity ...................................................................................................... 9 
4.4  Intersection Mitigation ................................................................................................... 11 

5.0  STUDY CONCLUSIONS ................................................................................................. 12 

APPENDICES ............................................................................................................................. 13 

Appendix A Response to City of Apopka Comments 
Appendix B Preliminary Site Plan 
Appendix C Mid-Florida Logistics Park Methodology 
Appendix D City of Apopka CMS Data 
Appendix E Traffic Counts & FDOT Seasonal Factor Report 
Appendix F Existing Conditions Analysis Worksheets 
Appendix G Trip Generation Sheets 
Appendix H OUATS Model 
Appendix I Background & Projected Conditions Analysis Worksheets 
Appendix J Improved Intersection Analysis Worksheets 

 
 
  

299



 

Mid-Florida Logistics Park 
Traffic Impact Analysis 

Project № 18008, v2.0 
Table of Contents ii 

LIST OF TABLES 

Table 1  Existing Roadway Capacity Analysis .............................................................................. 3 

Table 2  Existing Intersection Capacity Analysis .......................................................................... 4 

Table 3  Trip Generation Analysis ................................................................................................. 6 

Table 4  Projected Roadway Capacity Analysis ........................................................................... 8 

Table 5  Background and Projected Intersection Capacity Analysis ............................................. 9 

Table 6  Review of Right Turn Warrant ......................................... Error! Bookmark not defined. 

 

 

 

LIST OF FIGURES 

Figure 1  Site Location Map .......................................................................................................... 2 

Figure 2  Existing Intersection Volumes ........................................................................................ 5 

Figure 3  Project Trip Distribution ................................................................................................. 7 

Figure 4  Projected Intersection Volumes ................................................................................... 10 

 

  

300



 

Mid-Florida Logistics Park 
Traffic Impact Analysis 

Project № 18008, v2.0 
Page 1 

1.0 INTRODUCTION 

This traffic analysis was performed to assess the impact of the proposed Mid-Florida Logistics 

Park development located south of General Electric Road, east of Hermit Smith Road and west 

of SR 429, in the City of Apopka. Figure 1 depicts the location of the project site and the 

surrounding roadway network.   

 

The analysis was updated to address comments received by the City, included in Appendix A 

and to reflect the revised development plan, which includes a total of 2,459,755 square feet of 

warehousing at full buildout in the year 2022.  A preliminary site plan is provided in Appendix B. 

 

The following analysis was conducted in accordance with the approved methodology, included in 

Appendix C. The analysis considers the project’s impacts on the following roadways and 

intersections, within the project’s influence area: 

 
Roadway Segments 
US 441 (Orange Blossom Trail) 
 Yothers Road to SR 429 Connector 
 SR 429 Connector to Plymouth 

Sorrento Road 
 Plymouth Sorrento Road to Boy Scout 

Boulevard 
 Boy Scout Boulevard to Errol Parkway 
General Electric Road 
 Hermit Smith Road to Orange Avenue 

Binion Road/Orange Avenue (CR 437) 
 Boy Scout Boulevard to Lakeview Drive 
 Lakeview Drive to US 441 
 
Hermit Smith Road 
 General Electric Road to US 441 
 
Hogshead Road 
 Hermit Smith Road to Conrad Road 

 
Study Intersections 
The following intersection will be analyzed for PM peak hour capacity and operations: 
 
 General Electric Road & Orange Avenue  
 Hermit Smith Road & General Electric Road 
 Hermit Smith Road & US 441 
 SR 429 Connector Road & US 441 
 Orange Avenue & US 441 

 Plymouth Sorrento Road & US 441 
 Boy Scout Boulevard & US 441 

 
 General Electric Road & Access 
 Hermit Smith Road & Access  

 

Data used in the analysis consisted of site plan/development information provided by the Project 

Engineers, PM peak hour traffic counts obtained by Traffic & Mobility Consultants LLC (TMC), 

road segment data obtained from the City of Apopka, and seasonal data obtained from Florida 

Department of Transportations (FDOT).

301



SITE

1-mile Radius

N
Not to Scale

Site Location Map
Mid-Florida Logistics Park

18008, v2.0 1
Figure

302



 

Mid-Florida Logistics Park 
Traffic Impact Analysis 

Project № 18008, v2.0 
Page 3 

2.0 EXISTING CONDITIONS ANALYSIS 

2.1 Roadway Segment Capacity 

Table 1 presents a summary of the existing conditions for the roadway segments examined in 

this study. Roadway segments were analyzed by comparing the existing Level of Service (LOS) 

for each roadway segment with the adopted LOS standard.  Existing Daily and PM peak hour 

directional traffic volumes, capacities, and committed trips were obtained from the City of 

Apopka’s Encumbered Traffic Allocation Worksheets, which are included in Appendix D.  

 

Table 1  
Existing Roadway Capacity Analysis 

 
 

The existing conditions analysis reveals that the study roadway segments currently operate at 

satisfactory LOS. 

 

No LOS Daily PM Peak Hour 

Roadway Segment Lns Std Cap Volume Comm Total LOS Cap Volume PD Comm Total LOS

US 441 (Orange Blossom Trail)

Yothers Road to SR 429 Connector Road 4 D 49,500 41,556 3,419 44,975 A 2,480 2,045 SB/WB 345 2,390 B

SR 429 Connector Road to Plymouth Sorrento Road 4 D 49,500 24,974 5,179 30,153 A 2,480 1,114 NB/EB 444 1,558 A

Plymouth Sorrento Road to Boy Scout Boulevard 4 D 49,500 28,506 1,956 30,462 A 2,480 1,310 NB/EB 260 1,570 A

Boy Scout Boulevard to Errol Parkway 4 D 55,400 29,279 659 29,938 A 2,600 1,179 SB/WB 58 1,237 A

Binion

Boy Scout Boulevard to Lakeview Drive 2 E 17,700 4,774 1,669 6,443 C 880 278 NB/EB 141 419 C

Lakeview Drive to US 441 2 E 17,700 4,009 1,210 5,219 C 880 244 SB/WB 139 383 C

General Electric Road

Hermit Smith Road to Orange Avenue 2 D 13,300 532 713 1,245 C 680 38 NB/EB 101 139 C

Hermit Smith Road

General Electric Road to US 441 2 E 15,900 691 802 1,493 C 790 53 NB/EB 113 166 C

Hogshead Road

Hermit Smith Road to Conrad Road 2 E 14,000 777 890 1,667 C 720 107 NB/EB 57 164 C

303



 

Mid-Florida Logistics Park 
Traffic Impact Analysis 

Project № 18008, v2.0 
Page 4 

2.2 Intersection Capacity 

An intersection analysis was conducted using the Synchro Software and the methods of the 2010 

Highway Capacity Manual (HCM). The capacity analysis was performed using the existing 

intersection geometries and traffic volumes during the PM peak hour. Based on the date of the 

data collection, a seasonal factor of 1.04 was applied to the traffic volumes to adjust for seasonal 

variation in traffic volumes.  The field counts along with FDOT’s 2017 Seasonal Factor report are 

included in Appendix E.  

 

The existing intersection volumes are displayed in Figure 2. A summary of the intersection 

capacity analysis is shown in Table 2, which indicates that the study intersections currently 

operate at satisfactory LOS. Detailed analysis worksheets are included in Appendix F. 

 

Table 2  
Existing Intersection Capacity Analysis 

 
 

Intersection Control Delay LOS Delay LOS Delay LOS Delay LOS Delay LOS

Average delay is expressed seconds/vehicle

F -- -- 14.8 B
US 441 & 
Plymouth Sorrento Rd

Signal 4.0 9.4 A 92.3

-- -- -- --

--

General Electric Rd & 
Orange Ave

TWSC 11.2 B -- -- 7.9 A

A -- -- 7.6 A --

E 63.4 E 19.9 B

Hermit Smith Rd & 
General Electric Rd 

TWSC -- -- 9.2

13.4 B

US 441 & 
Boy Scout Blvd

Signal

A

14.1 B 9.7 A 72.6

6.9 A 68.9 E -- --

F 48.0 D 21.0 C

US 441 & 
Orange Ave

Signal 0.5 A

7.8 A

US 441 & 
SR 429 Connector Rd 

Signal 26.1 C 4.0 A 98.4

1.8 A 72.5 E 72.2 E

EB WB NB SB Overall

US 441 & 
Hermit Smith Rd 

Signal 6.9 A

304



W
 O

ra
n

g
e

A
v

e

0
731
103

0
935
19

US 441

1
7

3 0
6

3

N
Not to Scale

2
FigureExisting Intersection Volumes

5
5

2
1

727
68

General Electric Rd

H
e

rm
it

 S
m

it
h

 R
d

B
o

y
 S

c
o

u
t 

B
lv

d

W
 O

ra
n

g
e

A
v

e

389
770

0

37
1077
1

S
R

4
2

9
 C

o
n

n
e

c
to

r 
R

d

H
e

rm
it

 S
m

it
h

 R
d

6 4
1

65
7

1
7

2
1

1
2

1
3

6

2 2 2

5
9

4
2 2

3

9
828
20

100
1046
145

3
6

6
1

1
4

5

8 5
7

5
8

22
1055

4

103
1566
14

4
6 11 3
8

11 3 6
3

Mid-Florida Logistics Park
18008, v2.0

P
ly

m
o

u
th

 S
o

rr
e

n
to

 R
d

92
709

203
896

3
3

1
5

4

305



 

Mid-Florida Logistics Park 
Traffic Impact Analysis 

Project № 18008, v2.0 
Page 6 

3.0 PROJECT TRAFFIC 

3.1 Trip Generation 

Information published by the Institute of Transportation Engineers (ITE) in the Trip Generation 

Manual, 10th Edition was used to determine the trip generation of the proposed development as 

summarized in Table 3. ITE Code 154 for High-Cube Transload and Short-Term Storage 

Warehouse trip generation rates which were used in trip generation calculations. Detailed trip 

generation sheets are included in Appendix G. 

 

Table 3  
Trip Generation Analysis 

 
 

The proposed development generates a total of 3,444 trips per day, of which 246 trips will occur 

during the PM peak hour. 

 

3.2 Truck Traffic 

Based on information from the ITE Trip Generation Manual, approximately 20% of the trips 

generated by the warehouse development are anticipated to be truck trips.  The remaining trips 

are generated by employees, deliveries, visitors and other business activity that supports the truck 

transport activities at the warehouse.  For the proposed development, it is expected that most 

truck traffic will use the newly completed expressway to access the regional transportation 

network, as will be reflected in the project’s trip distribution pattern. 

 

3.3 Trip Distribution/Assignment 

To assign the peak hour trips generated by the proposed development to the study roadways, a 

distribution pattern in the general vicinity of the project site was determined based on the OUATS 

model output, included in Appendix H, which was modified to reflect the local network and 

prevailing traffic patterns. The project’s trip distribution pattern is provided in Figure 3. 

ITE Daily PM Peak Hour
Code Rate Trips Rate Total Enter Exit

154 Warehouse 2,459.8 KSF 1.40 3,444 0.10 246 69 177
Trip generation analysis based on ITE Trip Generation Manual, 10th Edition.

Land Use Size

306



39%

6%

14%

2%

8%

25%

75%

25%

52%

13%

5%

15%

4%

20%

13%

30%

9%

N
Not to Scale

3
FigureProject Trip Distribution

Mid-Florida Logistics Park
18008, v2.0

307



 

Mid-Florida Logistics Park 
Traffic Impact Analysis 

Project № 18008, v2.0 
Page 8 

4.0 PROJECTED CONDITIONS ANALYSIS 

Projected traffic conditions were analyzed for Daily and PM peak hour traffic for the anticipated 

buildout year 2022.  

 

4.1 Background Traffic Volumes 

The analysis of the background traffic was performed to ascertain the future conditions prior to 

the development of Mid-Florida Logistics Park. Background traffic consists of existing traffic and 

committed trips from approved developments in the area, which were obtained from the City’s 

Encumbered Traffic Allocation Worksheets.  Background traffic volumes were calculated by 

adding the existing volumes to the committed trips (E+C) for each of the study segments.   

 

4.2 Roadway Segment Capacity 

The roadway segment analysis was performed by comparing the projected LOS of the roadway 

with the adopted LOS standard.  This analysis is summarized in Table 4 for full buildout of the 

development, which reveals that the segments will continue to operate at satisfactory LOS in the 

projected condition. 

 

Table 4  
Projected Roadway Capacity Analysis  

 

  

No LOS Daily PM Peak Hour 

Roadway Segment Lns Std Cap Volume Comm Dist Project Total LOS Cap Volume PD Comm Project Total LOS

US 441 (Orange Blossom Trail)

Yothers Road to SR 429 Connector Road 4 D 49,500 41,556 3,419 53% 1,825 44,975 A 2,480 2,045 SB/WB 345 94 2,390 B

SR 429 Connector Road to Plymouth Sorrento Road 4 D 49,500 24,974 5,179 11% 379 30,153 A 2,480 1,114 NB/EB 444 19 1,558 A

Plymouth Sorrento Road to Boy Scout Boulevard 4 D 49,500 28,506 1,956 11% 379 30,462 A 2,480 1,310 NB/EB 260 19 1,570 A

Boy Scout Boulevard to Errol Parkway 4 D 55,400 29,279 659 25% 861 29,938 A 2,600 1,179 SB/WB 58 44 1,237 A

Binion 

Boy Scout Boulevard to Lakeview Drive 2 E 17,700 4,774 1,669 6% 207 6,443 C 880 278 NB/EB 141 11 419 C

Lakeview Drive to US 441 2 E 17,700 4,009 1,210 20% 689 5,219 C 880 244 SB/WB 139 35 383 C

General Electric Road

Hermit Smith Road to Orange Avenue 2 D 15,900 532 713 25% 861 1,245 C 680 38 NB/EB 101 44 139 C

Hermit Smith Road

General Electric Road to US 441 2 E 15,900 691 802 75% 2,583 1,493 C 790 53 NB/EB 113 133 166 C

Hogshead Road

Hermit Smith Road to Conrad Road 2 E 14,000 777 890 0% 0 1,667 C 720 58 NB/EB 126 0 184 C

308



 

Mid-Florida Logistics Park 
Traffic Impact Analysis 

Project № 18008, v2.0 
Page 9 

 
4.3 Intersection Capacity 

To assess the background and projected operating conditions at the study intersections, an 

intersection capacity analysis was conducted using background traffic volumes and projected 

traffic volumes. The intersection was analyzed using Synchro Software. Projected peak hour 

volumes were calculated by adding background traffic and project trips at the intersections.  

 

The projected intersection volumes are shown in Figure 4 and intersection analysis for both 

background and projected volumes are summarized Table 5. Detailed printouts of the analysis 

are included in Appendix I. 

 

Table 5  
Projected Intersection Capacity Analysis  

 

 

The results of the background and projected analysis indicate that the intersections will continue 

to operate at satisfactory overall LOS, except for the intersection of Hermit Smith Road and US 

441.  This intersection is projected to become deficient on the side streets with the additional 

committed and project traffic.  

Intersection Control Scenario Delay LOS Delay LOS Delay LOS Delay LOS Delay LOS

Background 8.9 A 1.3 A 207.0 F 595.8 F 56.9 E

Projected 9.7 A 2.6 A 536.7 F 709.1 F 98.5 F

Background 53.5 D 18.2 B 98.4 F 47.7 D 37.3 D

Projected 81.6 F 19.6 B 98.4 F 48.5 D 50.8 D

Background 0.2 A 0.3 A 113.3 F -- -- 14.5 B

Projected 0.2 A 0.3 A 120.7 F -- -- 15.6 B

Background 5.6 A 12.2 B -- -- 251.7 F 38.8 D

Projected 5.7 A 12.4 B -- -- 250.2 F 38.5 D

Background 6.5 A 3.9 A 84.8 F 130.1 F 22.9 C

Projected 6.6 A 4.0 A 100.1 F 141.4 F 26.0 C

Background -- -- 9.2 A -- -- 7.6 A -- --

Projected -- -- 10.6 B -- -- 7.9 A -- --

Background 13.3 B -- -- 8.2 A -- -- -- --

Projected 14.3 B -- -- 8.2 A -- -- -- --

General Electric Rd & 
West Access

TWSC Projected -- -- 7.6 A 10.0 A -- -- -- --

General Electric Rd & 
Main Access 

TWSC Projected -- -- 7.5 A 9.9 A -- -- -- --

General Electric Rd & 
East Access

TWSC Projected -- -- 7.6 A 9.6 A -- -- -- --

Hermit Smith Rd & 
South Access

TWSC Projected -- -- 8.8 A -- -- 7.5 A -- --

EB WB NB SB Overall

US 441 & 
Boy Scout Blvd

Signal

General Electric Rd & 
Orange Ave

US 441 & 
SR 429 Connector Rd 

Signal

Signal
US 441 & 
Hermit Smith Rd 

US 441 & 
Plymouth Sorrento Rd

Signal

Signal
US 441 & 
Orange Ave

Hermit Smith Rd & 
General Electric Rd 

TWSC

TWSC

309



O
ra

n
g

e
A

v
e

0
731+{319}+(23)=1073

103+{45}=148

0
935+{435}+(9)=1379
19+{9}=28

US 441

1
7
3
+

{1
0
2
}+

(2
)=

2
7
7 0

6
3
+

{3
7
}+

(7
)=

1
0
7

5
5
+

(1
4
)=

6
9

2
1
7
+

{1
3
9
}=

3
5
627+(9)=36

68+(35)=103

H
e

rm
it

 S
m

it
h

 R
d

O
ra

n
g

e
A

v
e

389+{122}+(69)=580
770+{242}+(23)=1035

0

37+{15}=52
1077+{429}+(9)=1515
1

S
R

4
2

9
C

o
n

n
e

c
to

r

6
+

(2
1
)=

2
7

4
1
+

(3
1
)=

7
2

65+(80)=145
7

1
7
+

(5
3
)=

7
0

2
1

1
2
+

(3
)=

1
5

1
3
6
+

{1
1
3
}=

2
2
9

2 2 2

5
9
4
+

(2
7
)=

6
2
1

2 2
3

22+{6}=28
1055+{275}=1330

4+{1}+(10)=15

103+{21}=124
1566+{321}=1887
14+{3}+(36)=53

4
6
+

{5
4
}+

(2
7
)=

1
2
7

11
+

{1
4
}+

(1
4
)=

3
9

3
8
+

{4
5
}+

(9
2
)=

1
7
5

11
+

{2
9
}=

4
0

3
+

{8
}+

(6
)=

1
7

6
3
+

{1
5
9
}=

2
2
2

SITE

72+(65)=137
(3)

(1
5
)

(5
)

62+(25)=87
(6)

1
3

(2
1
)

(54)

1
7

Legend
Background + {Committed} + (Project) = Total

General Electric Rd

72+(18)=90
(10)

(5
0
)

(3
0
)

62+(10)=72
(20)

67+(13)=80
(4)

(1
5
)

(9
)

62+(35)=97
(5)

M
a

in
A

c
c

e
s

s

E
a

s
t

A
c

c
e

s
s

W
e

s
t

A
c

c
e

s
s

South Access

B
o

y
 S

c
o

u
t

B
lv

d

9+{1}+(4)=14
828+{56}+(19)=903

20+{1}=21

100+{4}=104
1046+{38}+(8)=1092
145+{5}+(10)=160

3
6
+

{1
3
}=

4
9

6
1
+

{2
2
}=

8
3

1
4
5
+

{5
2
}+

(2
5
)=

2
2
2

8
+

{4
}+

(1
)=

1
3

5
7
+

{3
0
}=

8
7

5
8
+

{3
0
}=

8
8

~ ~

P
ly

m
o

u
th

S
o

rr
e

n
to

 R
d

92+{42}+(7)=141
709+{322}+(23)=1054

203+{48}=251
896+{212}+(9)=1117

3
3
+

{2
9
}+

(3
)=

6
5

1
5
4
+

{1
3
5
}=

2
8
9

~~
~~

US 441

~ ~

N
Not to Scale

4
FigureProjected Intersection Volumes

Mid-Florida Logistics Park
18008, v2.0

310



 

Mid-Florida Logistics Park 
Traffic Impact Analysis 

Project № 18008, v2.0 
Page 11 

4.4 Intersection Mitigation 

In order to mitigate the projected deficiency at the intersection of Hermit Smith Road and US 441, 

additional capacity will be necessary to serve the minor approaches.  The northbound and 

southbound approaches to the intersection are currently a single shared lane for all movements 

on each approach.  The configuration results in a concurrent signal phase for all minor street 

movements.  Additionally, the current timing plan at the intersection does not account for the 

significant number of committed and project trips that would be on the side streets in the long 

term.  As vested and project traffic materialize on the minor approaches, it is reasonable to 

consider that the intersection timing plan would be modified to respond to the growing volumes in 

the future. 

 

Therefore, to mitigate the project’s impact and improve the overall operations at the intersection, 

it is recommended that a dedicated northbound right turn lane is constructed.  The additional lane 

will facilitate the movement of right turning traffic traveling from Hermit Smith Road toward the SR 

429 expressway via US 441.   

 

The results of the capacity analysis with the right turn lane and a slightly modified timing plan are 

summarized in Table 5.  The worksheet is included in Appendix J. 

 

Table 5  
Improved Intersection Capacity Analysis  

 

 

  

Intersection Control Scenario Delay LOS Delay LOS Delay LOS Delay LOS Delay LOS

US 441 & 
Hermit Smith Rd 

Signal Improved 17.4 B 4.0 A 57.4 E 658.4 F 58.1 E

EB WB NB SB Overall

311



 

Mid-Florida Logistics Park 
Traffic Impact Analysis 

Project № 18008, v2.0 
Page 12 

5.0 STUDY CONCLUSIONS 

This traffic analysis was performed to assess the impact of the proposed Mid-Florida Logistics 

Park development. The site is located south of General Electric Road, east of Hermit Smith Road 

and west of SR 429, in the City of Apopka. The development will include a total of 2,459,755 

square feet of warehousing at full buildout. The results of the analysis as documented herein are 

summarized below: 

 

 The proposed development will generate a new daily traffic volume of 3,444 trips per day, 

of which 246 trips will occur during the PM peak hour.  Approximately 20% of the total 

project traffic will be truck traffic. 

 

 Analysis of roadway segment capacity reveals that all study segments currently operate 

within their adopted capacity and are projected to continue to do so at both project buildout 

phases. 

 
 Analysis of the study intersections indicates that they currently operate at adequate LOS 

and are projected to continue to do so at buildout of the project, except for the intersection 

of US 441 and Hermit Smith Road. 

 

 The intersection will require a dedicated northbound right turn lane to more efficiently 

serve traffic traveling toward SR 429 via eastbound US 441.   

 
 A modified timing plan may be necessary in to future as vested and project traffic 

materialize on the minor approaches to intersection.  

 

 

312



 

 

APPENDICES 

 
  

313



 

 

Appendix A 
Response to City of Apopka Comments 

  

314



Page 1 of 2 
 

CITY OF APOPKA 

DEVELOPMENT REVIEW COMMITTEE COMMENTS 

 

                 DATE:  July 25, 2018  

                NAME:  Pamela Richmond, AICP - Senior Planner 

DEPARTMENT:  Community Development 

   TELEPHONE:  407-703-1764 FAX: 407-703-1686 Email: pricchmond@apopka.net 

         PROJECT:  Mid-Florida Logistics Park  

         PLAN NO:  SPR18-16 PUD Master Plan – 2nd submittal  

____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Traffic Impact Analysis Comments: 

1. Revise the trip generation table to reflect the new site plan. 

 

2. Revise Table 4, Projected Roadway Capacity Analysis, using the revised trip generation. 

 

3. In Figure 4, there does not appear to be any committed trips represented on Hermit Smith Road 

or General Electric Road. However, committed trips are documented in Table 4. Please revise 

Figure 4 and any of the operational analyses included in the study that do not include the 

committed trips. 

 

4. Table 5 shows the intersection of US 441 at Hermit Smith Rd not meeting the LOS standards for 

the approaching roadway segments. Specifically, the westbound direction is impacted dropping 

from an LOS C to an LOS F in the projected traffic conditions. This is in part due to changes in 

the signal timing assumptions between the existing, background and project traffic scenarios. 

Mitigation for the project traffic should not negatively impact the other approaches. 

This study was done at a time when US 441 was under construction and before FDOT completed 

a signal timing study for the US 441 corridor. The current signal timing for signalized study 

intersections on US 441 should be revised using the new signal timing to ensure the analysis is 

consistent with the new coordinated signal plan.  

5. The TIA does not outline the existing or proposed truck traffic percentages. The applicant should 

provide estimates of truck traffic and the ability of the surrounding roads (including General 

Electric Road, Orange Avenue, and Hermit Smith Road) to support the projected loads. If the 

roadway infrastructure is not suitable for proposed amount of truck travel, mitigation should be 

proposed. 

 

6. Central Florida Expressway has provided comments on the TIA (see attached). Please address 

these comments and include as a part of your response to the City’s comments. 

 

 

315



800 N. Magnolia Ave., Suite 1000 
Orlando, FL 32803 
321.354.9687 Direct 
407.649.8664 Fax 
321.663.5663 Mobile 
www.dewberry.com 
kjackson@dewberry.com 

From: Bickar, Scott 

Sent: Thursday, July 19, 2018 11:03 AM 

To: Jackson, Raymond Keith <kjackson@dewberry.com> 

Subject: RE: TIA for Mid Florida Logistics Park 

Keith, 

A 2,561,800 warehouse development is being proposed in the southwest quadrant of the SR 429 interchange at US 441 

and SR 429 Connector Road. The warehouse is projected to generate 3587 daily trips with 256 of them occurring during 

the PM Peak Hour. Full buildout of the development is anticipated in 2022. 41% of the trips generated will utilize SR 429 

with 9% coming from the north and 33% coming from the south. The following comments were developed after 

reviewing FOOT TIA guidelines: 

• Include analysis for the single point intersection at SR 429 {Ramps) and SR 429 Connector Road. The intersection

is located within the 1 mile study area radius and will be impacted by 42% of the added trips from the

development.

• Include analysis for the SR 429 Connector Road and Plymouth Sorrento Road intersection. The intersection is

located within the 1 mile study area radius.

• Traffic patterns in the area have changed due to the opening of Wekiva Phase II at the end of March 2018.

Existing traffic counts were taken March 13, 2018. Since there is significant change in traffic patterns consider

obtaining new counts.

• The report only addresses the PM peak hour. Was the AM peak hour considered?

• Provide analysis for full build out of the development in 2022.

• Include a future conditions analysis for a future horizon year. Typically 10 years from full buildout.

• Was mitigation considered for the SB SR 429 Connector Road approach to US 441. The projected SB delay is

121.5 seconds {F) which is a 25.3 second increase in delay from the existing condition.

Thanks 

Scott Bickar, P.E. 
Project Engineer 
Transportation Services 
Dewberry 
800 North Magnolia Avenue 
Suite 1000 
Orlando, FL 32803 
321-354-9784 
www.dewberry.com

From: Jackson, Raymond Keith 

Sent: Wednesday, July 18, 2018 9:04 AM 

To: Glenn Pressimone <Glenn.Pressimone@cfxway.com> 

Cc: Will Hawthorne <Will.Hawthorne@cfxway.com>; Bickar, Scott <sbickar@Dewberry.com> 

Subject: RE: TIA for Mid Florida Logistics Park 

We will have this reviewed by Friday. 

2 of 2 316



 
 
 

3101 Maguire Boulevard, Suite 265, Orlando, Florida 32803   ■   P: (407) 531-5332   ■   F: (407) 531-5331   ■   www.trafficmobility.com 
 
 

August 30, 2018 
 

 
Ms. Pamela Richmond, AICP 
Community Development 
City of Apopka 
120 E Main Street 
Apopka, Florida 32703 
 
Email:  prichmond@apopka.net  
 
Re:  Mid-Florida Logistics Park 
 Response to Review Comments  
 TMC Project № 18008 

City of Apopka, Florida 
 
Ms. Richmond, 
 
Please find below our response to the City of Apopka review comments dated July 25, 2018 and 
Central Florida Expressway comments dated July 19, 2018, regarding the above referenced 
Traffic Impact Analysis dated March 2018.  The comments are listed in bold typeface and the 
TMC responses follow in italic typeface.   
 
CITY OF APOPKA COMMENTS 
 
1.  Revise the trip generation table to reflect the new site plan. 

 
TMC Response: The trip generation table has been revised to reflect the new plan. 
 
2.  Revise Table 4, Projected Roadway Capacity Analysis, using the revised trip generation. 
 
TMC Response: Table 4 has been revised 
 
3.  In Figure 4, there does not appear to be any committed trips represented on Hermit 
Smith Road or General Electric Road. However, committed trips are documented in Table  
4. Please revise Figure 4 and any of the operational analyses included in the study that do 
not include the committed trips. 
 
TMC Response: Figure 4 and the intersection analyses have been revised to include the 
committed trips. 
 
4. Table 5 shows the intersection of US 441 at Hermit Smith Rd not meeting the LOS 
standards for the approaching roadway segments. Specifically, the westbound direction 
is impacted dropping from an LOS C to an LOS F in the projected traffic conditions. This 
is in part due to changes in the signal timing assumptions between the existing, 
background and project traffic scenarios. Mitigation for the project traffic should not 
negatively impact the other approaches. 

317



Ms. Pamela Richmond 
Mid-Florida Logistics Park 
Response to Review Comments 
Project № 18008 
August 30, 2018 
Page 2 of 3 
 
 
 
This study was done at a time when US 441 was under construction and before FDOT 
completed a signal timing study for the US 441 corridor. The current signal timing for 
signalized study intersections on US 441 should be revised using the new signal timing to 
ensure the analysis is consistent with the new coordinated signal plan. 
 
TMC Response: The analysis was revised with the updated traffic volumes, committed trips, and 
newly implemented signal timing plans.  The results indicate that the intersection will require a 
northbound right turn lane on Hermit Smith Road to adequately accommodate project trips.   
 
5. The TIA does not outline the existing or proposed truck traffic percentages. The 
applicant should provide estimates of truck traffic and the ability of the surrounding roads 
(including General Electric Road, Orange Avenue, and Hermit Smith Road) to support the 
projected loads. If the roadway infrastructure is not suitable for proposed amount of truck 
travel, mitigation should be proposed. 
 
TMC Response: The TIA has been updated to include a discussion of projected truck traffic 
volumes generated by the development on a daily basis.  The structural capacity of the pavement 
on Hermit Smith Road and on General Electric Road will be addressed separately with the City 
outside of the TIA. 
 
6. Central Florida Expressway has provided comments on the TIA (see attached). Please 
address these comments and include as a part of your response to the City’s comments. 
 
TMC Response: Noted.  Please see responses to Central Florida Expressway comments below. 
 
CENTRAL FLORIDA EXPRESSWAY COMMENTS 
 
1. Include analysis for the single point intersection at SR 429 {Ramps) and SR 429 
Connector Road. The intersection is located within the 1 mile study area radius and will be 
impacted by 42% of the added trips from the 
development. 
 
TMC Response: The interchange at SR 429 was recently completed based on design traffic 
volumes projected for the life of the facility.  This development is a minor generator of traffic in 
comparison to the design traffic volumes for which the facility was designed. 
 
2. Include analysis for the SR 429 Connector Road and Plymouth Sorrento Road 
intersection. The intersection is located within the 1 mile study area radius. 
 
TMC Response: Based on a study methodology reviewed and approved by the City of Apopka, 
these facilities are not within the project’s study area.  This development is a minor generator of 
traffic in comparison to the design traffic volumes for which the facility was designed. 
 

318



Ms. Pamela Richmond 
Mid-Florida Logistics Park 
Response to Review Comments 
Project № 18008 
August 30, 2018 
Page 3 of 3 
 
 
3. Traffic patterns in the area have changed due to the opening of Wekiva Phase II at the 
end of March 2018. Existing traffic counts were taken March 13, 2018. Since there is 
significant change in traffic patterns consider obtaining new counts. 
 
TMC Response: Updated traffic counts were obtained within the study area on August 28, 2018. 
 
5. The report only addresses the PM peak hour. Was the AM peak hour considered? 
 
TMC Response: The City of Apopka requires PM peak hour analysis. 
 
6. Provide analysis for full build out of the development in 2022. 
 
TMC Response: The buildout analysis is provided. 
 
7. Include a future conditions analysis for a future horizon year. Typically 10 years from 
full buildout. 
 
TMC Response: An analysis of future horizon is not required or customary for development 
projects in the City of Apopka. 
 
8. Was mitigation considered for the SB SR 429 Connector Road approach to US 441. The 
projected SB delay is 121.5 seconds {F) which is a 25.3 second increase in delay from the 
existing condition. 
 
TMC Response: The intersection is projected to operate adequately at project buildout.  No 
additional mitigation is recommended. 
  
 
 
 

 
END OF COMMENTS 

 
We trust these responses address the review comments.  A revised analysis will be provided for 
your further review.  We remain available to discuss this matter further or to answer any questions. 
 
 
 
 
        Kind regards, 
 
         
        Mohammed N. Abdallah, PE, PTOE 

319



 

 

 

320



 

 

Appendix B 
Preliminary Site Plan  

  

321



 

 

Appendix C 
Mid-Florida Logistics Park Methodology 

  

322



 

3101 Maguire Boulevard, Suite 265, Orlando, Florida 32803   ■   P: (407) 531-5332   ■   F: (407) 531-5331   ■   www.trafficmobility.com 

 
 

MEMORANDUM 
February 28, 2018 
 
 
 
Re: Mid-Florida Logistics Park 
 Traffic Impact Analysis Methodology 
 Project № 18008 
 

 
 

The following is an outline of the methodology for the Traffic Impact Analysis (TIA) for the above 
referenced project.  
 

Project Description 

The proposed development is approximately 2,562,800 square feet of the high-cube transload 

and short-term storage warehouse, which will include five buildings at full buildout. A conceptual 

site plan is included in the Attachments. 

 

Project Location 

The site is located south of General Electric Road, east of Hermit Smith Road and west of the 

Western Beltway, in the City of Apopka, Florida, as illustrated in Figure 1. 

 

Site

Figure 1 – Study Area 

323



Mid-Florida Logistics Park 
Study Methodology 
Project №18008 
February 28, 2018 
Page 2 of 4 
 

 

Project Access 

Access to the site will be provided via two access points on General Electric Road and one access 

point on Hermit Smith Road, as shown in the conceptual plan included in the Attachments. 

 

Trip Generation  

The trip generation analysis was conducted using information published by the Institute of 

Transportation Engineers (ITE) in the Trip Generation Manual, 10th Edition for the High Cube 

Transload and Short-Term Storage Warehouse land use, which most accurately reflect the 

proposed use of the site. Table 1 summarizes the results of the trip generation analysis for the 

development. The ITE information sheets are included in the Attachments. 

 

Table 1 
Trip Generation Summary 

 

The proposed development is projected to generate 3,588 new daily trips of which 256 trips occur 

during the PM peak hour. It should be noted that approximately 33% of the total daily site-

generated trips and 22% of PM peak hour project trips are anticipated to be truck traffic based on 

ITE information. 

 

Trip Distribution 

The Orlando Urban Area Transportation Study (OUATS) model was used to generate an 

areawide travel distribution pattern for the development. The model output is included in the 

Attachments.  

 

The model shows that traffic using Binion Road will merge to SR 429 downstream, also more 

traffic is indicated to use SR 451 and Plymouth Sorrento Road rather than using SR 429 located 

east of the property. Manual modification and adjustments were made to reflect the nature of the 

proposed development, which includes moving all trips indicated on SR 451 on to SR 429, half 

the trips on Binion Road on to SR 429 and reducing the number of project trips on Plymouth 

Sorrento Road. Finally, these modifications placed approximately 42% of the project trips on SR 

429, with the anticipated truck percentage and the likelihood of trucks using SR 429, the 

distribution pattern will reflect the proposed development. The proposed distribution pattern for 

use in this study is illustrated in Figure 2. 

 

 

 

 

ITE Daily PM Peak Hour

Code Rate Trips Rate Total Enter Exit

154 Warehouse 2,562.8 KSF 1.40 3,588 0.10 256 69 187

Trip generation analysis based on ITE Trip Generation Manual, 10th Edition.

Land Use Size

324



Mid-Florida Logistics Park 
Study Methodology 
Project №18008 
February 28, 2018 
Page 3 of 4 
 

 
 

 

Study Area 

 

Study Segments 

The following roadway segments located within 1-mile of the site will be analyzed for Daily and 
PM peak hour capacity: 
 
US 441 (Orange Blossom Trail) 

• Yothers Road to SR 429 Connector Road 

• SR 429 Connector Road to Plymouth Sorrento Road 

• Plymouth Sorrento Road to Boy Scout Boulevard 

• Boy Scout Boulevard to Errol Parkway 
 

Binion Road (CR 437)/Orange Avenue (CR 437) 

• Boy Scout Boulevard to Lakeview Drive 

• Lakeview Drive to US 441 
 

Figure 2 – Proposed Distribution Pattern 

325



Mid-Florida Logistics Park 
Study Methodology 
Project №18008 
February 28, 2018 
Page 4 of 4 
 

General Electric Road 

• Hermit Smith Road to Orange Avenue 
 
Hermit Smith Road 

• General Electric Road to US 441 
 

Hogshead Road 

• Hermit Smith Road to Conrad Road 
 

Study Intersections 

The following intersection will be analyzed for PM peak hour capacity and operations: 

 

• General Electric Road and Orange Avenue  

• Hermit Smith Road and General Electric Road 

• SR 429 Connector Road and US 441 

• Hermit Smith Road and US 441 

• Orange Avenue and US 441 

• Boy Scout Boulevard and US 441 

• Proposed access points and General Electric Road  

 

Peterson Road 

An existing public Right-of-way (ROW), known as Peterson Road, runs from Kings Street in the 

east, through the property east to the western boundary. The ROW varies in width and passes 

under SR 429 at an underpass. This ROW traverses the proposed development and bisects the 

planned 1,024,400 square foot warehouse building (Building 2 on the plans included in the 

Attachments). Therefore, the analysis will evaluate access conditions to the site without the need 

to connect Peterson Road through the property. If these currently proposed connections on 

General Electric Road and Hermit Smith Road are projected to adequately serve the property, 

then it will be determined that Peterson Road is not essential for access, which supports a request 

to vacate the existing ROW.  

 

Documentation  

A report documenting the methods, assumptions, and findings of the traffic analysis will be 

prepared for submittal to the City in support of the development application. 

 

 

326



 

 

 
Appendix D 

City of Apopka CMS Data 

  

327



1/29/2015 1 of 4

City of Apopka

2014 Traffic Count Program

 Roadway Service Volumes (Capacities)

Class Posted A.M./P.M.

Roadway No. of Speed Peak Hour Directional Capacities ¹ Daily Capacities ¹

Segment Lanes Limit A B C D E A B C D E

Major Arterial

SR 436 (Semoran Boulevard)

US 441 to Sheeler Rd 8LD 45 - - 3,970 4,040 4,040 - - 78,800 80,100 80,100

Sheeler Rd to Thompson Rd 8LD 45 - - 3,970 4,040 4,040 - - 78,800 80,100 80,100

Thompson Rd to Roger Williams Rd 8LD 45 - - 3,970 4,040 4,040 - - 78,800 80,100 80,100

Roger Williams Rd to Piedmont-Wekiva Rd 8LD 45 - - 3,970 4,040 4,040 - - 78,800 80,100 80,100

Piedmont-Wekiva Rd to Seminole County Line 6LD 45 - - 2,940 3,020 3,020 - - 58,400 59,900 59,900

US 441 (Orange Blossom Trail)

Ponkan Rd to Yothers Rd 4LD 55 - - 1,910 2,000 2,000 - - 37,900 39,800 39,800

2 * Yothers Rd to SR 429 Connector Rd 4LD 55 2,370 2,480 2,480 2,480 2,480 47,200 49,500 49,500 49,500 49,500

2 * SR 429 Connector Rd to Plymouth Sorrento Rd 4LD 45 2,370 2,480 2,480 2,480 2,480 47,200 49,500 49,500 49,500 49,500

2 * Plymouth Sorrento Rd to Boy Scout Blvd 4LD 45 2,370 2,480 2,480 2,480 2,480 47,200 49,500 49,500 49,500 49,500

2 * Boy Scout Blvd to Errol Pkwy 4LD 45 2,270 2,520 2,600 2,600 2,600 48,300 53,600 55,400 55,400 55,400

2 * Errol Pkwy to SR 451 4LD 45 2,270 2,520 2,600 2,600 2,600 48,300 53,600 55,400 55,400 55,400

2 * SR 451 to Bradshaw Rd 4LD 45 2,270 2,520 2,600 2,600 2,600 48,300 53,600 55,400 55,400 55,400

2 * Bradshaw Rd to Hawthorne Ave 5L 45 1,980 2,160 2,160 2,160 2,160 52,500 57,100 57,100 57,100 57,100

2 * Hawthorne Ave to Central Ave 5L 35 1,980 2,160 2,160 2,160 2,160 52,500 57,100 57,100 57,100 57,100

2 * Central Ave to Park Ave 5L 35 1,980 2,160 2,160 2,160 2,160 52,500 57,100 57,100 57,100 57,100

2 * Park Ave to Highland Ave 5L 35 1,980 2,160 2,160 2,160 2,160 52,500 57,100 57,100 57,100 57,100

2 * Highland Ave to Alabama Ave 5L 35 1,980 2,160 2,160 2,160 2,160 52,500 57,100 57,100 57,100 57,100

2 * Alabama Ave to SR 436 4LD 35 1,980 2,160 2,160 2,160 2,160 52,500 57,100 57,100 57,100 57,100

SR 436 to Sheeler Rd 4LD 45 - - 1,910 2,000 2,000 - - 37,900 39,800 39,800

Sheeler Rd to Roger Williams Rd 4LD 45 - - 1,910 2,000 2,000 - - 37,900 39,800 39,800

Roger Williams Rd to Piedmont-Wekiva Rd 4LD 50 - - 1,910 2,000 2,000 - - 37,900 39,800 39,800

Piedmont-Wekiva Rd to Seminole County Line 4LD 50 - - 1,910 2,000 2,000 - - 37,900 39,800 39,800

Minor Arterial

CR 424 (Alabama Avenue/Apopka Boulevard)

US 441 to 8th St 2L 45 - - 370 750 800 - - 7,300 14,800 15,600

8th St to Sheeler Rd 2L 45 - - 830 880 880 - - 16,800 17,700 17,700

Sheeler Rd to Lakeville Rd 2L 45 - - 830 880 880 - - 16,800 17,700 17,700

Lakeville Rd to Hiawassee Rd 3L 45 - - 870 920 920 - - 17,600 18,600 18,600

Hiawassee Rd to Overland Rd 2L 35 - - 370 750 800 - - 7,300 14,800 15,600

Overland Rd to US 441 2L 35 - - 370 750 800 - - 7,300 14,800 15,600

Minor Arterial

CR 435 (Rock Spring Road/Park Avenue/Clarcona Road)

Kelly Park Rd to Ponkan Rd 5L 45 - - 1,530 1,580 1,580 - - 29,300 30,400 30,400

Ponkan Rd to Welch Rd 5L 45 - - 1,910 2,000 2,000 - - 37,900 39,800 39,800

Welch Rd to Sandpiper Rd 5L 45 - - 1,910 2,000 2,000 - - 37,900 39,800 39,800

Sandpiper Rd to Votaw Rd 5L 35 - - 730 1,630 1,700 - - 14,500 32,400 33,800

Votaw Rd to Orange St 5L 35 - - 730 1,630 1,700 - - 14,500 32,400 33,800

Orange St to US 441 5L 35 - - 730 1,630 1,700 - - 14,500 32,400 33,800

US 441 to Michael Gladden Blvd 3L 30 - - 390 790 840 - - 7,700 15,540 16,400

Michael Gladden Blvd to Cleveland St 2L 30 - - 370 750 800 - - 7,300 14,800 15,600

Cleveland St to Keene Rd 2L 45 - - 830 880 880 - - 16,800 17,700 17,700

Keene Rd to McCormick Rd 2L 45 - - 830 880 880 - - 16,800 17,700 17,700

McCormick Rd to Clarcona-Ocoee Rd 2L 45 - - 830 880 880 - - 16,800 17,700 17,700

CR 437A (Ocoee-Apopka Road/Michael Gladden Boulevard/Central Avenue)

McCormick Rd to Binion Rd 2L 45 - 420 840 1,190 1,640 - 8,600 17,000 24,200 33,300

Binion Rd to SR 429 2L 45 - 420 840 1,190 1,640 - 8,600 17,000 24,200 33,300

SR 429 to Keene Rd 2L 45 - 420 840 1,190 1,640 - 8,600 17,000 24,200 33,300

Keene Rd to Boy Scout Rd 2L 45 - 420 840 1,190 1,640 - 8,600 17,000 24,200 33,300

Boy Scout Rd to Bradshaw Rd 2L 45 - 420 840 1,190 1,640 - 8,600 17,000 24,200 33,300

Bradshaw Rd to Central Ave 2L 30 - - 370 750 800 - - 7,300 14,800 15,600

Michael Gladden Blvd to US 441 2L 35 - - 370 750 800 - - 7,300 14,800 15,600

Lakeville Road

Apopka Blvd to Wildwood St 2L 35 - - 370 750 800 - - 7,300 14,800 15,600

Plymouth-Sorrento Road (CR 437)

County Line to Kelly Park Rd 2L 45 - 450 850 1,200 1,640 - 8,700 16,400 23,100 31,500

Kelly Park Rd to Ponkan Rd 2L 45 - - 830 880 880 - - 16,800 17,700 17,700

Ponkan Rd to Lester Rd/Yothers Rd 2L 45 - - 830 880 880 - - 16,800 17,700 17,700

Lester Rd/Yothers Rd to SR 429 Connector Rd 2L 45 - - 870 920 920 - - 17,600 18,600 18,600

SR 429 Connector Rd to US 441 2L 45 - - 870 920 920 - - 17,600 18,600 18,600

Roadway Service Volumes City of Apopka
328



1/29/2015 2 of 4

City of Apopka

2014 Traffic Count Program

 Roadway Service Volumes (Capacities)

Class Posted A.M./P.M.

Roadway No. of Speed Peak Hour Directional Capacities ¹ Daily Capacities ¹

Segment Lanes Limit A B C D E A B C D E

Sheeler Road

SR 436 to US 441 3L 35 - - 390 790 840 - - 7,700 15,540 16,400

US 441 to Apopka Blvd 2L 45 - - 830 880 880 - - 16,800 17,700 17,700

Apopka Blvd to Cleveland St 2L 45 - - 830 880 880 - - 16,800 17,700 17,700

Cleveland St to Keene Rd 2L 45 - - 830 880 880 - - 16,800 17,700 17,700

Wekiva Springs Road/Piedmont-Wekiwa Road/Hiawassee Road

Welch Rd to Votaw Rd 3L 45 - 470 890 1,260 1,720 - 9,100 17,200 24,300 33,100

Votaw Rd to SR 436 5L 45 - - 1,910 2,000 2,000 - - 37,900 39,800 39,800

SR 436 to Piedmont Lakes Blvd 5L 45 - - 1,910 2,000 2,000 - - 37,900 39,800 39,800

Piedmont Lakes Blvd to US 441 5L 45 - - 1,910 2,000 2,000 - - 37,900 39,800 39,800

US 441 to CR 424 (Apopka Blvd) 4LD 45 - - 1,910 2,000 2,000 - - 37,900 39,800 39,800

CR 424 (Apopka Blvd) to SR 414 4LD 45 - - 1,910 2,000 2,000 - - 37,900 39,800 39,800

SR 414 to Beggs Rd 4LD 45 - - 1,910 2,000 2,000 - - 37,900 39,800 39,800

Beggs Rd to Clarcona Ocoee Rd 4LD 45 - - 1,910 2,000 2,000 - - 37,900 39,800 39,800

Minor Arterial

Welch Road

Vick Rd to Rock Springs Rd 2L 35 - - 390 790 840 - - 7,700 15,540 16,400

Rock Springs Rd to Ustler Rd 3L 45 - 440 880 1,250 1,720 - 9,000 17,900 25,400 35,000

Ustler Road to Thompson Rd 2L 45 - 420 840 1,190 1,640 - 8,600 17,000 24,200 33,300

Thompson Rd to Wekiva Springs Rd 2L 45 - 420 840 1,190 1,640 - 8,600 17,000 24,200 33,300

Minor Collector

2nd Street (Monroe Avenue)

Central Ave to Park Ave 2L 30 - - 240 490 520 - - 4,700 9,600 10,100

5th Street

Park Ave to Highland Ave 2L 30 - - 240 490 520 - - 4,700 9,600 10,100

6th Street

Park Ave to Alabama Ave 2L 30 - - 240 490 520 - - 4,700 9,600 10,100

Alabama Ave to US 441 2L 30 - - 240 490 520 - - 4,700 9,600 10,100

8th Street

Park Ave to Highland Ave 2L 30 - - 240 490 520 - - 4,700 9,600 10,100

9th Street

Central Ave to Park Ave 2L 30 - - 240 490 520 - - 4,700 9,600 10,100

Alabama Ave to Sheeler Ave 2L 30 - - 240 490 520 - - 4,700 9,600 10,100

13th Street

Ocoee-Apopka Rd to Park Ave 2L 25 - - 240 490 520 - - 4,700 9,600 10,100

Park Ave to Apopka Blvd 2L 25 - - 240 490 520 - - 4,700 9,600 10,100

Alabama Avenue

Monroe Ave to US 441 2L 25 - - 240 490 520 - - 4,700 9,600 10,100

Appy Lane

Plymouth-Sorrento Rd to Jason Dwelley Pkwy 2L 35 - - 330 680 720 - - 6,600 13,320 14,000

Binion Road (CR 437)/Orange Avenue (CR 437)

Ocoee-Apopka Rd to Harmon Rd 2L 55 - - 830 880 880 - - 16,800 17,700 17,700

Harmon Rd to Boy Scout Rd 2L 55 - - 830 880 880 - - 16,800 17,700 17,700

Boy Scout Rd to Lakeview Dr 2L 40 - - 830 880 880 - - 16,800 17,700 17,700

Lakeview Dr to US 441 2L 40 - - 830 880 880 - - 16,800 17,700 17,700

Boy Scout Road

Binion Rd to Ocoee-Apopka Rd 2L 45 - - 750 790 790 - - 15,100 15,900 15,900

Bradshaw Road

Old Dixie Hwy to US 441 2L 45 - - 750 790 790 - - 15,100 15,900 15,900

Christiana Avenue

Monroe Ave to Votaw Rd 2L 30 - - 240 490 520 - - 4,700 9,600 10,100

Cleveland Street

Park Ave to Sheeler Rd 2L 40 - - 750 790 790 - - 15,100 15,900 15,900

Edgewood Drive

Monroe Ave to US 441 2L 30 - - 240 490 520 - - 4,700 9,600 10,100

Minor Collector (Continued)

Errol Parkway

Lake Francis Dr to Lake Alden Dr 2LD 25 - - 350 710 760 - - 6,900 13,990 14,700

Lake Alden Dr to Old Dixie Hwy 2L 25 - - 330 680 720 - - 6,600 13,320 14,000

Old Dixie Hwy to US 441 2LD 30 - - 350 710 840 - - 6,900 14,000 14,700

General Electric Road

Hermit Smith Rd to Orange Ave 2L 30 - - 330 680 720 - - 6,600 13,300 14,000

Golden Gem Road

Kelly Park Rd to Ponkan Rd 2L 30 - - 330 680 720 - - 6,600 13,300 14,000

Greenacre Road

Piedmont-Wekiwa Rd to Neil Rd 2L 25 - - 330 680 720 - - 6,600 13,300 14,000

Haas Road

Plymouth-Sorrento Rd to Mt Plymouth Rd 2L 40 - - 750 790 790 - - 15,100 15,900 15,900

Harmon Road

Binion Rd to Ocoee-Apopka Rd 2L 40 - - 750 790 790 - - 15,100 15,900 15,900

Hawthorne Avenue

US 441 to Ocoee-Apopka Rd 2L 30 - - 330 680 720 - - 6,600 13,300 14,000

Ocoee-Apopka Rd to 13th St 2L 30 - - 330 680 720 - - 6,600 13,300 14,000

Roadway Service Volumes City of Apopka
329



1/29/2015 3 of 4

City of Apopka

2014 Traffic Count Program

 Roadway Service Volumes (Capacities)

Class Posted A.M./P.M.

Roadway No. of Speed Peak Hour Directional Capacities ¹ Daily Capacities ¹

Segment Lanes Limit A B C D E A B C D E

Hermit Smith Road

General Electric Rd to US 441 2L 40 - - 750 790 790 - - 15,100 15,900 15,900

Highland Avenue

Monroe Ave to US 441 2L 25 - - 330 680 720 - - 6,600 13,300 14,000

US 441 to 6th St 2L 25 - - 330 680 720 - - 6,600 13,300 14,000

Hogshead Road

Hermit Smith Rd to Conrad Rd 2L 30 - - 330 680 720 - - 6,600 13,300 14,000

Jason Dwelley Parkway

Kelly Park Rd to Ponkan Rd 2L 35 - - 330 680 720 - - 6,600 13,300 14,000

Keene Road

Ocoee-Apopka Rd to Marden Rd 2L 45 - - 750 790 790 - - 15,100 15,900 15,900

Marden Rd to Clarcona Rd (CR 435) 2L 45 - - 750 790 790 - - 15,100 15,900 15,900

Clarcona Rd (CR 435) to Sheeler Rd 2L 45 - - 750 790 790 - - 15,100 15,900 15,900

Kelly Park Road

Round Lake Rd to Plymouth-Sorrento Rd 2L 55 - 450 850 1,200 1,640 - 8,700 16,400 23,100 31,500

Plymouth-Sorrento Rd to Jason Dwelley Pkwy 2L 55 - 450 850 1,200 1,640 - 8,700 16,400 23,100 31,500

Jason Dwelley Pkwy to Mt. Plymouth Rd 2L 40 - 450 850 1,200 1,640 - 8,700 16,400 23,100 31,500

Mt. Plymouth Rd to Rock Springs Rd 2L 40 - 450 850 1,200 1,640 - 8,700 16,400 23,100 31,500

Lake Avenue/Marvin C Zanders Avenue

Martin St to Orange St 2L 25 - - 330 680 720 - - 6,600 13,300 14,000

Orange St to US 441 2L 25 - - 330 680 720 - - 6,600 13,300 14,000

US 441 to 4th St 2L 25 - - 330 680 720 - - 6,600 13,300 14,000

Lake Cortez Drive

SR 436 to Evelyn Dr 2L 25 - - 330 680 720 - - 6,600 13,300 14,000

Minor Collector (Continued)

Lake Doe Boulevard

US 441 to Dunn Cove Dr 2L 25 - - 330 680 720 - - 6,600 13,300 14,000

Lake Francis Drive

Schopke Lester Rd to Errol Pkwy 2L 25 - - 330 680 720 - - 6,600 13,300 14,000

Errol Pkwy to Vick Rd 2L 25 - - 330 680 720 - - 6,600 13,300 14,000

Lakeville Road

Wildwood St to Beggs Rd 2L 50 - - 750 790 790 - - 15,100 15,900 15,900

Beggs Rd to Clarcona Ocoee Rd 2L 50 - - 750 790 790 - - 15,100 15,900 15,900

Lester Road

Vick Rd to Schopke Lester Rd 2L 35 - - 330 680 720 - - 6,600 13,300 14,000

Schopke Lester Rd to Plymouth Sorrento Rd 2L 35 - - 330 680 720 - - 6,600 13,300 14,000

Marden Road

Ocoee Apopka Rd to Keene Rd 2L 35 - - 330 680 720 - - 6,600 13,300 14,000

Martin Street

Park Ave to Lake Ave 2L 25 - - 330 680 720 - - 6,600 13,300 14,000

Maine Ave to Vick Rd 2L 25 - - 330 680 720 - - 6,600 13,300 14,000

McCormick Road

Ocoee-Apopka Rd to Clarcona Rd (CR 435) 2L 50 - - 750 790 790 - - 15,100 15,900 15,900

Midland Avenue

US 441 to 6th St 2L 25 - - 330 680 720 - - 6,600 13,300 14,000

Monroe Avenue

Park Ave to Alabama Ave 2L 25 - - 330 680 720 - - 6,600 13,300 14,000

Alabama Ave to Sheeler Rd 2L 25 - - 330 680 720 - - 6,600 13,300 14,000

Mt. Plymouth Road

Kelly Park Rd to Haas Rd 2L 45 - - 750 790 790 - - 15,100 15,900 15,900

Haas Rd to Lake County Line 2L 45 - - 750 790 790 - - 15,100 15,900 15,900

North Maine Avenue

Martin St to Old Dixie Hwy 2L 25 - - 330 680 720 - - 6,600 13,300 14,000

Old Dixie Highway/West Highland Avenue/Orange Street

Plymouth-Sorrento Rd to Boy Scout Blvd 2L 30 - - 330 680 720 - - 6,600 13,300 14,000

Boy Scout Blvd to Errol Pkwy 2L 30 - - 330 680 720 - - 6,600 13,300 14,000

Errol Pkwy to Vick Rd 2L 30 - - 330 680 720 - - 6,600 13,300 14,000

Vick Rd to Bradshaw Rd 2L 30 - - 330 680 720 - - 6,600 13,300 14,000

Bradshaw Rd to Hawthorne Ave 2L 25 - - 330 680 720 - - 6,600 13,300 14,000

Hawthorne Ave to Park Ave 2L 25 - - 330 680 720 - - 6,600 13,300 14,000

Ondich Road

Round Lake Rd to Plymouth-Sorrento Rd 2L 30 - - 330 680 720 - - 6,600 13,300 14,000

Ponkan Road

Round Lake Rd to Plymouth-Sorrento Rd 2L 35 - - 330 680 720 - - 6,600 13,300 14,000

Plymouth-Sorrento Rd to Vick Rd 2L 45 - - 750 790 790 - - 15,100 15,900 15,900

Vick Rd to Rock Springs Rd 2L 45 - - 750 790 790 - - 15,100 15,900 15,900

Rock Ridge Boulevard

Rock Springs Rd to Haddington Ct 2L 30 - - 330 680 720 - - 6,600 13,300 14,000

Roadway Service Volumes City of Apopka
330



1/29/2015 4 of 4

City of Apopka

2014 Traffic Count Program

 Roadway Service Volumes (Capacities)

Class Posted A.M./P.M.

Roadway No. of Speed Peak Hour Directional Capacities ¹ Daily Capacities ¹

Segment Lanes Limit A B C D E A B C D E

Minor Collector

Roger Williams Road

US 441 to SR 436 2L 30 - - 330 680 720 - - 6,600 13,300 14,000

Round Lake Road

Ponkan Rd to Sadler Ave 2L 50 - - 750 790 790 - - 15,100 15,900 15,900

Sadler Ave to Kelly Park Rd 2L 50 - - 750 790 790 - - 15,100 15,900 15,900

Kelly Park Rd to Lake County Line 2L 50 - - 750 790 790 - - 15,100 15,900 15,900

Sandpiper Road

Park Ave to Ustler Rd 2L 40 - - 750 790 790 - - 15,100 15,900 15,900

Ustler Rd to Thompson Rd 2L 40 - - 750 790 790 - - 15,100 15,900 15,900

Schopke-Lester Road

Lester Rd to Old Dixie Hwy 2L 35 - - 330 680 720 - - 6,600 13,300 14,000

Sheeler Oaks Drive

Sheeler Rd to Saddleback Ridge 2L 45 - - 750 790 790 - - 15,100 15,900 15,900

Summit Street

Rock Springs Rd to Lake Ave 2L 30 - - 330 680 720 - - 6,600 13,300 14,000

Tanglewild Street

Rock Springs Rd to Ulster Rd 2L 30 - - 330 680 720 - - 6,600 13,300 14,000

Thompson Road

Welch Rd to Votaw Rd 2L 45 - - 750 790 790 - - 15,100 15,900 15,900

Votaw Rd to SR 436 2L 35 - - 330 680 720 - - 6,600 13,300 14,000

Ustler Road

Sandpiper Rd to Welch Rd 2L 30 - - 330 680 720 - - 6,600 13,300 14,000

Vick Road

US 441 to Old Dixie Hwy 4LD 35 - - 730 1,630 1,700 - - 14,500 32,400 33,800

Old Dixie Hwy to Martin St 2LD 35 - - 390 790 840 - - 7,700 15,500 16,400

Martin St to Welch Rd 2LD 35 - - 390 790 840 - - 7,700 15,500 16,400

Welch Rd to Lake Francis Dr 2L 35 - - 330 680 720 - - 6,600 13,300 14,000

Lake Francis Dr to Lester Rd 2L 35 - - 330 680 720 - - 6,600 13,300 14,000

Lester Rd to Ponkan Rd 2L 35 - - 330 680 720 - - 6,600 13,300 14,000

Votaw Road

Park Ave to Christiana Ave 2L 45 - - 750 790 790 - - 15,100 15,900 15,900

Christiana Ave to Thompson Rd 2L 45 - - 750 790 790 - - 15,100 15,900 15,900

Thompson Rd to Wekiva Springs Rd 2L 45 - - 750 790 790 - - 15,100 15,900 15,900

Woodfield Oaks Drive

Arbor Way to Regal St 2L 25 - - 330 680 720 - - 6,600 13,300 14,000

Yothers Rd/Church Drive

US 441 to Plymouth Sorrento Rd 2L 35 - - 330 680 720 - - 6,600 13,300 14,000

Notes:

1  - Based on capacities from the Florida DOT 2013 Quality/Level of Service Handbook, Florida DOT ArtPlan2012 Software or Orange County.

2  - Roadway capacities calculated using ArtPlan updated with 2012 software

* - These segments of US 441 OBT are Constrained.

Source:  2014 Traffic Counts from Luke Transportation Engineering Consultants, Inc.

Roadway Service Volumes City of Apopka
331



332



333



334



335



336



 

 

Appendix E 
Traffic Counts & FDOT Seasonal Factor Report 

  

337



TURNING MOVEMENT COUNT ANALYSIS

AUTOS & TRUCKS

Intersection (N/S): Hermit Smith Rd

Intersection (E/W): General Electric Rd

Date: 3/13/2018

Hermit Smith Rd Hermit Smith Rd General Electric Rd General Electric Rd

NB SB EB WB

Start End L T R L T R L T R L T R TOTAL

4:00 PM 4:15 PM 0 5 3 3 4 0 0 0 0 1 0 7 23

4:15 PM 4:30 PM 0 4 5 5 2 0 0 0 0 4 0 11 31

4:30 PM 4:45 PM 0 8 5 4 4 0 0 0 0 2 0 12 35

4:45 PM 5:00 PM 0 1 5 4 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 18 30

5:00 PM 5:15 PM 0 6 6 23 2 0 0 0 0 1 0 19 57

5:15 PM 5:30 PM 0 2 5 10 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 16 35

5:30 PM 5:45 PM 0 2 0 3 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 13 19

5:45 PM 6:00 PM 0 6 3 3 2 0 0 0 0 1 0 5 20

Total for: 4:00 PM 5:00 PM 0 18 18 16 10 0 0 0 0 9 0 48 119

Total for: 5:00 PM 6:00 PM 0 16 14 39 5 0 0 0 0 4 0 53 131

Tota Peak Hour: 4:30 PM 5:30 PM 0 17 21 41 6 0 0 0 0 7 0 65 157

Overall PHF: 0.69

Southbound

     Peak Hour Volumes

0 6 41

Hermit Smith Rd

0 65

0 0

0 7

Hermit Smith Rd

0 17 21

Northbound

G
e
n

e
r
a

l 
E

le
c
tr

ic
 R

d G
e
n

e
r
a

l E
le

c
tr

ic
 R

d

E
a

st
b

o
u

n
d

W
e
st

b
o
u

n
d

338



TURNING MOVEMENT COUNT ANALYSIS

AUTOS & TRUCKS

Intersection (N/S): Orange Ave

Intersection (E/W): General Electric Rd

Date: 3/13/2018

Orange Ave Orange Ave General Electric Rd General Electric Rd

NB SB EB WB

Start End L T R L T R L T R L T R TOTAL

4:00 PM 4:15 PM 8 41 0 0 28 3 4 0 6 0 0 0 90

4:15 PM 4:30 PM 7 50 0 0 35 3 3 0 10 0 0 0 108

4:30 PM 4:45 PM 12 62 0 0 28 2 6 0 11 0 0 0 121

4:45 PM 5:00 PM 14 48 0 0 27 4 6 0 12 0 0 0 111

5:00 PM 5:15 PM 12 52 0 0 34 4 8 0 31 0 0 0 141

5:15 PM 5:30 PM 17 55 0 0 47 2 7 0 14 0 0 0 142

5:30 PM 5:45 PM 11 65 0 0 30 0 1 0 8 0 0 0 115

5:45 PM 6:00 PM 6 31 0 0 29 1 4 0 5 0 0 0 76

Total for: 4:00 PM 5:00 PM 41 201 0 0 118 12 19 0 39 0 0 0 430

Total for: 5:00 PM 6:00 PM 46 203 0 0 140 7 20 0 58 0 0 0 474

Tota Peak Hour: 4:30 PM 5:30 PM 55 217 0 0 136 12 27 0 68 0 0 0 515

Overall PHF: 0.91

Southbound

     Peak Hour Volumes

12 136 0

Orange Ave

27 0

0 0

68 0

Orange Ave

55 217 0

Northbound

G
e
n

e
r
a

l 
E

le
c
tr

ic
 R

d G
e
n

e
r
a

l E
le

c
tr

ic
 R

d

E
a

st
b

o
u

n
d

W
e
st

b
o
u

n
d

339



TURNING MOVEMENT COUNT ANALYSIS
AUTOS & TRUCKS

Intersection (N/S): HermitSmith Rd
Intersection (E/W): US 441

Date: 8/28/2018
HermitSmith Rd HermitSmith Rd US 441 US 441

NB SB EB WB
Start End L T R L T R L T R L T R TOTAL

4:00 PM 4:15 PM 7 3 13 14 1 3 1 179 7 7 252 20 507

4:15 PM 4:30 PM 8 0 5 10 1 3 3 215 1 3 348 22 619

4:30 PM 4:45 PM 7 0 10 8 1 5 9 224 2 4 394 27 691

4:45 PM 5:00 PM 11 1 5 18 0 1 4 237 1 5 349 21 653

5:00 PM 5:15 PM 16 7 18 21 1 1 4 273 0 2 392 22 757

5:15 PM 5:30 PM 10 3 4 14 1 4 4 280 1 2 371 29 723

5:30 PM 5:45 PM 5 2 4 17 0 3 4 245 0 3 366 17 666

5:45 PM 6:00 PM 10 2 3 18 1 1 3 220 1 4 329 28 620

Total for: 4:00 PM 5:00 PM 33 4 33 50 3 12 17 855 11 19 1343 90 2470

Total for: 5:00 PM 6:00 PM 41 14 29 70 3 9 15 1018 2 11 1458 96 2766

Tota Peak Hour: 4:30 PM 5:30 PM 44 11 37 61 3 11 21 1014 4 13 1506 99 2824

Overall PHF: 0.93

Southbound
     Peak Hour Volumes

11 3 61

HermitSmith Rd

21 99

1014 1506

4 13

HermitSmith Rd

44 11 37

Northbound

U
S 

44
1 U

S 441

E
as

tb
ou

nd

W
es

tb
ou

nd

340



TURNING MOVEMENT COUNT ANALYSIS
AUTOS & TRUCKS

Intersection (N/S): 429 Connector Rd
Intersection (E/W): US 441

Date: 8/28/2018
429 Connector Rd 429 Connector Rd US 441 US 441

NB SB EB WB
Start End L T R L T R L T R L T R TOTAL

4:00 PM 4:15 PM 0 1 1 3 0 90 76 128 0 0 188 10 497

4:15 PM 4:30 PM 2 4 0 2 1 119 90 135 0 0 250 8 611

4:30 PM 4:45 PM 0 1 0 13 1 148 86 153 0 0 273 8 683

4:45 PM 5:00 PM 1 1 1 4 0 134 97 164 0 0 234 9 645

5:00 PM 5:15 PM 1 0 1 3 1 138 91 225 0 0 277 9 746

5:15 PM 5:30 PM 0 0 0 2 0 151 100 198 0 1 252 10 714

5:30 PM 5:45 PM 0 0 1 2 0 138 79 184 0 0 256 10 670

5:45 PM 6:00 PM 1 1 0 3 0 124 73 172 0 1 240 8 623

Total for: 4:00 PM 5:00 PM 3 7 2 22 2 491 349 580 0 0 945 35 2436

Total for: 5:00 PM 6:00 PM 2 1 2 10 1 551 343 779 0 2 1025 37 2753

Tota Peak Hour: 4:30 PM 5:30 PM 2 2 2 22 2 571 374 740 0 1 1036 36 2788

Overall PHF: 0.93

Southbound
     Peak Hour Volumes

571 2 22

429 Connector Rd

374 36

740 1036

0 1

429 Connector Rd

2 2 2

Northbound

U
S 

44
1 U

S 441

E
as

tb
ou

nd

W
es

tb
ou

nd

341



TURNING MOVEMENT COUNT ANALYSIS
AUTOS & TRUCKS

Intersection (N/S): Orange Ave
Intersection (E/W): US 441

Date: 8/28/2018
Orange Ave Orange Ave US 441 US 441

NB SB EB WB
Start End L T R L T R L T R L T R TOTAL

4:00 PM 4:15 PM 28 0 12 0 0 0 0 117 15 5 171 0 348

4:15 PM 4:30 PM 47 0 9 0 0 0 0 124 13 7 211 0 411

4:30 PM 4:45 PM 38 0 20 0 0 0 0 136 30 6 243 0 473

4:45 PM 5:00 PM 43 0 15 0 0 0 0 150 18 3 200 0 429

5:00 PM 5:15 PM 38 0 29 0 0 0 0 194 37 4 249 0 551

5:15 PM 5:30 PM 43 0 10 0 0 0 0 178 22 7 220 0 480

5:30 PM 5:45 PM 59 0 13 0 0 0 0 180 15 6 207 0 480

5:45 PM 6:00 PM 26 0 9 0 0 0 0 151 25 1 223 0 435

Total for: 4:00 PM 5:00 PM 156 0 56 0 0 0 0 527 76 21 825 0 1661

Total for: 5:00 PM 6:00 PM 166 0 61 0 0 0 0 703 99 18 899 0 1946

Tota Peak Hour: 5:00 PM 6:00 PM 166 0 61 0 0 0 0 703 99 18 899 0 1946

Overall PHF: 0.88

Southbound
     Peak Hour Volumes

0 0 0

Orange Ave

0 0

703 899

99 18

Orange Ave

166 0 61

Northbound

U
S 

44
1 U

S 441

E
as

tb
ou

nd

W
es

tb
ou

nd

342



TURNING MOVEMENT COUNT ANALYSIS
AUTOS & TRUCKS

Intersection (N/S): Plymouth Sorrento Rd
Intersection (E/W): US 441

Date: 8/28/2018
Plymouth Sorrento Rd Plymouth Sorrento Rd US 441 US 441

NB SB EB WB
Start End L T R L T R L T R L T R TOTAL

4:00 PM 4:15 PM 0 0 0 31 0 7 20 111 0 0 166 46 381

4:15 PM 4:30 PM 0 0 0 39 0 6 15 119 0 0 200 45 424

4:30 PM 4:45 PM 0 0 0 36 0 8 18 140 0 0 236 47 485

4:45 PM 5:00 PM 0 0 0 29 0 3 14 152 0 0 195 46 439

5:00 PM 5:15 PM 0 0 0 36 0 4 29 197 0 0 245 43 554

5:15 PM 5:30 PM 0 0 0 33 0 11 19 172 0 0 211 49 495

5:30 PM 5:45 PM 0 0 0 40 0 7 21 169 0 0 196 55 488

5:45 PM 6:00 PM 0 0 0 39 0 10 17 144 0 0 210 48 468

Total for: 4:00 PM 5:00 PM 0 0 0 135 0 24 67 522 0 0 797 184 1729

Total for: 5:00 PM 6:00 PM 0 0 0 148 0 32 86 682 0 0 862 195 2005

Tota Peak Hour: 5:00 PM 6:00 PM 0 0 0 148 0 32 86 682 0 0 862 195 2005

Overall PHF: 0.90

Southbound
     Peak Hour Volumes

32 0 148

Plymouth Sorrento Rd

86 195

682 862

0 0

Plymouth Sorrento Rd

0 0 0

Northbound

U
S 

44
1 U

S 441

E
as

tb
ou

nd

W
es

tb
ou

nd

343



TURNING MOVEMENT COUNT ANALYSIS
AUTOS & TRUCKS

Intersection (N/S): Boy Scout Rd
Intersection (E/W): US 441

Date: 8/28/2018
Boy Scout Rd Boy Scout Rd US 441 US 441

NB SB EB WB
Start End L T R L T R L T R L T R TOTAL

4:00 PM 4:15 PM 6 8 22 5 8 2 1 137 2 15 201 10 417

4:15 PM 4:30 PM 9 13 26 8 14 3 3 145 3 22 230 12 488

4:30 PM 4:45 PM 10 22 54 7 7 0 4 168 2 15 276 14 579

4:45 PM 5:00 PM 8 27 31 14 6 2 1 166 12 20 224 14 525

5:00 PM 5:15 PM 9 17 46 10 16 1 3 221 7 34 276 24 664

5:15 PM 5:30 PM 9 18 34 20 17 4 2 203 3 28 243 28 609

5:30 PM 5:45 PM 8 14 35 9 9 2 1 203 3 32 235 18 569

5:45 PM 6:00 PM 9 10 24 17 13 1 3 169 6 45 252 26 575

Total for: 4:00 PM 5:00 PM 33 70 133 34 35 7 9 616 19 72 931 50 2009

Total for: 5:00 PM 6:00 PM 35 59 139 56 55 8 9 796 19 139 1006 96 2417

Tota Peak Hour: 5:00 PM 6:00 PM 35 59 139 56 55 8 9 796 19 139 1006 96 2417

Overall PHF: 0.91

Southbound
     Peak Hour Volumes

8 55 56

Boy Scout Rd

9 96

796 1006

19 139

Boy Scout Rd

35 59 139

Northbound

U
S 

44
1 U

S 441

E
as

tb
ou

nd

W
es

tb
ou

nd

344



 2017 PEAK SEASON FACTOR CATEGORY REPORT - REPORT TYPE: ALL
CATEGORY: 7500  ORANGE COUNTYWIDE        
                                                MOCF: 0.98
WEEK          DATES               SF            PSCF
================================================================================
  1    01/01/2017 - 01/07/2017    1.01          1.03
  2    01/08/2017 - 01/14/2017    1.03          1.05
  3    01/15/2017 - 01/21/2017    1.04          1.06
  4    01/22/2017 - 01/28/2017    1.03          1.05
  5    01/29/2017 - 02/04/2017    1.02          1.04
  6    02/05/2017 - 02/11/2017    1.00          1.02
  7    02/12/2017 - 02/18/2017    0.99          1.01
  8    02/19/2017 - 02/25/2017    0.99          1.01
* 9    02/26/2017 - 03/04/2017    0.98          1.00
*10    03/05/2017 - 03/11/2017    0.98          1.00
*11    03/12/2017 - 03/18/2017    0.97          0.99
*12    03/19/2017 - 03/25/2017    0.97          0.99
*13    03/26/2017 - 04/01/2017    0.97          0.99
*14    04/02/2017 - 04/08/2017    0.97          0.99
*15    04/09/2017 - 04/15/2017    0.97          0.99
*16    04/16/2017 - 04/22/2017    0.97          0.99
*17    04/23/2017 - 04/29/2017    0.97          0.99
*18    04/30/2017 - 05/06/2017    0.98          1.00
*19    05/07/2017 - 05/13/2017    0.98          1.00
*20    05/14/2017 - 05/20/2017    0.98          1.00
*21    05/21/2017 - 05/27/2017    0.99          1.01
 22    05/28/2017 - 06/03/2017    1.00          1.02
 23    06/04/2017 - 06/10/2017    1.00          1.02
 24    06/11/2017 - 06/17/2017    1.01          1.03
 25    06/18/2017 - 06/24/2017    1.01          1.03
 26    06/25/2017 - 07/01/2017    1.01          1.03
 27    07/02/2017 - 07/08/2017    1.01          1.03
 28    07/09/2017 - 07/15/2017    1.02          1.04
 29    07/16/2017 - 07/22/2017    1.01          1.03
 30    07/23/2017 - 07/29/2017    1.00          1.02
 31    07/30/2017 - 08/05/2017    1.00          1.02
 32    08/06/2017 - 08/12/2017    0.99          1.01
 33    08/13/2017 - 08/19/2017    0.99          1.01
 34    08/20/2017 - 08/26/2017    1.01          1.03
 35    08/27/2017 - 09/02/2017    1.04          1.06
 36    09/03/2017 - 09/09/2017    1.06          1.08
 37    09/10/2017 - 09/16/2017    1.09          1.11
 38    09/17/2017 - 09/23/2017    1.07          1.09
 39    09/24/2017 - 09/30/2017    1.05          1.07
 40    10/01/2017 - 10/07/2017    1.03          1.05
 41    10/08/2017 - 10/14/2017    1.01          1.03
 42    10/15/2017 - 10/21/2017    0.99          1.01
 43    10/22/2017 - 10/28/2017    0.99          1.01
 44    10/29/2017 - 11/04/2017    0.99          1.01
 45    11/05/2017 - 11/11/2017    1.00          1.02
 46    11/12/2017 - 11/18/2017    1.00          1.02
 47    11/19/2017 - 11/25/2017    1.00          1.02
 48    11/26/2017 - 12/02/2017    1.01          1.03
 49    12/03/2017 - 12/09/2017    1.01          1.03
 50    12/10/2017 - 12/16/2017    1.01          1.03
 51    12/17/2017 - 12/23/2017    1.02          1.04
 52    12/24/2017 - 12/30/2017    1.03          1.05
 53    12/31/2017 - 12/31/2017    1.04          1.06

* PEAK SEASON

02-MAR-2018 15:35:06                        830UPD             5_7500_PKSEASON.TXT

345



Intersection: Int. # 20 Node 37

Equipment: Date: 5/1/2018 Address:

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8

WBL EB SB WB NB

5 15 5 15 5

2.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0

15 50 25 50 15

15 50 25 50 25

4.8 5.2 3.7 4.8 3.9

2.3 2.0 2.8 2.0 2.9

7 7 7

13 31 15

13 28 45 29 12

NL SF/LK NL SF/LK NL

5 5

1>6

Y Y Y Y

Y R Y R

45 45 30 45 30

2.2% -3.5% 0.4% 2.2% -3.6%

98 113 147 135 148

43 108 50

13 31 15

25 16 16

68 124 66

23 42 22

1/1/1-20 2/1/1-20 3/1/1-20 3/2/2-20

1/1/1 2/1/1 3/1/1 3/2/2 Day Time Pattern

150 140 150 140 1 0:01 FREE

18 23 19 20 1 9:45 2/1/1

97 87 91 85 1 19:00 FREE

0 0 0 0 2 0:01 FREE

35 30 40 35 2 6:30 1/1/1

18 0 0 0 2 9:30 2/1/1

97 110 110 105 2 14:00 3/1/1

0 0 0 0 2 18:00 2/1/1

35 30 40 35 2 20:00 FREE

91 87 102 109 7 0:01 FREE

0/0/0/0 0/0/0/0 0/0/0/0 0/0/0/0 7 9:30 2/1/1

Equate 1 Equate 2 Equate 3 Equate 4 Equate 5 7 19:30 FREE

3 4 5 6

Notes:

1 2 4

6 8

(Saturday) 7

US 441 & Boy Scout Blvd/Lake View Dr

Eagle ATCnx

Lagging Phases

Source Day

(Sunday) 1

(Monday) 2

Split 5

Split 6

Split 7

Split 8

Offset

Cycle

Split 4

Ped Clearance (sec)

Detector Switching

Split 1

Split 2

Split 3

Dual Entry

Overlap

Flash

Speed  (mph)

Approach Grades (%)

Ped-button to curb (ft)

Ped-button to far curb (ft)

Ped Clearance to far curb (sec)

Coordination Pattern

Veh Traversed Distance (ft)

Ped Crossing Distance (ft)

Walk (sec)

Flash Don't Walk (sec)

Min Split (sec)

Recall/Memory

Detector Delay (sec)

COORDINATION PLANS

ORANGE COUNTY TRAFFIC SIGNAL TIMING SHEET

BASIC TIMING

Phase

Direction

Min Green (sec)

Vehicle Gap (sec)

Max Green 1 (sec)

Max Green 2 (sec)

Yellow Change Interval (sec)

Red Clearance Interval (sec)

All Patterns1. Offset referenced to start of mainstreet green

2. Use Plan Force-offs

3. Use Max Inhibit during coordination

62

346



Intersection: Int. # 21 Node 202

Equipment: Date: 5/1/2018 Address:

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8

EBL WB EB SB

5 15 15 5

1.8 3.0 3.0 4.0

25 35 35 30

25 35 35 30

4.9 4.8 4.9 4.8

2.9 2.0 2.0 2.0

13 22 22 12

NL SF/LK SF/LK NL

1>6

Y Y

Y Y R

45 45 45 45

-1.0% 0.1% -1.0% 0.2%

122 136 141 119

1/1/1-21 2/1/1-21 3/1/1-21 3/2/2-21 #REF!

1/1/1 2/1/1 3/1/1 3/2/2 Day Time Pattern

150 140 150 140 1 0:01 FREE

18 18 20 20 1 9:45 2/1/1

107 101 110 100 1 19:00 FREE

0 0 0 0 2 0:01 FREE

0 0 0 0 2 6:30 1/1/1

0 0 0 0 2 9:30 2/1/1

125 119 130 120 2 14:00 3/1/1

0 0 0 0 2 18:00 2/1/1

25 21 20 20 2 20:00 FREE

66 69 31 106 7 0:01 FREE

0/0/0/0 0/0/0/0 0/0/0/0 0/0/0/0 7 9:30 2/1/1

Equate 1 Equate 2 Equate 3 Equate 4 Equate 5 7 19:30 FREE

3 4 5 6

Notes:

1. Offset referenced to start of mainstreet green All Patterns

2. Use Plan Force-offs 1 2

3. Use Max Inhibit during coordination 6 8

(Saturday) 7

US 441 & Plymouth Sorrento Rd

Eagle ACTnx

Lagging Phases

Source Day

(Sunday) 1

(Monday) 2

Split 5

Split 6

Split 7

Split 8

Offset

Cycle

Split 4

Ped Clearance (sec)

Split 1

Split 2

Split 3

Dual Entry

Overlap

Flash

Speed  (mph)

Approach Grades (%)

Ped-button to curb (ft)

Ped-button to far curb (ft)

Ped Clearance to far curb (sec)

Coordination Pattern

Veh Traversed Distance (ft)

Ped Crossing Distance (ft)

Flash Don't Walk (sec)

Min Split (sec)

Recall/Memory

Detector Delay (sec)

Detector Switching

COORDINATION PLANS

ORANGE COUNTY TRAFFIC SIGNAL TIMING SHEET

BASIC TIMING

Phase

Direction

Min Green (sec)

Vehicle Gap (sec)

Max Green 1 (sec)

Max Green 2 (sec)

Yellow Change Interval (sec)

Red Clearance Interval (sec)

Walk (sec)

63

347



Intersection: Int. # 22 Node 247

Equipment: Date: 5/1/2018 Address:

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8

WB NB WBL EB SB

20 5 5 15 5

3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0

67 18 14 45 18

67 18 14 45 18

4.9 4.4 4.9 4.8 3.4

2.0 2.1 3.0 2.0 4.1

27 12 13 22 13

NL NL NL SF/LK NL

Y Y Y Y

Y R Y Y R

45 40 45 45 25

-1.0% -0.4% -1.0% -0.6% -2.3%

168 160 125 162 167

1/1/1-22 2/1/1-22 3/1/1-22 3/2/2-22

1/1/1 2/1/1 3/1/1 3/2/2 Day Time Pattern

150 140 150 140 1 0:01 FREE

0 0 0 0 1 9:45 2/1/1

130 120 108 100 1 19:00 FREE

0 0 0 0 2 0:01 FREE

20 20 42 40 2 6:30 1/1/1

20 18 18 18 2 9:30 2/1/1

110 102 90 82 2 14:00 3/1/1

0 0 0 0 2 18:00 2/1/1

20 20 42 40 2 20:00 FREE

64 66 43 51 7 0:01 FREE

0/0/0/0 0/0/0/0 0/0/0/0 0/0/0/0 7 9:30 2/1/1

Equate 1 Equate 2 Equate 3 Equate 4 Equate 5 7 19:30 FREE

3 4 5 6

Notes:

2 4

5 6 8

(Saturday) 7

US 441 & Orange Ave /T. L. Smith Rd

Siemens m50

Lagging Phases

Source Day

(Sunday) 1

(Monday) 2

Split 5

Split 6

Split 7

Split 8

Offset

Cycle

Split 4

Ped Clearance (sec)

Detector Switching

Split 1

Split 2

Split 3

Dual Entry

Overlap

Flash

Speed  (mph)

Approach Grades (%)

Ped-button to curb (ft)

Ped-button to far curb (ft)

Ped Clearance to far curb (sec)

Coordination Pattern

Veh Traversed Distance (ft)

Ped Crossing Distance (ft)

Walk (sec)

Flash Don't Walk (sec)

Min Split (sec)

Recall/Memory

Detector Delay (sec)

COORDINATION PLANS

ORANGE COUNTY TRAFFIC SIGNAL TIMING SHEET

BASIC TIMING

Phase

Direction

Min Green (sec)

Vehicle Gap (sec)

Max Green 1 (sec)

Max Green 2 (sec)

Yellow Change Interval (sec)

Red Clearance Interval (sec)

All Patterns1. Offset referenced to start of mainstreet green

2. Use Plan Force-offs

3. Use Max Inhibit during coordination

64

348



Intersection: Int. # 23 Node 624

Equipment: Date: 5/1/2018 Address:

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8

EBL WB SB NB WBL EB

5 20 20 5 5 20

3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0

30 77 40 17 21 77

45 55 50 17 30 60

4.8 4.8 4.2 3.4 4.8 4.8

5.2 2.2 4.4 4.3 3.4 2.3

7 7 7

35 34 17

15 49 29 49 14 32

NL MIN/LK NL NL NL MIN/LK

CDR 5 CD 5 CD 5

Y Y

R Y R R R Y

45 45 35 25 45 45

0.4% 0.1% -2.1% 0.4% 0.1% 0.4%

207 191 175 172 139 192

121 119 58

35 34 17

8 13 13

129 132 71

43 44 24

1/1/1-23 2/1/1-23 3/1/1-23 3/2/2-23 #REF!

1/1/1 2/1/1 3/1/1 3/2/2 Day Time Pattern

150 140 150 140 1 0:01 FREE

56 30 30 28 1 9:45 2/1/1

47 63 70 64 1 19:00 FREE

29 29 32 30 2 0:01 FREE

18 18 18 18 2 6:30 1/1/1

18 18 18 18 2 9:30 2/1/1

85 75 82 74 2 14:00 3/1/1

0 0 0 0 2 18:00 2/1/1

0 0 0 0 2 20:00 FREE

16 29 45 59 7 0:01 FREE

1/0/0/0 0/0/0/0 0/0/0/0 0/0/0/0 7 9:30 2/1/1

Equate 1 Equate 2 Equate 3 Equate 4 Equate 5 7 19:30 FREE

3 4 5 6

Notes:

1 2 3 4

5 6

2 1 3 4

5 6

(Saturday) 7

US 441 & SR 429 Connector Rd

Siemens m50

Lagging Phases

Source Day

(Sunday) 1

(Monday) 2

Split 5

Split 6

Split 7

Split 8

Offset

Cycle

Split 4

Ped Clearance (sec)

Detector Switching

Split 1

Split 2

Split 3

Dual Entry

Overlap

Flash

Speed  (mph)

Approach Grades (%)

Ped-button to curb (ft)

Ped-button to far curb (ft)

Ped Clearance to far curb (sec)

Coordination Pattern

Veh Traversed Distance (ft)

Ped Crossing Distance (ft)

Walk (sec)

Flash Don't Walk (sec)

Min Split (sec)

Recall/Memory

Detector Delay (sec)

COORDINATION PLANS

ORANGE COUNTY TRAFFIC SIGNAL TIMING SHEET

BASIC TIMING

Phase

Direction

Min Green (sec)

Vehicle Gap (sec)

Max Green 1 (sec)

Max Green 2 (sec)

Yellow Change Interval (sec)

Red Clearance Interval (sec)

Patterns 2/1/1, 3/1/1, & 3/2/21. Offset referenced to start of mainstreet green

2. Use Cycle Force-offs

3. Use Max II during coordination

Pattern 1/1/1

65

349



Intersection: Int. # 24 Node 672

Equipment: Date: 5/1/2018 Address:

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8

EBL WB NB WBL EB SB

5 17 5 5 17 5

3.0 3.0 3.0 4.0 3.0 3.0

25 77 25 25 77 25

30 50 50 30 50 50

4.9 4.8 4.0 4.8 4.9 4.1

3.7 2.0 3.0 2.8 2.0 3.1

7 7 7 7

14 37 17 37

14 28 51 13 31 52

NL MIN/LK NL NL MIN/LK NL

CD 5 CD 5

Y Y Y Y

4-SECTION Y R 4-SECTION Y R

45 45 35 45 45 35

-1.6% 0.5% 1.0% 0.5% -1.6% -1.0%

151 157 182 116 153 187

46 127 59 128

14 37 17 37

13 9 11 9

59 136 70 137

20 46 24 46

1/1/1-24 2/1/1-24 3/1/1-24 3/2/2-24 #REF!

1/1/1 2/1/1 3/1/1 3/2/2 Day Time Pattern

150 140 150 140 1 0:01 FREE

18 18 18 18 1 9:45 2/1/1

112 104 111 102 1 19:00 FREE

0 0 0 0 2 0:01 FREE

20 18 21 20 2 6:30 1/1/1

18 18 18 18 2 9:30 2/1/1

112 104 111 102 2 14:00 3/1/1

0 0 0 0 2 18:00 2/1/1

20 18 21 20 2 20:00 FREE

35 36 39 53 7 0:01 FREE

0/0/0/0 0/0/0/0 0/0/0/0 0/0/0/0 7 9:30 2/1/1

Equate 1 Equate 2 Equate 3 Equate 4 Equate 5 7 19:30 FREE

3 4 5 6

Notes:

1 2 4

5 6 8

Split 7

Cycle

(Monday) 2

(Saturday) 7

US 441 & Hermit Smith Rd

Siemens m50

Split 8

Offset

Lagging Phases

Source Day

(Sunday) 1

Split 2

Split 3

Split 4

Split 5

Max Green 2 (sec)

Ped Clearance (sec)

Min Split (sec)

Recall/Memory

Detector Delay (sec)

Detector Switching

Dual Entry

Overlap

Flash

Speed  (mph)

Phase

Direction

Min Green (sec)

Vehicle Gap (sec)

Max Green 1 (sec)

ORANGE COUNTY TRAFFIC SIGNAL TIMING SHEET

BASIC TIMING

5. Rail Road Preemption

Yellow Change Interval (sec)

Red Clearance Interval (sec)

Walk (sec)

Flash Don't Walk (sec)

Approach Grades (%)

Veh Traversed Distance (ft)

Ped Crossing Distance (ft)

Coordination Pattern

Split 6

Split 1

COORDINATION PLANS

Ped-button to curb (ft)

Ped-button to far curb (ft)

Ped Clearance to far curb (sec)

All Patterns1. Offset referenced to start of mainstreet green

2. Use Plan Force-offs

3. Use Max Inhibit during coordination

4. 4-section heads for PH 1 & PH 5 shall operate in protected/permissive mode

66

350



 

 

Appendix F 
Existing Conditions Analysis Worksheets 

  

351



HCM 6th Signalized Intersection Summary
3: Hermit Smith Rd & US 441

18008 Mid Florida Logistics Park  08/28/2018 Synchro 10 Report
Existing PM

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (veh/h) 22 1055 4 14 1566 103 46 11 38 63 3 11
Future Volume (veh/h) 22 1055 4 14 1566 103 46 11 38 63 3 11
Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Work Zone On Approach No No No No
Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1870 1796 1678 1678 1796 1796 1678 1678 1678 1678 1678 1678
Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 23 1088 4 14 1614 106 47 11 39 65 3 11
Peak Hour Factor 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97
Percent Heavy Veh, % 2 7 15 15 7 7 15 15 15 15 15 15
Cap, veh/h 296 2587 1078 370 2425 158 89 21 50 118 7 13
Arrive On Green 0.02 0.76 0.76 0.03 1.00 1.00 0.08 0.08 0.08 0.08 0.08 0.08
Sat Flow, veh/h 1781 3413 1422 1598 3252 212 648 252 605 898 90 160
Grp Volume(v), veh/h 23 1088 4 14 842 878 97 0 0 79 0 0
Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln 1781 1706 1422 1598 1706 1758 1506 0 0 1148 0 0
Q Serve(g_s), s 0.5 17.0 0.1 0.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.1 0.0 0.0
Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 0.5 17.0 0.1 0.3 0.0 0.0 9.3 0.0 0.0 10.4 0.0 0.0
Prop In Lane 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.12 0.48 0.40 0.82 0.14
Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 296 2587 1078 370 1272 1311 160 0 0 138 0 0
V/C Ratio(X) 0.08 0.42 0.00 0.04 0.66 0.67 0.61 0.00 0.00 0.57 0.00 0.00
Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 371 2587 1078 458 1272 1311 175 0 0 150 0 0
HCM Platoon Ratio 1.00 1.00 1.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Upstream Filter(I) 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.66 0.66 0.66 1.00 0.00 0.00 1.00 0.00 0.00
Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 4.2 6.4 4.4 5.1 0.0 0.0 67.4 0.0 0.0 67.9 0.0 0.0
Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 0.1 0.5 0.0 0.0 1.8 1.8 5.1 0.0 0.0 4.3 0.0 0.0
Initial Q Delay(d3),s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
%ile BackOfQ(95%),veh/ln 0.3 8.7 0.0 0.2 1.1 1.2 7.0 0.0 0.0 5.7 0.0 0.0
Unsig. Movement Delay, s/veh
LnGrp Delay(d),s/veh 4.3 6.9 4.4 5.1 1.8 1.8 72.5 0.0 0.0 72.2 0.0 0.0
LnGrp LOS A A A A A A E A A E A A
Approach Vol, veh/h 1115 1734 97 79
Approach Delay, s/veh 6.9 1.8 72.5 72.2
Approach LOS A A E E

Timer - Assigned Phs 1 2 4 5 6 8
Phs Duration (G+Y+Rc), s 11.7 118.7 19.6 9.8 120.6 19.6
Change Period (Y+Rc), s * 8.6 * 6.9 * 7.2 * 7.6 6.9 7.2
Max Green Setting (Gmax), s * 9.4 * 1E2 * 14 * 10 104.1 13.8
Max Q Clear Time (g_c+I1), s 2.5 2.0 11.3 2.3 19.0 12.4
Green Ext Time (p_c), s 0.0 18.7 0.0 0.0 8.6 0.0

Intersection Summary
HCM 6th Ctrl Delay 7.8
HCM 6th LOS A

Notes
* HCM 6th computational engine requires equal clearance times for the phases crossing the barrier.

352



HCM 6th Signalized Intersection Summary
7: US 441 & SR 429 Connector Rd

18008 Mid Florida Logistics Park  08/28/2018 Synchro 10 Report
Existing PM

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (veh/h) 389 770 0 1 1077 37 2 2 2 23 2 594
Future Volume (veh/h) 389 770 0 1 1077 37 2 2 2 23 2 594
Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Work Zone On Approach No No No No
Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1870 1796 1870 1870 1796 1870 1870 1870 1870 1870 1870 1796
Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 418 828 0 1 1158 40 2 2 2 26 0 478
Peak Hour Factor 0.93 0.93 0.93 0.93 0.93 0.93 0.93 0.93 0.93 0.93 0.93 0.93
Percent Heavy Veh, % 2 7 2 2 7 2 2 2 2 2 2 7
Cap, veh/h 454 2132 990 2 1647 765 4 4 4 556 0 875
Arrive On Green 0.26 1.00 0.00 0.00 0.97 0.97 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.16 0.00 0.16
Sat Flow, veh/h 3456 3413 1585 1781 3413 1585 579 579 579 3563 0 3045
Grp Volume(v), veh/h 418 828 0 1 1158 40 6 0 0 26 0 478
Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln1728 1706 1585 1781 1706 1585 1737 0 0 1781 0 1522
Q Serve(g_s), s 17.6 0.0 0.0 0.1 5.5 0.1 0.5 0.0 0.0 0.9 0.0 19.9
Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 17.6 0.0 0.0 0.1 5.5 0.1 0.5 0.0 0.0 0.9 0.0 19.9
Prop In Lane 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.33 0.33 1.00 1.00
Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 454 2132 990 2 1647 765 13 0 0 556 0 875
V/C Ratio(X) 0.92 0.39 0.00 0.41 0.70 0.05 0.47 0.00 0.00 0.05 0.00 0.55
Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 461 2132 990 116 1647 765 119 0 0 556 0 875
HCM Platoon Ratio 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Upstream Filter(I) 0.92 0.92 0.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.00 0.00 1.00 0.00 1.00
Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 54.5 0.0 0.0 74.7 1.4 1.4 74.2 0.0 0.0 53.8 0.0 45.2
Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 22.3 0.5 0.0 85.3 2.5 0.1 24.3 0.0 0.0 0.2 0.0 2.4
Initial Q Delay(d3),s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
%ile BackOfQ(95%),veh/ln12.3 0.3 0.0 0.2 2.3 0.1 0.6 0.0 0.0 0.8 0.0 12.5
Unsig. Movement Delay, s/veh
LnGrp Delay(d),s/veh 76.8 0.5 0.0 160.0 4.0 1.5 98.4 0.0 0.0 54.0 0.0 47.6
LnGrp LOS E A A F A A F A A D A D
Approach Vol, veh/h 1246 1199 6 504
Approach Delay, s/veh 26.1 4.0 98.4 48.0
Approach LOS C A F D

Timer - Assigned Phs 1 2 4 5 6 8
Phs Duration (G+Y+Rc), s8.4 100.8 8.8 29.7 79.5 32.0
Change Period (Y+Rc), s* 8.2 * 7.1 * 7.7 10.0 * 7.1 8.6
Max Green Setting (Gmax), s* 9.8 * 75 * 10 20.0 * 63 23.4
Max Q Clear Time (g_c+I1), s2.1 2.0 2.5 19.6 7.5 21.9
Green Ext Time (p_c), s 0.0 6.3 0.0 0.1 10.4 0.4

Intersection Summary
HCM 6th Ctrl Delay 21.0
HCM 6th LOS C

Notes
User approved volume balancing among the lanes for turning movement.
* HCM 6th computational engine requires equal clearance times for the phases crossing the barrier.

353



HCM 6th Signalized Intersection Summary
6: Orange Ave & US 441

18008 Mid Florida Logistics Park  08/28/2018 Synchro 10 Report
Existing PM

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (veh/h) 0 731 103 19 935 0 173 0 63 0 0 0
Future Volume (veh/h) 0 731 103 19 935 0 173 0 63 0 0 0
Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Work Zone On Approach No No No No
Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1870 1796 1796 1796 1796 1796 1870 1870 1870 1870 1870 1870
Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 0 778 110 20 995 0 184 0 67 0 0 0
Peak Hour Factor 0.94 0.94 0.94 0.94 0.94 0.94 0.94 0.94 0.94 0.94 0.94 0.94
Percent Heavy Veh, % 2 7 7 7 7 7 2 2 2 2 2 2
Cap, veh/h 48 2038 909 522 2448 0 242 0 73 0 351 0
Arrive On Green 0.00 1.00 1.00 0.07 0.72 0.00 0.19 0.00 0.19 0.00 0.00 0.00
Sat Flow, veh/h 566 3413 1522 1711 3503 0 1069 0 389 0 1870 0
Grp Volume(v), veh/h 0 778 110 20 995 0 251 0 0 0 0 0
Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln 566 1706 1522 1711 1706 0 1459 0 0 0 1870 0
Q Serve(g_s), s 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.6 17.5 0.0 25.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.6 17.5 0.0 25.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Prop In Lane 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.00 0.73 0.27 0.00 0.00
Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 48 2038 909 522 2448 0 315 0 0 0 351 0
V/C Ratio(X) 0.00 0.38 0.12 0.04 0.41 0.00 0.80 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 48 2038 909 522 2448 0 387 0 0 0 430 0
HCM Platoon Ratio 2.00 2.00 2.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Upstream Filter(I) 0.00 0.92 0.92 0.89 0.89 0.00 1.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 7.9 8.5 0.0 59.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 0.0 0.5 0.3 0.1 0.4 0.0 9.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Initial Q Delay(d3),s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
%ile BackOfQ(95%),veh/ln 0.0 0.3 0.1 0.4 9.7 0.0 15.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Unsig. Movement Delay, s/veh
LnGrp Delay(d),s/veh 0.0 0.5 0.3 8.0 8.9 0.0 68.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
LnGrp LOS A A A A A A E A A A A A
Approach Vol, veh/h 888 1015 251 0
Approach Delay, s/veh 0.5 8.9 68.9 0.0
Approach LOS A A E

Timer - Assigned Phs 2 4 5 6 8
Phs Duration (G+Y+Rc), s 114.4 35.6 18.0 96.4 35.6
Change Period (Y+Rc), s * 6.8 * 7.5 7.9 6.8 7.5
Max Green Setting (Gmax), s * 1E2 * 36 10.1 83.2 34.5
Max Q Clear Time (g_c+I1), s 19.5 27.3 2.6 2.0 0.0
Green Ext Time (p_c), s 8.2 0.8 0.0 6.2 0.0

Intersection Summary
HCM 6th Ctrl Delay 12.4
HCM 6th LOS B

Notes
* HCM 6th computational engine requires equal clearance times for the phases crossing the barrier.

354



HCM 6th Signalized Intersection Summary
17: US 441 & Plymouth Sorrento

18008 Mid Florida Logistics Park  08/28/2018 Synchro 10 Report
Existing PM

Movement EBL EBT WBT WBR SBL SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (veh/h) 92 709 896 203 154 33
Future Volume (veh/h) 92 709 896 203 154 33
Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0 0 0 0 0
Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Work Zone On Approach No No No
Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1870 1870 1870 1870 1870 1870
Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 95 731 924 209 159 34
Peak Hour Factor 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97
Percent Heavy Veh, % 2 2 2 2 2 2
Cap, veh/h 401 2878 2096 474 181 161
Arrive On Green 0.03 0.81 0.73 0.73 0.10 0.10
Sat Flow, veh/h 1781 3647 2973 651 1781 1585
Grp Volume(v), veh/h 95 731 570 563 159 34
Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln 1781 1777 1777 1753 1781 1585
Q Serve(g_s), s 2.0 7.6 19.9 20.0 13.6 3.1
Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 2.0 7.6 19.9 20.0 13.6 3.1
Prop In Lane 1.00 0.37 1.00 1.00
Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 401 2878 1293 1276 181 161
V/C Ratio(X) 0.24 0.25 0.44 0.44 0.88 0.21
Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 484 2878 1293 1276 207 184
HCM Platoon Ratio 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Upstream Filter(I) 0.91 0.91 0.87 0.87 1.00 1.00
Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 6.2 3.5 8.4 8.5 68.7 63.9
Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 0.3 0.2 1.0 1.0 29.6 0.6
Initial Q Delay(d3),s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
%ile BackOfQ(95%),veh/ln 1.1 3.6 11.3 11.2 12.3 5.1
Unsig. Movement Delay, s/veh
LnGrp Delay(d),s/veh 6.4 3.7 9.4 9.4 98.2 64.6
LnGrp LOS A A A A F E
Approach Vol, veh/h 826 1133 193
Approach Delay, s/veh 4.0 9.4 92.3
Approach LOS A A F

Timer - Assigned Phs 4 6 7 8
Phs Duration (G+Y+Rc), s 132.4 22.6 12.7 119.7
Change Period (Y+Rc), s 6.9 6.8 7.8 * 6.9
Max Green Setting (Gmax), s 123.1 18.0 12.2 * 1E2
Max Q Clear Time (g_c+I1), s 9.6 15.6 4.0 22.0
Green Ext Time (p_c), s 4.9 0.1 0.1 8.9

Intersection Summary
HCM 6th Ctrl Delay 14.8
HCM 6th LOS B

Notes
User approved pedestrian interval to be less than phase max green.
* HCM 6th computational engine requires equal clearance times for the phases crossing the barrier.

355



HCM 6th Signalized Intersection Summary
12: US 441 & Boy Scout Blvd

18008 Mid Florida Logistics Park  08/28/2018 Synchro 10 Report
Existing PM

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (veh/h) 9 828 20 145 1046 100 36 61 145 58 57 8
Future Volume (veh/h) 9 828 20 145 1046 100 36 61 145 58 57 8
Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Work Zone On Approach No No No No
Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1870 1826 1826 1826 1826 1826 1826 1826 1826 1826 1826 1826
Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 10 881 21 154 1113 106 38 65 154 62 61 9
Peak Hour Factor 0.94 0.94 0.94 0.94 0.94 0.94 0.94 0.94 0.94 0.94 0.94 0.94
Percent Heavy Veh, % 2 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5
Cap, veh/h 316 2213 53 435 2338 222 59 82 169 97 86 11
Arrive On Green 0.64 0.64 0.64 0.04 0.73 0.73 0.18 0.18 0.18 0.18 0.18 0.18
Sat Flow, veh/h 458 3463 83 1739 3201 305 178 463 958 351 489 61
Grp Volume(v), veh/h 10 441 461 154 603 616 257 0 0 132 0 0
Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln 458 1735 1811 1739 1735 1771 1599 0 0 901 0 0
Q Serve(g_s), s 1.4 18.5 18.5 4.4 21.5 21.6 0.6 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 9.3 18.5 18.5 4.4 21.5 21.6 23.6 0.0 0.0 23.0 0.0 0.0
Prop In Lane 1.00 0.05 1.00 0.17 0.15 0.60 0.47 0.07
Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 316 1108 1157 435 1267 1293 310 0 0 194 0 0
V/C Ratio(X) 0.03 0.40 0.40 0.35 0.48 0.48 0.83 0.00 0.00 0.68 0.00 0.00
Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 316 1108 1157 497 1267 1293 380 0 0 260 0 0
HCM Platoon Ratio 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Upstream Filter(I) 0.94 0.94 0.94 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.00 0.00 1.00 0.00 0.00
Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 13.1 13.1 13.1 9.5 8.4 8.4 60.5 0.0 0.0 59.1 0.0 0.0
Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 0.2 1.0 1.0 0.5 1.3 1.3 12.1 0.0 0.0 4.3 0.0 0.0
Initial Q Delay(d3),s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
%ile BackOfQ(95%),veh/ln0.3 11.0 11.4 2.9 12.1 12.2 16.0 0.0 0.0 8.9 0.0 0.0
Unsig. Movement Delay, s/veh
LnGrp Delay(d),s/veh 13.3 14.1 14.1 10.0 9.6 9.6 72.6 0.0 0.0 63.4 0.0 0.0
LnGrp LOS B B B A A A E A A E A A
Approach Vol, veh/h 912 1373 257 132
Approach Delay, s/veh 14.1 9.7 72.6 63.4
Approach LOS B A E E

Timer - Assigned Phs 1 2 4 6 8
Phs Duration (G+Y+Rc), s13.7 103.1 33.3 116.7 33.3
Change Period (Y+Rc), s* 7.1 7.2 6.8 * 7.2 * 6.8
Max Green Setting (Gmax), s* 12 83.8 33.2 * 1E2 * 34
Max Q Clear Time (g_c+I1), s6.4 20.5 25.6 23.6 25.0
Green Ext Time (p_c), s 0.2 5.7 0.9 10.0 0.4

Intersection Summary
HCM 6th Ctrl Delay 19.9
HCM 6th LOS B

Notes
* HCM 6th computational engine requires equal clearance times for the phases crossing the barrier.

356



HCM 6th TWSC
15: Hermit Smith Rd & General Electric Rd

18008 Mid Florida Logistics Park  08/28/2018 Synchro 10 Report
Existing PM

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 6.2

Movement WBL WBR NBT NBR SBL SBT
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 7 65 17 21 41 6
Future Vol, veh/h 7 65 17 21 41 6
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - 0 - - 0
Grade, % 0 - 0 - - 0
Peak Hour Factor 69 69 69 69 69 69
Heavy Vehicles, % 20 20 20 20 20 20
Mvmt Flow 10 94 25 30 59 9
 

Major/Minor Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 167 40 0 0 55 0
          Stage 1 40 - - - - -
          Stage 2 127 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.6 6.4 - - 4.3 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.6 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.6 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.68 3.48 - - 2.38 -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 783 982 - - 1442 -
          Stage 1 938 - - - - -
          Stage 2 856 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 751 982 - - 1442 -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 751 - - - - -
          Stage 1 900 - - - - -
          Stage 2 856 - - - - -
 

Approach WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 9.2 0 6.6
HCM LOS A
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBT NBRWBLn1 SBL SBT
Capacity (veh/h) - - 953 1442 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - 0.109 0.041 -
HCM Control Delay (s) - - 9.2 7.6 0
HCM Lane LOS - - A A A
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - - 0.4 0.1 -

357



HCM 6th TWSC
16: Orange Ave & General Electric Rd

18008 Mid Florida Logistics Park  08/28/2018 Synchro 10 Report
Existing PM

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 2.9

Movement EBL EBR NBL NBT SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 27 68 55 217 136 12
Future Vol, veh/h 27 68 55 217 136 12
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 91 91 91 91 91 91
Heavy Vehicles, % 20 20 20 2 2 20
Mvmt Flow 30 75 60 238 149 13
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 514 156 162 0 - 0
          Stage 1 156 - - - - -
          Stage 2 358 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.6 6.4 4.3 - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.6 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.6 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.68 3.48 2.38 - - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 490 845 1314 - - -
          Stage 1 830 - - - - -
          Stage 2 669 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 464 845 1314 - - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 464 - - - - -
          Stage 1 786 - - - - -
          Stage 2 669 - - - - -
 

Approach EB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 11.2 1.6 0
HCM LOS B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT EBLn1 SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 1314 - 685 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.046 - 0.152 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 7.9 0 11.2 - -
HCM Lane LOS A A B - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.1 - 0.5 - -

358



 

 

Appendix G 
Trip Generation Sheets 

  

359



360



361



 

 

Appendix H 
OUATS Model 

  

362



 (Licensed to Traffic & Mobility Consultants, LLC)

C:\FSUTMS\D5\OUATS.2040\Base\CF2025\P18008\Output\HRLDXY_C25.NET Fri 24 Aug 2018 

Project Distribution Percentages (TAZ=1091)

OUATS YEAR 2040 LRTP - CF 2025 ANC-Mid-Florida Logistics Park

Legend:

 1 lane per direction

 2 lanes per direction

 3 lanes per direction

 4 lanes per direction

 5 lanes per direction

 6+ lanes per direction

 Centroid connector

2

1

1

2

1

1

1

1

1

1

2

8

4

4

5
0

50

8

6

6

1

1

1

3

3

1
2

1
2

24

26

18

20

2

17

2

1

2

2

1

16

1

1

1

1

141 14 14 62

1

1

11

1

4

11

3

1
2

1
4

9

2 13

15

13

13

1
5

27

13

27

27

1

20

6

6

6

6

2

1
5

12

12

1
2

1
2

54

14

7
5

1
0

9

1

1

27

1
2

1
2

1
2

15

8

8

8
8

888

3

1

1
1
1

1
1

1

1

2

5

2

5

5

8
8

8

8
8

8
77

1

88

7

1

8

1

1
1

2
2

6 6 62 2
2

2

2

2

2 444444

25

1
2

9

6

6

14

1
0

1

1

2

8

8

77

1
1

1
1

1 1 1 1
7

8

7

5

5
13

13

1
3

1
3

1
3

9
9

9

9
2

7

2
2

8
8

8
7

7
7 7

13

13

1
3

1
7

9

9 99

1031

1
7

9

2
2

9

2

2

2

2

2
2

2

2

2

2

755
0

441

TOLL

451

363



 

 

Appendix I 
Background & Projected Conditions Analysis Worksheets 

  

364



HCM 6th Signalized Intersection Summary
3: Hermit Smith Rd & US 441

18008 Mid Florida Logistics Park  08/28/2018 Synchro 10 Report
Projected Buildout PM

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (veh/h) 28 1330 15 53 1887 124 127 39 175 222 17 40
Future Volume (veh/h) 28 1330 15 53 1887 124 127 39 175 222 17 40
Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Work Zone On Approach No No No No
Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1870 1796 1678 1678 1796 1796 1678 1678 1678 1678 1678 1678
Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 29 1371 15 55 1945 128 131 40 180 229 18 41
Peak Hour Factor 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97
Percent Heavy Veh, % 2 7 15 15 7 7 15 15 15 15 15 15
Cap, veh/h 236 2498 1041 289 2381 155 86 16 73 106 5 11
Arrive On Green 0.02 0.73 0.73 0.06 1.00 1.00 0.09 0.09 0.09 0.09 0.09 0.09
Sat Flow, veh/h 1781 3413 1422 1598 3253 212 572 175 786 671 53 120
Grp Volume(v), veh/h 29 1371 15 55 1010 1063 351 0 0 288 0 0
Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln 1781 1706 1422 1598 1706 1758 1532 0 0 843 0 0
Q Serve(g_s), s 0.6 27.0 0.4 1.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 0.6 27.0 0.4 1.3 0.0 0.0 14.0 0.0 0.0 14.0 0.0 0.0
Prop In Lane 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.12 0.37 0.51 0.80 0.14
Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 236 2498 1041 289 1249 1287 176 0 0 122 0 0
V/C Ratio(X) 0.12 0.55 0.01 0.19 0.81 0.83 2.00 0.00 0.00 2.36 0.00 0.00
Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 306 2498 1041 352 1249 1287 176 0 0 122 0 0
HCM Platoon Ratio 1.00 1.00 1.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Upstream Filter(I) 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.18 0.18 0.18 1.00 0.00 0.00 1.00 0.00 0.00
Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 4.6 9.0 5.4 7.0 0.0 0.0 69.3 0.0 0.0 70.5 0.0 0.0
Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 0.2 0.9 0.0 0.1 1.1 1.2 467.4 0.0 0.0 638.6 0.0 0.0
Initial Q Delay(d3),s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
%ile BackOfQ(95%),veh/ln 0.4 13.3 0.2 0.6 0.7 0.8 46.5 0.0 0.0 42.3 0.0 0.0
Unsig. Movement Delay, s/veh
LnGrp Delay(d),s/veh 4.8 9.9 5.5 7.1 1.1 1.2 536.7 0.0 0.0 709.1 0.0 0.0
LnGrp LOS A A A A A A F A A F A A
Approach Vol, veh/h 1415 2128 351 288
Approach Delay, s/veh 9.7 1.3 536.7 709.1
Approach LOS A A F F

Timer - Assigned Phs 1 2 4 5 6 8
Phs Duration (G+Y+Rc), s 12.1 116.7 21.2 12.1 116.7 21.2
Change Period (Y+Rc), s * 8.6 * 6.9 * 7.2 * 7.6 6.9 7.2
Max Green Setting (Gmax), s * 9.4 * 1E2 * 14 * 10 104.1 13.8
Max Q Clear Time (g_c+I1), s 2.6 2.0 16.0 3.3 29.0 16.0
Green Ext Time (p_c), s 0.0 32.0 0.0 0.1 12.8 0.0

Intersection Summary
HCM 6th Ctrl Delay 97.8
HCM 6th LOS F

Notes
* HCM 6th computational engine requires equal clearance times for the phases crossing the barrier.

365



HCM 6th Signalized Intersection Summary
6: Orange Ave & US 441

18008 Mid Florida Logistics Park  08/28/2018 Synchro 10 Report
Projected Buildout PM

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (veh/h) 0 1073 148 28 1379 0 277 0 107 0 0 0
Future Volume (veh/h) 0 1073 148 28 1379 0 277 0 107 0 0 0
Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Work Zone On Approach No No No No
Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1870 1796 1796 1796 1796 1796 1870 1870 1870 1870 1870 1870
Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 0 1141 157 30 1467 0 295 0 114 0 0 0
Peak Hour Factor 0.94 0.94 0.94 0.94 0.94 0.94 0.94 0.94 0.94 0.94 0.94 0.94
Percent Heavy Veh, % 2 7 7 7 7 7 2 2 2 2 2 2
Cap, veh/h 48 3263 1455 548 3672 0 291 0 96 0 443 0
Arrive On Green 0.00 1.00 1.00 0.07 1.00 0.00 0.24 0.00 0.24 0.00 0.00 0.00
Sat Flow, veh/h 361 3413 1522 1711 3503 0 1053 0 407 0 1870 0
Grp Volume(v), veh/h 0 1141 157 30 1467 0 409 0 0 0 0 0
Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln 361 1706 1522 1711 1706 0 1461 0 0 0 1870 0
Q Serve(g_s), s 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 35.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 35.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Prop In Lane 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.00 0.72 0.28 0.00 0.00
Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 48 3263 1455 548 3672 0 387 0 0 0 443 0
V/C Ratio(X) 0.00 0.35 0.11 0.05 0.40 0.00 1.06 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 48 3263 1455 548 3672 0 387 0 0 0 443 0
HCM Platoon Ratio 2.00 2.00 2.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Upstream Filter(I) 0.00 0.82 0.82 0.79 0.79 0.00 1.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 59.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 0.0 0.2 0.1 0.2 0.3 0.0 61.6 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Initial Q Delay(d3),s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
%ile BackOfQ(95%),veh/ln0.0 0.2 0.1 0.0 0.2 0.0 30.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Unsig. Movement Delay, s/veh
LnGrp Delay(d),s/veh 0.0 0.2 0.1 0.2 0.3 0.0 120.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
LnGrp LOS A A A A A A F A A A A A
Approach Vol, veh/h 1298 1497 409 0
Approach Delay, s/veh 0.2 0.3 120.7 0.0
Approach LOS A A F

Timer - Assigned Phs 2 4 5 6 8
Phs Duration (G+Y+Rc), s 170.0 43.0 18.0 152.0 43.0
Change Period (Y+Rc), s * 6.8 * 7.5 7.9 6.8 7.5
Max Green Setting (Gmax), s * 1E2 * 36 10.1 83.2 34.5
Max Q Clear Time (g_c+I1), s 2.0 37.5 2.0 2.0 0.0
Green Ext Time (p_c), s 16.2 0.0 0.0 11.1 0.0

Intersection Summary
HCM 6th Ctrl Delay 15.6
HCM 6th LOS B

Notes
* HCM 6th computational engine requires equal clearance times for the phases crossing the barrier.

366



HCM 6th Signalized Intersection Summary
7: US 441 & SR 429 Connector Rd

18008 Mid Florida Logistics Park  08/28/2018 Synchro 10 Report
Projected Buildout PM

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (veh/h) 580 1035 0 1 1515 52 2 2 2 23 2 621
Future Volume (veh/h) 580 1035 0 1 1515 52 2 2 2 23 2 621
Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Work Zone On Approach No No No No
Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1870 1796 1870 1870 1796 1870 1870 1870 1870 1870 1870 1796
Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 624 1113 0 1 1629 56 2 2 2 26 0 507
Peak Hour Factor 0.93 0.93 0.93 0.93 0.93 0.93 0.93 0.93 0.93 0.93 0.93 0.93
Percent Heavy Veh, % 2 7 2 2 7 2 2 2 2 2 2 7
Cap, veh/h 461 2132 990 2 1640 762 4 4 4 556 0 881
Arrive On Green 0.27 1.00 0.00 0.00 0.96 0.96 0.01 0.01 0.01 0.16 0.00 0.16
Sat Flow, veh/h 3456 3413 1585 1781 3413 1585 579 579 579 3563 0 3045
Grp Volume(v), veh/h 624 1113 0 1 1629 56 6 0 0 26 0 507
Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln1728 1706 1585 1781 1706 1585 1737 0 0 1781 0 1522
Q Serve(g_s), s 20.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 61.1 0.2 0.5 0.0 0.0 0.9 0.0 21.3
Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 20.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 61.1 0.2 0.5 0.0 0.0 0.9 0.0 21.3
Prop In Lane 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.33 0.33 1.00 1.00
Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 461 2132 990 2 1640 762 13 0 0 556 0 881
V/C Ratio(X) 1.35 0.52 0.00 0.41 0.99 0.07 0.47 0.00 0.00 0.05 0.00 0.58
Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 461 2132 990 116 1640 762 119 0 0 556 0 881
HCM Platoon Ratio 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Upstream Filter(I) 0.81 0.81 0.00 0.73 0.73 0.73 1.00 0.00 0.00 1.00 0.00 1.00
Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 55.0 0.0 0.0 74.7 2.7 1.5 74.2 0.0 0.0 53.8 0.0 45.4
Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 170.7 0.7 0.0 65.9 17.4 0.1 24.3 0.0 0.0 0.2 0.0 2.7
Initial Q Delay(d3),s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
%ile BackOfQ(95%),veh/ln27.8 0.4 0.0 0.1 8.3 0.2 0.6 0.0 0.0 0.8 0.0 13.2
Unsig. Movement Delay, s/veh
LnGrp Delay(d),s/veh 225.7 0.7 0.0 140.6 20.1 1.7 98.4 0.0 0.0 54.0 0.0 48.2
LnGrp LOS F A A F C A F A A D A D
Approach Vol, veh/h 1737 1686 6 533
Approach Delay, s/veh 81.6 19.6 98.4 48.5
Approach LOS F B F D

Timer - Assigned Phs 1 2 4 5 6 8
Phs Duration (G+Y+Rc), s8.4 100.8 8.8 30.0 79.2 32.0
Change Period (Y+Rc), s* 8.2 * 7.1 * 7.7 10.0 * 7.1 8.6
Max Green Setting (Gmax), s* 9.8 * 75 * 10 20.0 * 63 23.4
Max Q Clear Time (g_c+I1), s2.1 2.0 2.5 22.0 63.1 23.3
Green Ext Time (p_c), s 0.0 9.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Intersection Summary
HCM 6th Ctrl Delay 50.8
HCM 6th LOS D

Notes
User approved pedestrian interval to be less than phase max green.
User approved volume balancing among the lanes for turning movement.
* HCM 6th computational engine requires equal clearance times for the phases crossing the barrier.

367



HCM 6th Signalized Intersection Summary
12: US 441 & Boy Scout Blvd

18008 Mid Florida Logistics Park  08/28/2018 Synchro 10 Report
Projected Buildout PM

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (veh/h) 14 903 21 160 1092 104 49 83 222 88 87 13
Future Volume (veh/h) 14 903 21 160 1092 104 49 83 222 88 87 13
Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Work Zone On Approach No No No No
Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1870 1826 1826 1826 1826 1826 1826 1826 1826 1826 1826 1826
Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 15 961 22 170 1162 111 52 88 236 94 93 14
Peak Hour Factor 0.94 0.94 0.94 0.94 0.94 0.94 0.94 0.94 0.94 0.94 0.94 0.94
Percent Heavy Veh, % 2 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5
Cap, veh/h 371 2628 60 478 2695 257 67 93 223 95 84 11
Arrive On Green 0.76 0.76 0.76 0.04 0.84 0.84 0.22 0.22 0.22 0.22 0.22 0.22
Sat Flow, veh/h 435 3467 79 1739 3200 305 178 415 999 267 378 48
Grp Volume(v), veh/h 15 481 502 170 629 644 376 0 0 201 0 0
Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln 435 1735 1812 1739 1735 1771 1592 0 0 693 0 0
Q Serve(g_s), s 1.4 13.9 13.9 3.1 13.5 13.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 3.8 13.9 13.9 3.1 13.5 13.5 33.5 0.0 0.0 33.5 0.0 0.0
Prop In Lane 1.00 0.04 1.00 0.17 0.14 0.63 0.47 0.07
Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 371 1315 1373 478 1461 1491 383 0 0 190 0 0
V/C Ratio(X) 0.04 0.37 0.37 0.36 0.43 0.43 0.98 0.00 0.00 1.06 0.00 0.00
Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 371 1315 1373 553 1461 1491 383 0 0 190 0 0
HCM Platoon Ratio 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Upstream Filter(I) 0.75 0.75 0.75 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.00 0.00 1.00 0.00 0.00
Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 5.2 6.1 6.1 4.5 2.9 2.9 59.1 0.0 0.0 59.9 0.0 0.0
Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 0.2 0.6 0.6 0.4 0.9 0.9 41.1 0.0 0.0 81.5 0.0 0.0
Initial Q Delay(d3),s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
%ile BackOfQ(95%),veh/ln0.2 7.2 7.4 1.6 6.1 6.2 26.0 0.0 0.0 17.8 0.0 0.0
Unsig. Movement Delay, s/veh
LnGrp Delay(d),s/veh 5.3 6.7 6.6 4.9 3.9 3.9 100.1 0.0 0.0 141.4 0.0 0.0
LnGrp LOS A A A A A A F A A F A A
Approach Vol, veh/h 998 1443 376 201
Approach Delay, s/veh 6.6 4.0 100.1 141.4
Approach LOS A A F F

Timer - Assigned Phs 1 2 4 6 8
Phs Duration (G+Y+Rc), s12.5 121.7 40.3 134.2 40.3
Change Period (Y+Rc), s* 7.1 7.2 6.8 * 7.2 * 6.8
Max Green Setting (Gmax), s* 12 83.8 33.2 * 1E2 * 34
Max Q Clear Time (g_c+I1), s5.1 15.9 35.5 15.5 35.5
Green Ext Time (p_c), s 0.2 6.6 0.0 10.8 0.0

Intersection Summary
HCM 6th Ctrl Delay 26.0
HCM 6th LOS C

Notes
* HCM 6th computational engine requires equal clearance times for the phases crossing the barrier.

368



HCM 6th TWSC
15: Hermit Smith Rd & General Electric Rd

18008 Mid Florida Logistics Park  08/28/2018 Synchro 10 Report
Projected Buildout PM

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 6.4

Movement WBL WBR NBT NBR SBL SBT
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 7 145 70 21 72 27
Future Vol, veh/h 7 145 70 21 72 27
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - 0 - - 0
Grade, % 0 - 0 - - 0
Peak Hour Factor 69 69 69 69 69 69
Heavy Vehicles, % 20 20 20 20 20 20
Mvmt Flow 10 210 101 30 104 39
 

Major/Minor Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 363 116 0 0 131 0
          Stage 1 116 - - - - -
          Stage 2 247 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.6 6.4 - - 4.3 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.6 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.6 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.68 3.48 - - 2.38 -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 602 890 - - 1350 -
          Stage 1 866 - - - - -
          Stage 2 754 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 554 890 - - 1350 -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 554 - - - - -
          Stage 1 798 - - - - -
          Stage 2 754 - - - - -
 

Approach WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 10.6 0 5.7
HCM LOS B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBT NBRWBLn1 SBL SBT
Capacity (veh/h) - - 866 1350 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - 0.254 0.077 -
HCM Control Delay (s) - - 10.6 7.9 0
HCM Lane LOS - - B A A
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - - 1 0.3 -

369



HCM 6th TWSC
16: Orange Ave & General Electric Rd

18008 Mid Florida Logistics Park  08/28/2018 Synchro 10 Report
Projected Buildout PM

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 3.1

Movement EBL EBR NBL NBT SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 36 103 69 356 229 15
Future Vol, veh/h 36 103 69 356 229 15
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 91 91 91 91 91 91
Heavy Vehicles, % 20 20 20 10 10 20
Mvmt Flow 40 113 76 391 252 16
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 803 260 268 0 - 0
          Stage 1 260 - - - - -
          Stage 2 543 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.6 6.4 4.3 - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.6 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.6 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.68 3.48 2.38 - - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 329 737 1198 - - -
          Stage 1 743 - - - - -
          Stage 2 548 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 302 737 1198 - - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 302 - - - - -
          Stage 1 683 - - - - -
          Stage 2 548 - - - - -
 

Approach EB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 14.3 1.3 0
HCM LOS B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT EBLn1 SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 1198 - 537 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.063 - 0.284 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 8.2 0 14.3 - -
HCM Lane LOS A A B - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.2 - 1.2 - -

370



HCM 6th Signalized Intersection Summary
17: US 441 & Plymouth Sorrento

18008 Mid Florida Logistics Park  08/28/2018 Synchro 10 Report
Projected Buildout PM

Movement EBL EBT WBT WBR SBL SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (veh/h) 141 1054 1117 251 289 65
Future Volume (veh/h) 141 1054 1117 251 289 65
Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0 0 0 0 0
Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Work Zone On Approach No No No
Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1870 1870 1870 1870 1870 1870
Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 145 1087 1152 259 298 67
Peak Hour Factor 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97
Percent Heavy Veh, % 2 2 2 2 2 2
Cap, veh/h 306 2827 2049 457 207 184
Arrive On Green 0.04 0.80 0.71 0.71 0.12 0.12
Sat Flow, veh/h 1781 3647 2981 644 1781 1585
Grp Volume(v), veh/h 145 1087 706 705 298 67
Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln 1781 1777 1777 1754 1781 1585
Q Serve(g_s), s 3.3 14.0 29.6 30.3 18.0 6.0
Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 3.3 14.0 29.6 30.3 18.0 6.0
Prop In Lane 1.00 0.37 1.00 1.00
Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 306 2827 1261 1245 207 184
V/C Ratio(X) 0.47 0.38 0.56 0.57 1.44 0.36
Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 383 2827 1261 1245 207 184
HCM Platoon Ratio 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Upstream Filter(I) 0.76 0.76 0.82 0.82 1.00 1.00
Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 10.4 4.7 10.8 10.9 68.5 63.2
Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 0.9 0.3 1.5 1.5 223.5 1.2
Initial Q Delay(d3),s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
%ile BackOfQ(95%),veh/ln 2.2 6.7 15.9 16.0 32.7 9.3
Unsig. Movement Delay, s/veh
LnGrp Delay(d),s/veh 11.2 5.0 12.3 12.5 292.0 64.4
LnGrp LOS B A B B F E
Approach Vol, veh/h 1232 1411 365
Approach Delay, s/veh 5.7 12.4 250.2
Approach LOS A B F

Timer - Assigned Phs 4 6 7 8
Phs Duration (G+Y+Rc), s 130.2 24.8 13.3 116.9
Change Period (Y+Rc), s 6.9 6.8 7.8 * 6.9
Max Green Setting (Gmax), s 123.1 18.0 12.2 * 1E2
Max Q Clear Time (g_c+I1), s 16.0 20.0 5.3 32.3
Green Ext Time (p_c), s 8.5 0.0 0.2 13.3

Intersection Summary
HCM 6th Ctrl Delay 38.5
HCM 6th LOS D

Notes
User approved pedestrian interval to be less than phase max green.
* HCM 6th computational engine requires equal clearance times for the phases crossing the barrier.

371



HCM 6th TWSC
19: Hermit Smith Rd & Access

18008 Mid Florida Logistics Park  08/28/2018 Synchro 10 Report
Projected Buildout PM

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 6

Movement WBL WBR NBT NBR SBL SBT
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 0 54 17 0 21 13
Future Vol, veh/h 0 54 17 0 21 13
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - 0 - - 0
Grade, % 0 - 0 - - 0
Peak Hour Factor 95 95 95 95 95 95
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 20 2 2 20 2
Mvmt Flow 0 57 18 0 22 14
 

Major/Minor Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 76 18 0 0 18 0
          Stage 1 18 - - - - -
          Stage 2 58 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.42 6.4 - - 4.3 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.42 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.42 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 3.48 - - 2.38 -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 927 1011 - - 1489 -
          Stage 1 1005 - - - - -
          Stage 2 965 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 913 1011 - - 1489 -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 913 - - - - -
          Stage 1 990 - - - - -
          Stage 2 965 - - - - -
 

Approach WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 8.8 0 4.6
HCM LOS A
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBT NBRWBLn1 SBL SBT
Capacity (veh/h) - - 1011 1489 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - 0.056 0.015 -
HCM Control Delay (s) - - 8.8 7.5 0
HCM Lane LOS - - A A A
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - - 0.2 0 -

372



HCM 6th TWSC
21: West Access & General Electric Rd

18008 Mid Florida Logistics Park  08/28/2018 Synchro 10 Report
Projected Buildout PM

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0.9

Movement EBT EBR WBL WBT NBL NBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 87 6 3 137 15 5
Future Vol, veh/h 87 6 3 137 15 5
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length - - - - 0 -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 95 95 95 95 95 95
Heavy Vehicles, % 10 20 20 10 20 20
Mvmt Flow 92 6 3 144 16 5
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1
Conflicting Flow All 0 0 98 0 245 95
          Stage 1 - - - - 95 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 150 -
Critical Hdwy - - 4.3 - 6.6 6.4
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.6 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - 5.6 -
Follow-up Hdwy - - 2.38 - 3.68 3.48
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1390 - 706 914
          Stage 1 - - - - 886 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 836 -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1390 - 705 914
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - 705 -
          Stage 1 - - - - 884 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 836 -
 

Approach EB WB NB
HCM Control Delay, s 0 0.2 10
HCM LOS B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 EBT EBR WBL WBT
Capacity (veh/h) 748 - - 1390 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.028 - - 0.002 -
HCM Control Delay (s) 10 - - 7.6 0
HCM Lane LOS B - - A A
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.1 - - 0 -

373



HCM 6th TWSC
23: Main Access & General Electric Rd

18008 Mid Florida Logistics Park  08/28/2018 Synchro 10 Report
Projected Buildout PM

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 3.2

Movement EBT EBR WBL WBT NBL NBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 72 20 10 90 50 30
Future Vol, veh/h 72 20 10 90 50 30
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length - - - - 0 -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 95 95 95 95 95 95
Heavy Vehicles, % 10 20 10 20 10 20
Mvmt Flow 76 21 11 95 53 32
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1
Conflicting Flow All 0 0 97 0 204 87
          Stage 1 - - - - 87 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 117 -
Critical Hdwy - - 4.2 - 6.5 6.4
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.5 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - 5.5 -
Follow-up Hdwy - - 2.29 - 3.59 3.48
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1448 - 767 924
          Stage 1 - - - - 917 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 889 -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1448 - 761 924
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - 761 -
          Stage 1 - - - - 910 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 889 -
 

Approach EB WB NB
HCM Control Delay, s 0 0.8 9.9
HCM LOS A
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 EBT EBR WBL WBT
Capacity (veh/h) 815 - - 1448 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.103 - - 0.007 -
HCM Control Delay (s) 9.9 - - 7.5 0
HCM Lane LOS A - - A A
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.3 - - 0 -

374



HCM 6th TWSC
25: East Access & General Electric Rd

18008 Mid Florida Logistics Park  08/28/2018 Synchro 10 Report
Projected Buildout PM

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 1.3

Movement EBT EBR WBL WBT NBL NBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 97 5 4 80 15 9
Future Vol, veh/h 97 5 4 80 15 9
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length - - - - 0 -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 97 97 97 97 97 97
Heavy Vehicles, % 10 20 20 10 20 20
Mvmt Flow 100 5 4 82 15 9
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1
Conflicting Flow All 0 0 105 0 193 103
          Stage 1 - - - - 103 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 90 -
Critical Hdwy - - 4.3 - 6.6 6.4
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.6 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - 5.6 -
Follow-up Hdwy - - 2.38 - 3.68 3.48
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1381 - 757 905
          Stage 1 - - - - 878 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 890 -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1381 - 755 905
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - 755 -
          Stage 1 - - - - 875 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 890 -
 

Approach EB WB NB
HCM Control Delay, s 0 0.4 9.6
HCM LOS A
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 EBT EBR WBL WBT
Capacity (veh/h) 805 - - 1381 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.031 - - 0.003 -
HCM Control Delay (s) 9.6 - - 7.6 0
HCM Lane LOS A - - A A
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.1 - - 0 -

375



 

 

Appendix J 
Improved Intersection Analysis Worksheets 

 

376



HCM 6th Signalized Intersection Summary
3: Hermit Smith Rd & US 441

18008 Mid Florida Logistics Park  08/28/2018 Synchro 10 Report
Projected Buildout - Improved PM

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (veh/h) 28 1330 15 53 1887 124 127 39 175 222 17 40
Future Volume (veh/h) 28 1330 15 53 1887 124 127 39 175 222 17 40
Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Work Zone On Approach No No No No
Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1870 1796 1678 1678 1796 1796 1678 1678 1678 1678 1678 1678
Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 29 1371 15 55 1945 128 131 40 103 229 18 41
Peak Hour Factor 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97
Percent Heavy Veh, % 2 7 15 15 7 7 15 15 15 15 15 15
Cap, veh/h 218 2184 910 235 2082 135 241 61 264 111 5 12
Arrive On Green 0.02 0.64 0.64 0.06 1.00 1.00 0.19 0.19 0.19 0.19 0.19 0.19
Sat Flow, veh/h 1781 3413 1422 1598 3253 212 1073 328 1422 364 29 65
Grp Volume(v), veh/h 29 1371 15 55 1010 1063 171 0 103 288 0 0
Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln 1781 1706 1422 1598 1706 1758 1401 0 1422 458 0 0
Q Serve(g_s), s 0.8 36.3 0.6 1.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 9.5 10.8 0.0 0.0
Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 0.8 36.3 0.6 1.8 0.0 0.0 17.0 0.0 9.5 27.8 0.0 0.0
Prop In Lane 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.12 0.77 1.00 0.80 0.14
Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 218 2184 910 235 1092 1125 302 0 264 128 0 0
V/C Ratio(X) 0.13 0.63 0.02 0.23 0.92 0.94 0.57 0.00 0.39 2.25 0.00 0.00
Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 288 2184 910 298 1092 1125 304 0 265 128 0 0
HCM Platoon Ratio 1.00 1.00 1.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Upstream Filter(I) 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.18 0.18 0.18 1.00 0.00 1.00 1.00 0.00 0.00
Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 8.6 16.2 9.8 13.2 0.0 0.0 56.7 0.0 53.7 71.4 0.0 0.0
Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 0.3 1.4 0.0 0.1 3.3 4.2 2.4 0.0 0.9 587.0 0.0 0.0
Initial Q Delay(d3),s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
%ile BackOfQ(95%),veh/ln 0.6 18.9 0.3 1.0 1.7 2.1 10.3 0.0 6.3 43.3 0.0 0.0
Unsig. Movement Delay, s/veh
LnGrp Delay(d),s/veh 8.9 17.6 9.9 13.3 3.3 4.2 59.1 0.0 54.6 658.4 0.0 0.0
LnGrp LOS A B A B A A E A D F A A
Approach Vol, veh/h 1415 2128 274 288
Approach Delay, s/veh 17.4 4.0 57.4 658.4
Approach LOS B A E F

Timer - Assigned Phs 1 2 4 5 6 8
Phs Duration (G+Y+Rc), s 12.1 102.9 35.0 12.1 102.9 35.0
Change Period (Y+Rc), s * 8.6 * 6.9 * 7.2 * 7.6 6.9 7.2
Max Green Setting (Gmax), s * 9.4 * 90 * 28 * 10 90.1 27.8
Max Q Clear Time (g_c+I1), s 2.8 2.0 19.0 3.8 38.3 29.8
Green Ext Time (p_c), s 0.0 31.1 0.6 0.1 12.4 0.0

Intersection Summary
HCM 6th Ctrl Delay 58.1
HCM 6th LOS E

Notes
* HCM 6th computational engine requires equal clearance times for the phases crossing the barrier.

377



PLATTED STREET

(NO PLATTED WIDTH)

PERPETUAL 25' CFX

INGRESS/EGRESS EASEMENT

PROPOSED 80' PETERSON RD

RIGHT-OF-WAY

PROPOSED 55' PETERSON RD

RIGHT-OF-WAY

DATE BY DESCRIPTION DATE BY DESCRIPTION

REVISIONS

CONTRACTOR "AS-BUILTS"

I hereby state that these "As-Builts" were furnished to me by the contractor listed below. I, or an employee under my direct

supervision have reviewed these "As-Builts" and believe them to be in compliance with my knowledge of what was actually

constructed. This statement is based upon site observations of the construction.

Contractor                                                               Engineer

Not valid without the signature and the original raised seal of a Florida Registered Engineer.

F
:
\
A
N

C
1
\
E
x
h
i
b
i
t
s
\
2
0
1
8
-
0
8
-
0
8
 
A
N

C
-
1
 
P
e
t
e
r
s
o
n
 
R
d
 
R
O

W
 
E
x
h
i
b
i
t
\
2
0
1
8
-
0
8
-
0
7
 
A
N

C
-
1
_
P
E
T
E
R
S
O

N
 
R
O

W
 
E
X
H

I
B
I
T
.
d
w

g
,
8
/
2
4
/
2
0
1
8
 
5
:
3
5
:
2
9
 
P
M

DATE:

PROJECT NO.:

DRAWN BY:

CHECKED BY:

SCALE:

SHEET:

DAVE SCHMITT

ENGINEERING, INC.

12301 Lake Underhill Road Suite 241

ORLANDO, FL 32828

407-207-9088    FAX 407-207-9089

Certification of Authorization #27471

                AUG 08 2018

               ANC-1

              MTP

                BG

               11"=17'

                01 OF 01

      RE-ALIGNED PETERSON RD ROW

APOPKA, FLORIDA

              24"=36'

DAVE M. SCHMITT

FLORIDA REG. NUMBER

48274

LEGEND

EXISTING PETERSON RD RIGHT-OF-WAY (TO BE VACATED)

EXISTING PETERSON RD RIGHT-OF-WAY (TO REMAIN))

EXISTING CFX 25' INGRESS/EGRESS EASEMENT

PROPOSED PETERSON RD RIGHT-OF-WAY

378



379



380



381



 

 

 

G:\CommDev\PLANNING ZONING\ANNEXATIONS\2018\Cycle 5\3 City Council Hearings 

 

CITY OF APOPKA 

CITY COUNCIL 
 

 
 

 CONSENT AGENDA MEETING OF: October 3, 2018 

X PUBLIC HEARING FROM: Community Development 

 SPECIAL REPORTS EXHIBITS: Ordinance No. 2681 

X OTHER: Annexation  Annexation Case Table 

   Vicinity Map 

   Aerial Map 
   

SUBJECT:   2018 ANNEXATION – CYCLE 5 

 

REQUEST: ORDINANCE NO. 2681 – FIRST READING – ANNEXATION OF 

PROPERTY OWNED BY CONSTRUESSE USA, INC., LOCATED AT 2600 

ROCK SPRINGS ROAD, PARCEL I.D. 28-20-28-0000-00-024. 
  
SUMMARY:   

OWNER:  Construesse USA, Inc. 

APPLICANT;  Terra-Max Engineering, Inc. 

LOCATION:  2600 Rock Springs Road 

PARCEL ID NO.: 28-20-28-0000-00-024 

EXISTING USE: Vacant 

TRACT SIZE:  9.59 +/- acres 

  
FUNDING SOURCE:  N/A 

    
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson     Finance Director  Public Services Director  
Commissioners     HR Director   Recreation Director    
City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  
Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 
  

382



CITY COUNCIL – OCTOBER 3, 2018 
2018 ANNEXATION – CYCLE 5 
PAGE 2 

 
ADDITIONAL COMMENTS:  Abutting current boundaries of the City of Apopka, the subject site is 
consistent with Florida Statutes addressing annexation of unincorporated lands into a municipality. The 
proposed annexation shall be on the basis of the existing County Future Land Use and Zoning Designations.  
Assignment of a City Future Land Use and Zoning designation will occur at a later date, and through action 
by the City Council. 
 
ORANGE COUNTY NOTIFICATION:  The JPA requires the City to notify Orange County 15 days 
prior to the first reading of any annexation ordinance.  The City provided notification to the County on 
September 13, 2018. 
 
DULY ADVERTISED: 
September 21, 2018 (Apopka Chief) 
September 28, 2018 (Apopka Chief) 
 
PUBLIC HEARING SCHEDULE: 
October 3, 2018 (1:30 PM) - City Council 1st Reading 
October 17, 2018 (7:00 PM) - City Council 2nd Reading and Adoption 

 

RECOMMENDATION ACTION:  

The Development Review Committee recommends approval of the annexation for property owned by 
Construesse USA, Inc. 
 
Accept the First Reading of Ordinance No. 2681, and Hold it Over for Second Reading and Adoption on 
October 17, 2018. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

383



CITY COUNCIL – OCTOBER 3, 2018 
2018 ANNEXATION – CYCLE 5 
PAGE 3 

 

CITY OF APOPKA 

2018 ANNEXATION CYCLE # 5 

 

 

TOTAL ACRES:  9.59 +/- 

ORD. 

NO. 

ITEM 

NO. 

OWNER’S 

NAME 
LOCATION 

PARCEL ID 

NUMBER 

ACRES 

+/- 

EXISTING 

USE 

FUTURE 

LAND USE 

(COUNTY) 

2681  
1 

 

Construesse 

USA, Inc. 

2600 Rock 

Springs Road 
28-20-28-0000-00-024 9.59 Vacant 

Low Density 

Residential 

 

  

384



CITY COUNCIL – OCTOBER 3, 2018 
2018 ANNEXATION – CYCLE 5 
PAGE 4 

 

ANNEXATION 

Construesse USA, Inc. 

2600 Rock Springs Road 

 
Property Description: N1/2 OF S1/2 OF SE1/4 OF NE1/4 (LESS E 50 FT FOR R/W) SEC 28-20-28 

Parcel ID No.:  28-20-28-0000-00-024 

Total Acres:  9.59 +/-      

Vicinity Map 

 

 
(THIS MAP IS FOR REFERENCE PURPOSES ONLY AND IS NOT TO SCALE) 

 

Legend 

   Subject property 

  City Jurisdiction 

  County Jurisdiction 

 

 

 

385



CITY COUNCIL – OCTOBER 3, 2018 
2018 ANNEXATION – CYCLE 5 
PAGE 5 

 

Aerial Map 

 

 
 

 

Subject Property 

386



ORDINANCE NO. 2681 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA, TO EXTEND 
ITS TERRITORIAL AND MUNICIPAL LIMITS TO ANNEX PURSUANT 
TO FLORIDA STATUTE 171.044 THE HEREINAFTER DESCRIBED 
LANDS SITUATED AND BEING IN ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA, 
OWNED BY CONSTRUESSE USA, INC. AND LOCATED AT 2600 ROCK 
SPRINGS ROAD, PROVIDING FOR DIRECTIONS TO THE CITY 
CLERK, SEVERABILITY, CONFLICTS, AND AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 

 WHEREAS, Construesse USA, Inc. owner thereof, has petitioned the City Council of the 

City of Apopka, Florida, to annex the property located at 2600 Rock Springs Road; and  

 

 WHEREAS, Florida Statute 171.044 of the General Laws of Florida provide that a 

municipal corporation may annex property into its corporate limits upon voluntary petition of the 

owners, by passing and adopting a non-emergency ordinance to annex said property; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Apopka, Florida is desirous of annexing and 

redefining the boundaries of the municipality to include the subject property pursuant to Florida 

Statute 171.044. 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of the City of Apopka, 

Florida, as follows: 

 

 SECTION I:  That the following described properties, being situated in Orange County, 

Florida, totaling 9.59 +/- acres, and graphically depicted by the attached Exhibit "A”, is hereby 

annexed into the City of Apopka, Florida, pursuant to the voluntary annexation provisions of 

Chapter 171.044, Florida Statutes, and other applicable laws: 

 

Property Description: 

 

N1/2 OF S1/2 OF SE1/4 OF NE1/4 (LESS E 50 FT FOR R/W) SEC 28-20-28 

Parcel ID No.:  28-20-28-0000-00-024 

 

 SECTION II:  That the corporate territorial limits of the City of Apopka, Florida, are 

hereby redefined to include said land herein described and annexed.

 

SECTION III:  That the City Council will designate the land use classification and zoning 

category of these annexed lands in accordance with applicable City ordinances and State laws. 

 

 SECTION IV: That the land herein described and future inhabitants of the land herein 

described shall be liable for all debts and obligations and be subject to all species of taxation, laws, 

ordinances and regulations of the City. 

 

SECTION V:  That if any section or portion of a section or subsection of this Ordinance 

proves to be invalid, unlawful, or unconstitutional, it shall not be held to invalidate or impair the 

validity, force, or effect of any other section or portion of a section or subsection or part of this 

ordinance. 

387



ORDINANCE NO. 2681 

PAGE 2  
 

 

 SECTION VI:  That all ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby 

repealed. 

 

 SECTION VII: That this ordinance shall take effect upon passage and adoption, thereafter 

the City Clerk is hereby directed to file this ordinance with the Clerk of the Circuit Court in and 

for Orange County, Florida; the Orange County Property Appraiser; and the Department of State 

of the State of Florida.  

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

ATTEST:  

 

 

 

__________________________________ 

Linda Goff, City Clerk 

 

DULY ADVERTISED FOR PUBLIC HEARING:  September 21, 2018 and September 28, 2018 

 

READ FIRST TIME: October 3, 2018 

 

READ SECOND TIME 

AND ADOPTED:     October 17, 2018 

 

 

 

Bryan Nelson, Mayor 

388



ORDINANCE NO. 2681 

PAGE 3  
 

ANNEXATION 

Construesse USA, Inc. 

2600 Rock Springs Road 

 
Property Description: N1/2 OF S1/2 OF SE1/4 OF NE1/4 (LESS E 50 FT FOR R/W) SEC 28-20-28 

Parcel ID No.:  28-20-28-0000-00-024 

Total Acres:  9.59 +/-      

VICINITY MAP 

 

 
(THIS MAP IS FOR REFERENCE PURPOSES ONLY AND IS NOT TO SCALE) 389



 

 

 CITY OF APOPKA 

CITY COUNCIL 
 

 
 

        CONSENT AGENDA      MEETING OF:  October 3, 2018 

  X   PUBLIC HEARING      FROM:              Administration 

        SPECIAL REPORTS      EXHIBITS:       Resolution 2018-20 

        OTHER:            Interlocal Agreement 
  

 

SUBJECT: INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT ON WASTE MANAGEMENT, INC. BONDS  

 

REQUEST: ADOPT RESOLUTION NO. 2018-20 & HOLD A TEFRA HEARING TO GIVE 

PUBLIC NOTICE AS REQUIRED  
  
SUMMARY:   
 

The City of Apopka is required, under the Tax Equity and Fiscal Responsibility Act of 1982 (TEFRA) 

and under the provisions of Section 147(f) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, to hold a public hearing 

and provide approval for Waste Management, Inc. to accept Solid Waste Disposal Revenue Bonds.  

 

Waste Management, Inc. has requested Miami-Dade County Industrial Development Authority to issue its 

Solid Waste Disposal Revenue Bonds in an aggregate principal amount not to exceed $70,000,000 and 

Solid Waste Disposal Refunding Revenue Bonds in an aggregate principal amount not to exceed 

$23,000,000.  The Bonds to Waste Management, Inc. will finance and refinance solid waste disposal 

capital expenditures at various locations, including the City of Apopka.  The solid waste facility in the 

City, located at 242 West Keene Road, would receive improvements from a portion of the proceeds of the 

Bonds. Therefore, the City, as a political jurisdiction, is required to hold a public TEFRA hearing with 

respect to the issuance of the Bonds and provide a reasonable opportunity for individuals to express their 

views on the bonds and how the funds will be allocated. 
 

The City will have absolutely no liability to pay principal of or interest on the Bonds and the 

issuance of the Bonds will have no financial impact on the City. The Bonds will be limited obligations 

of the Authority, payable solely from the revenue derived from the Company and pledged to the payment 

of the Bonds.  

  
FUNDING SOURCE:   
 

N/A     
RECOMMENDATION ACTION: 
 

The recommended action is to approve Resolution No. 2018-20. Secondly, approve the Interlocal 

Agreement, which includes, but is not limited to the City’s consent to the use of Bond proceeds to finance 

the Apopka Project and authorize the Mayor or his designee to sign.  
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson     Finance Director  Public Services Director  

Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    

City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  

Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 390



RESOLUTION NO. 2018-20 
 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 

OF APOPKA, FLORIDA, APPROVING, PURSUANT TO 

SECTION 147(f) OF THE INTERNAL REVENUE CODE OF 

1986, THE ISSUANCE OF NOT TO EXCEED $70,000,000 

MIAMI-DADE COUNTY INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT 

AUTHORITY SOLID WASTE DISPOSAL REVENUE BONDS 

(WASTE MANAGEMENT, INC. PROJECT), AND THE 

ISSUANCE OF NOT TO EXCEED $23,000,0000 SOLID 

WASTE DISPOSAL REFUNDING REVENUE BONDS (WASTE 

MANAGEMENT, INC. PROJECT), EACH ISSUED IN ONE OR 

MORE SERIES FOR PROJECTS IN VARIOUS LOCATIONS, 

INCLUDING THE CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA; 

PROVIDING CERTAIN OTHER MATTERS IN 

CONNECTION THEREWITH; AND PROVIDING AN 

EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
 

WHEREAS, the Miami Dade County Industrial Development Authority (the "Authority") 

has considered the application of Waste Management, Inc., a Delaware corporation, and/or one or 

more related and/or affiliated entities (collectively, the "Borrower"), which provides a full range of 

waste and environmental services to approximately 21 million municipal, commercial and industrial 

customers, and currently operates in a variety of locations in the State of Florida (the "State"), 

including Miami-Dade County, Florida and the City of Apopka, Florida (the "City"); and 

 

WHEREAS, the Borrower is requesting the issuance of not to exceed $70,000,000 Solid 

Waste Disposal Revenue Bonds (Waste Management, Inc. Project) (the "New Money Bonds") and 

not to exceed $23,000,000 Solid Waste Disposal Refunding Revenue Bonds (Waste 

Management, Inc. Project) (the "Refunding Bonds", and together with the New Money Bonds, the 

"Bonds"), issued in one or more series; and 

 

WHEREAS, the New Money Bonds are to be issued to provide funds for the financing of 

solid waste disposal capital expenditures for the Borrower at facilities located as set forth on Exhibit 

A hereto and the Refunding Bonds are to be issued to provide funds for the refinancing of solid 

waste disposal capital expenditures for the Borrower at facilities located as set forth on Exhibit A 

(collectively, the "Locations"), including one (1) in the City at 242 West Keene Road, City of 

Apopka, Florida (the "Apopka Facility" and together with the solid waste improvements financed 

thereon, the “Apopka Project”), and certain bond issuance costs (collectively, the “Project”); and 

 

WHEREAS, the Authority desires to issue the Bonds and to allow the Apopka Project to be 

financed with a portion of the Bond proceeds; and 

 

WHEREAS, Section 147(f) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the 

"Code"), requires as a condition of exclusion from gross income for federal income tax 

391



 
 
Resolution No. 2018-20 
Page 2 of 3 
 

purposes of the interest on private activity bonds (as defined in Section 141(a) of the Code), that 

the issuance of private activity bonds, such as the Bonds, be approved after a public hearing 

following reasonable public notice, by the governmental unit having jurisdiction over the area 

in which the private activity bond-financed facility is located; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City (the "City Council") constitutes the 

elected legislative body of the City and the governmental unit having jurisdiction over the area in 

which the Apopka Project is located and must approve the issuance of the Bonds prior to issuance; 

and 

 

WHEREAS, the City, on September 14, 2018, published a notice of a public hearing in 

The Apopka Chief (the "Newspaper"), a newspaper of general circulation in the City, to be 

held on October 3, 2018, at 1:30 p.m., in the City Council Chambers, City Hall, 120 East 

Main Street, Apopka, Florida, to consider the use of a portion of the Bond proceeds to finance 

the Apopka Project; and 

 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 147(f) of the Code, the City Council has duly held such 

public hearing, following notice, as indicated by the affidavit of the publisher of the Newspaper 

attached hereto as Exhibit B, and now desires to approve the issuance of the Bonds to finance the 

Apopka Project; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Authority has requested the City execute an interlocal agreement, in 

substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit C, which includes, but is not limited to, the City's 

consent to the use of Bond proceeds to finance the Apopka Project; and 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF APOPKA: 

 

Section 1. The issuance by the Miami-Dade County Industrial Development Authority 

of its not to exceed $70,000,000 Solid Waste Disposal Revenue Bonds (Waste Management, 

Inc. Project), and it not to exceed $23,000,000 Solid Waste Disposal Refunding Revenue Bonds 

(Waste Management, Inc. Project), each issued in one or more series, to provide funds for the 

financing and refinancing of solid waste disposal capital expenditures for the Borrower at its 

various Locations, including the Apopka Project, is hereby approved pursuant to and in accordance 

with Section 147(f) of the Code. 

 

Section 2. The Interlocal Agreement by and between the Authority and the City, in 

substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit C, is approved, with such changes as shall be 

approved by the Mayor or Vice-Mayor of the City Council (the "Mayor"), and the Mayor is 

authorized to execute it on behalf of the City, to be attested and sealed by the Clerk of the City (the 

"Clerk"). Execution and delivery by the Mayor and attestation and seal by the Clerk shall constitute 

conclusive evidence of such officers' approval and the approval of the Interlocal Agreement in final 

form. 

 

Section 3. Such approval by the City Council does not constitute an endorsement to a 

prospective purchaser of the Bonds of the credit worthiness of the Borrower or the Project, and the 

392



 
 
Resolution No. 2018-20 
Page 3 of 3 
 

Bonds shall not constitute an indebtedness or obligation of the City, the State or of any county, 

municipal corporation or any other political subdivision thereof, but the Bonds shall be limited 

obligations of the Authority payable solely from the revenue derived from the Borrower and 

pledged to the payment thereof, and no owner of any of the Bonds shall ever have the right to 

compel any exercise of the taxing power of the State or of any county, municipal corporation or 

political subdivision thereof, nor to enforce the payment thereof against any property of the State or 

of any such county, municipal corporation or any other political subdivision. 

 

Section 4. All acts and doing of the officers and Commissioners of the City Council, 

which are in conformity with the purposes and intent of this Resolution, shall be, and the same 

hereby are, in all respects approved and confirmed. 

 

Section 5. This resolution shall take effect immediately upon its passage and adoption. 

ADOPTED this 3rd day of October 2018. 

 

 

CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA 
 
 
 
 
 

Bryan Nelson, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
 
Linda F. Goff, City Clerk 

393



394



Once recorded please return to:   Grace E. Dunlap, Esq.

Bryant Miller Olive

One Tampa City Center, Suite 2700

Tampa, Florida  33602

INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT

THIS INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT, dated as of _____________, 2018 (the "Agreement"), is by 

and between Miami-Dade County Industrial Development Authority (the "Issuer"), an 

industrial development authority created and existing under the laws and Constitution of the 

State of Florida (the "State"), and the City of Apopka, Florida (the "City"), a municipal 

corporation of the State with powers under Chapter 166, Florida Statutes, and is to be effective

upon the filing hereof with the Clerk of the Circuit Court for Miami-Dade County, Florida and 

with the Clerk of the Circuit Court for Orange County, Florida as provided in Section 7 below.

RECITALS

Waste Management, Inc., a Delaware corporation, and/or one or more related and/or 

affiliated entities (the “Borrower"), has requested the issuance of not to exceed $70,000,000 Solid 

Waste Disposal Revenue Bonds (Waste Management Inc. Project) and not to exceed $23,000,000

Solid Waste Disposal Refunding Revenue Bonds (Waste Management Inc. Project) (collectively, 

the "Bonds") and loan the proceeds from the sale thereof to the Borrower for the principal 

purpose of financing and refinancing the costs of improving certain existing solid waste 

facilities, all as described in Exhibit A to this Agreement (collectively, the “Project”). 

Various portions of the Project is located outside of the geographic boundaries of Miami-

Dade County, Florida, the Issuer’s area of jurisdiction, and a portion is located in the City, as 

further described in Exhibit A.  According to representations of the Borrower, no portion of the 

Project has been financed with revenue bonds previously issued by the City.

It is necessary that the Issuer and the City enter into this Interlocal Agreement in order 

to enable the Issuer to issue the Bonds to finance and refinance the Project and thereby assist the 

Borrower.

The Bonds shall not be an obligation of the City and neither the City nor any other 

political subdivision of the State nor any agency thereof, other than the Issuer, shall in any way 

be obligated to pay the principal of, premium, if any, or interest on the Bonds as the same 

become due and the Bonds shall be limited obligations of the Issuer, payable solely from funds 

provided by the Borrower for that purpose, and the issuance of the Bonds shall not directly, 

indirectly or contingently obligate the Issuer to use any Issuer funds, other than funds provided 

by the Borrower for their payment.

In consideration of the mutual agreements contained in this Agreement and upon the 

further consideration of the recitals set forth above, the Issuer and the City agree as follows:

395



2

Section 1. Should the Issuer determine to do so, the Issuer may issue the Bonds for 

the benefit of the Borrower to finance and refinance the Project notwithstanding that a portion 

of the Project is located in the City and not within the Issuer’s area of jurisdiction.

Section 2. This Interlocal Agreement shall in no way be interpreted as a delegation 

or abrogation of any powers of the City concerning the Project, including but not limited to 

zoning, building, land use or any other powers that the City would have in the absence of this 

Interlocal Agreement, the sole purpose of the Interlocal Agreement being to enable the Issuer to 

participate in the financing and refinancing of the Project as described herein.

Section 3. Neither the provisions, covenants or agreements contained in this 

Interlocal Agreement, nor the Bonds issued pursuant to this Interlocal Agreement shall 

constitute an indebtedness, liability or pledge of the faith and credit of the City.  The issuance of 

the Bonds pursuant to this Interlocal Agreement shall not directly, indirectly or contingently 

obligate the City to levy or to pledge any form of taxation whatsoever thereof, or to make any 

appropriation for their payment.

Section 4. No covenant or agreement contained in this Interlocal Agreement shall be 

deemed to be a covenant or agreement of any member, officer, agent or employee of the City or 

the Issuer in his or her individual capacity, and no member, officer, agent or employee of the 

City or the Issuer shall be liable personally on this Interlocal Agreement or be subject to any 

personal liability or accountability by reason of the execution of this Interlocal Agreement.

Section 5. This Interlocal Agreement is being delivered and is intended to be 

performed in the State, and shall be construed and enforced in accordance with, and the rights 

of the parties shall be governed by the laws of the State.  Venue for any legal action related to 

this Interlocal Agreement shall be in Orange, County, Florida.

Section 6. This Interlocal Agreement does not obligate the Issuer to issue the Bonds.

Section 7. Upon execution hereof by the Issuer and the City, the Issuer shall cause 

this Interlocal Agreement to be filed with the Clerk of the Circuit Court for Miami-Dade 

County, Florida and with the Clerk of the Circuit Court for Orange County, Florida as provided 

in Section 163.01(11), Florida Statutes.

[Signatures appear on following pages]

396



3

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have entered into this Interlocal Agreement as of 

the day and year first written above.

MIAMI-DADE COUNTY INDUSTRIAL 

DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

(SEAL)

By:________________________________

Robert Pelaez, Chairman

ATTEST:

________________________________

James D. Wagner, Jr., Secretary

Ex Officio

STATE OF FLORIDA )

 ) ss:

COUNTY OF MIAMI-DADE )

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this ______ day of September, 

2018, by Robert Pelaez, Chairman, and by James D. Wagner, Jr., Secretary Ex Officio, of the 

Miami-Dade County Industrial Development Authority.  They are personally known to me or 

have produced _______________ and ______________, respectively, as identification.

______________________________

Notary Public - State of Florida

My Commission Expires:

[Signatures continue on following page]

397



4

CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA 

By: __________________________________

Bryan Nelson, Mayor

City of Apopka

(SEAL)

ATTEST:

By: _____________________________ 

Linda F. Goff, City Clerk

J:\wdox\Docs\Clients\25016\043\Interlocal Agreement\01391824

398



EXHIBIT A

DESCRIPTION OF THE PROJECT

A portion of the Project (the "2018 Project") consists of financing and refinancing, 

including through reimbursement, (a) improvements to existing landfill facilities, including (a) 

improvements to permitted landfill facilities, including but not limited to (i) construction of 

new disposal cells and liners within currently permitted acreage, (ii) additions and 

improvements to the leachate collection and treatment system, including leachate trenching, (iii) 

additions and improvements to the methane gas system, (iv) installation of new liners for 

intermittent and final closure of completed sections of the landfill facilities, (v) site 

improvements, (vi) building construction; and (vii) acquisition of equipment to be used at the 

landfill facilities, (b) improvements to existing collection (hauling) and transfer station facilities, 

including (i) acquisition of solid waste disposal trucks and support vehicles, (ii) acquisition of 

solid waste disposal containers and related equipment, (iii) acquisition of solid waste sorting 

and processing equipment, (iv) site improvements and (v) building construction, and (c) 

acquisition of other equipment and assets necessary to support the foregoing improvements 

and to place them into service.  The 2018 Project locations are at existing facilities, owned or 

managed by the Borrower as follows:  

1. 2700 Wiles Road, Pompano Beach, Florida

2. 14415 County Road 39, Duette, Florida

3. 9350 NW 89th Avenue, Medley, Florida

4. 10800 NE 128th Avenue, Okeechobee, Florida

5. 242 Keene Road West, Apopka, Florida

6. 1940 East State Road 78 NW, Moore Haven, Florida

A portion of the Project (the "Refunding Projects") consist of refinancing (a) 

improvements to permitted landfill facilities, including but not limited to (i) construction of 

disposal cells and liners within currently permitted acreage, (ii) additions and improvements to 

the leachate collection and treatment system, including leachate trenching, (iii) additions and 

improvements to the methane gas system, (iv) installation of  liners for intermittent and final 

closure of completed sections of the landfill facilities, (v) site improvements, (vi) building 

construction; and (vii) acquisition of equipment to be used at the landfill facilities, (b) 

improvements to existing collection (hauling) and transfer station facilities, including (i) 

acquisition of solid waste disposal trucks and support vehicles, (ii) acquisition of solid waste 

disposal containers and related equipment, (iii) acquisition of solid waste sorting and 

processing equipment, (iv) site improvements and (v) building construction, and (c) acquisition 

of other equipment and assets necessary to support the foregoing improvements and to place 

them in to service.  

399



6

The Refunding Projects are being refinanced through the refunding of all or a portion of 

the Miami-Dade County Industrial Development Authority Solid Waste Disposal Revenue 

Bonds (Waste Management Inc. of Florida Project), Series 2004.  The Refunding Projects are 

located at existing facilities and are owned or managed by the Company.  The locations where 

the Refunding Projects are located are:

1. 8801 NW 91st Street, Medley, Florida

2. 9350 NW 89th Avenue, Medley, Florida

3. 3831 NW 21st Avenue, Pompano Beach, Florida

4. 2700 Wiles Road, Pompano Beach, Florida

5. 20701 Pembroke Road, Pembroke Pines, Florida

6. 5000 NW 37th Avenue, Hialeah, Florida

400



7

APPROVAL AND ACKNOWLEDGMENT OF WASTE MANAGEMENT INC.

In consideration of the sum of $10.00 together with other good and valuable 

consideration, the receipt and adequacy of which is hereby acknowledged, Waste Management 

Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Borrower”), by and through its undersigned authorized 

officer, hereby approves the Interlocal Agreement to which this document is attached and, by 

causing this Approval and Acknowledgment to be executed by its proper officer and its seal to 

be affixed hereto all as of the date of said Interlocal Agreement, hereby agrees as follows:

The fees and expenses of the City of Apopka, Florida (the "City") shall be paid by the 

Borrower in the manner and to the extent mutually agreed upon by the officials of the City and 

the Borrower at or prior to issuance of the Bonds.  

The Borrower agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the City, and its respective 

officers, employees and agents, from and against any and all losses, claims, damages, liabilities 

or expenses, of every conceivable kind, character and nature whatsoever (including reasonable 

fees and expenses of attorneys, accountants, consultants and other experts) arising out of, 

resulting from, or in any way connected with the Interlocal Agreement or the issuance of the 

Bonds, other than any such losses, damages, liabilities or expenses arising from the willful 

misconduct of the City.

Capitalized terms used herein and not defined herein shall have the meanings given 

such terms in the Interlocal Agreement to which this document is attached. 

WASTE MANAGEMENT INC., a Delaware 

Corporation

(SEAL) By: __________________________

Print Name:___________________

Title:__________________________

[Notary’s acknowledgment appears on following page]

401



8

STATE OF ____________ )

) ss:

COUNTY OF _________ )

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this ______ day of __________, 

2018, by ________________, the _____________ of Waste Management, Inc., on behalf of said 

corporation.  He/she is personally known to me or has produced _________________ as 

identification.

______________________________

Notary Public - State of ___________

My Commission Expires:

402



SCHEDULE II – NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING

403



THE CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA CITY COUNCIL

TEFRA/PUBLIC HEARING

The Miami-Dade County Industrial Development Authority (the "Authority") 

has been requested to issue its Solid Waste Disposal Revenue Bonds (Waste 

Management Inc. Project), in one or more series in an aggregate principal amount not to 

exceed $70,000,000 (the "New Money Bonds"), the proceeds of which will provide 

financing for (i) solid waste disposal capital expenditures in the City of Apopka, Florida

(the "City") and other jurisdictions located throughout the State of Florida and (ii) to pay 

for certain bond issuance costs (collectively, the "2018 Project").  The 2018 Project will be 

financed as part of an ongoing plan of financing for the 2018 Project and will be owned 

and operated by Waste Management, Inc., a Delaware corporation, and/or one or more 

related and/or affiliated entities (collectively, the "Company").  

The 2018 Project consists of financing and refinancing, including through 

reimbursement, (a) improvements to existing landfill facilities, including (a) 

improvements to permitted landfill facilities, including but not limited to (i) 

construction of new disposal cells and liners within currently permitted acreage, (ii) 

additions and improvements to the leachate collection and treatment system, including 

leachate trenching, (iii) additions and improvements to the methane gas system, (iv) 

installation of new liners for intermittent and final closure of completed sections of the 

landfill facilities, (v) site improvements, (vi) building construction; and (vii) acquisition 

of equipment to be used at the landfill facilities, (b) improvements to existing collection 

(hauling) and transfer station facilities, including (i) acquisition of solid waste disposal 

trucks and support vehicles, (ii) acquisition of solid waste disposal containers and 

related equipment, (iii) acquisition of solid waste sorting and processing equipment, (iv) 

site improvements and (v) building construction, and (c) acquisition of other equipment 

and assets necessary to support the foregoing improvements and to place them in to 

service.  The 2018 Project locations are at existing facilities, owned or managed by the 

Company.  The addresses and expected aggregate principal amounts of the New Money 

Bonds to be issued to finance improvements at each location are as follows:  

Address Amount

1. 2700 Wiles Road, Pompano Beach, Florida $29,000,000

2. 14415 County Road 39, Duette, Florida $10,000,000

3. 9350 NW 89th Avenue, Medley, Florida $8,500,000

4. 10800 NE 128th Avenue, Okeechobee, Florida $14,000,000

5. 242 Keene Road West, Apopka, Florida $5,000,000

6. 1940 East State Road 78 NW, Moore Haven, Florida $3,500,000

The Authority has also been requested to issue its Solid Waste Disposal 

Refunding Revenue Bonds (Waste Management Inc. Project), in one or more series in an 

aggregate principal amount not to exceed $23,000,000 (the "Refunding Bonds" and 

404



together with the New Money Bonds, the "Bonds"), the proceeds of the various series of 

which will provide refinancing for (i) solid waste disposal capital expenditures in the 

City and other jurisdictions located throughout the State of Florida (shown below), and 

(ii) to pay for certain bond issuance costs (collectively, the "Refunding Project" and 

together with the 2018 Project, the "Project").  

The Refunding Project will be refinanced and will be owned and operated by the 

Company.  The Refunding Project consists of refinancing (a) improvements to permitted 

landfill facilities, including but not limited to (i) construction of disposal cells and liners 

within currently permitted acreage, (ii) additions and improvements to the leachate 

collection and treatment system, including leachate trenching, (iii) additions and 

improvements to the methane gas system, (iv) installation of  liners for intermittent and 

final closure of completed sections of the landfill facilities, (v) site improvements, (vi) 

building construction; and (vii) acquisition of equipment to be used at the landfill 

facilities, (b) improvements to existing collection (hauling) and transfer station facilities, 

including (i) acquisition of solid waste disposal trucks and support vehicles, (ii) 

acquisition of solid waste disposal containers and related equipment, (iii) acquisition of 

solid waste sorting and processing equipment, (iv) site improvements and (v) building 

construction, (c) acquisition of other equipment and assets necessary to support the 

foregoing improvements and to place them in to service.  The Refunding Project is being 

refinanced through the refunding of all or a portion of the Miami Dade County 

Industrial Development Authority Solid Waste Disposal Revenue Bonds (Waste 

Management, Inc. Project), Series 2004. The Refunding Project locations are at existing 

facilities and are owned or managed by the Company. The addresses and expected 

aggregate principal amounts of Refunded Project expenditures from the Refunding 

Bonds to be issued to refinance improvements at each location are as follows:

Address

Not to Exceed 

Amount

1. 5000 NW 37th Avenue, Hialeah, Florida $    1,000,000

2. 9350 NW 89th Avenue, Medley, Florida $    7,500,000

3. 8801 NW 91st Street, Medley, Florida $    2,938,000

4. 3831 NW 21st Avenue, Pompano Beach, Florida $    1,560,000

5. 2700 Wiles Road, Pompano Beach, Florida $    9,960,000

6. 20701 Pembroke Road, Pembroke Pines, Florida $         42,000

The Bonds shall not be a debt, liability or obligation of the Authority or the City

or of the State of Florida, or of any political subdivision thereof, but shall be payable 

solely from payments derived from the Company and its operation of the facilities or the 

security instruments for the Bonds.

Please take note that the City Council of the City will hold a public hearing on 

the Project, its nature and location and associated issues regarding the Bonds in the City 

405



Council Chambers, City Hall, 120 East Main Street, Apopka, Florida, on Wednesday, 

October 3, 2018, commencing at 1:30 p.m. or shortly thereafter, at which time any person 

may be heard regarding the proposed issuance of said Bonds and the Project.

406



A-1

EXHIBIT A

LOCATIONS OF THE PROJECT 

PROJECTS FINANCED WITH NEW MONEY BONDS

1. 2700 Wiles Road, Pompano Beach, Florida

2. 14415 County Road 39, Duette, Florida

3. 9350 NW 89th Avenue, Medley, Florida

4. 10800 NE 128th Avenue, Okeechobee, Florida

5. 242 Keene Road West, Apopka, Florida

6. 1940 East State Road 78 NW, Moore Haven, Florida

PROJECTS REFINANCED WITH REFUNDING BONDS

1. 5000 NW 37th Avenue, Hialeah, Florida

2. 8801 NW 91st Street, Medley, Florida

3. 9350 NW 89th Avenue, Medley, Florida

4. 3831 NW 21st Avenue, Pompano Beach, Florida

5. 2700 Wiles Road, Pompano Beach, Florida

6. 20701 Pembroke Road, Pembroke Pines, Florida

407



EXHIBIT B

AFFIDAVIT OF PUBLICATION OF NOTICE OF HEARING

[Follows]

408



EXHIBIT C

FORM OF INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT

[Follows]

409



 

 

 CITY OF APOPKA  

CITY COUNCIL 
 

 
 

       CONSENT AGENDA      MEETING OF: October 3, 2018  

___ PUBLIC HEARING      FROM:              Fire Department            

       SPECIAL REPORTS      EXHIBITS:       Agreement  

  X   OTHER: Resolution No. 2018-21 
  

 

SUBJECT: STATEWIDE MUTUAL AID AGREEMENT FOR CATASTROPHIC DISASTER 

RESPONSE AND RECOVERY. 

 

REQUEST: ADOPT RESOLUTION NO. 2018-21 
  
SUMMARY: 

 

The Emergency Management Act, Chapter 252, provides each local government of the state the authority 

to develop and enter into mutual aid agreements within the state for reciprocal emergency aid and 

assistance in case of emergencies too extensive to be dealt with unassisted. The agreement will ensure the 

timely reimbursement of costs incurred by the local governments which render such assistance. 

 

Pursuant to Chapter 252, the City of Apopka may enter into this agreement with the Florida Emergency 

Management Division, who has the authority to coordinate assistance between local governments during 

emergencies and to concentrate available resources when needed. 

 

 

  
FUNDING SOURCE: 
 

N/A    
RECOMMENDATION ACTION: 
 

Adopt Resolution No. 2018-21 
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson     Finance Director  Public Services Director  

Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    

City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  

Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 
 

410



 RESOLUTION NO. 2018-21  

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA, 

APPROVING ENTERING INTO A STATEWIDE 

MUTUAL AID AGREEMENT FOR CATASTROPHIC 

DISASTER RESPONSE AND RECOVERY. 

 

WHEREAS, the State of Florida Emergency Management Act, Chapter 252, Florida Statutes, 

authorizes the State and its political subdivisions to enter into mutual aid agreements to provide 

emergency aid and assistance in the event of a disaster or emergency; and  

 

WHEREAS, the statutes also authorize the State to coordinate the provision of any 

equipment, services, or facilities owned or organized by the State or its political subdivisions for use 

in the affected area upon the request of the duly constituted authority of the area; and  

 

WHEREAS, this Resolution authorizes the request, provision, and receipt of 

interjurisdictional mutual assistance in accordance with the Emergency Management Act, Chapter 

252, Florida Statutes, among political subdivisions within the State. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

APOPKA, FLORIDA AS FOLLOWS: 

 

Section 1: On the ____ day of _______________, 2018, in order to maximize the prompt, 

full and effective use of resources of all participating governments in the event of an emergency or 

disaster we hereby adopt the Statewide Mutual Aid Agreement, Exhibit A, which is attached hereto 

and incorporated by reference.  

 

PASSED AND ADOPTED THIS _____ day of _______________, 2018. 

 

 

 

 

        _______________________________ 

        Bryan Nelson, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 

 

_____________________________ 

Linda F. Goff, City Clerk 

 

411



412



413



414



415



416



417



418



419



420



421



422



423



424



425



426



427



428



429



430



431



432



433



434



435



436



437



438



439



440



441



442



443



444



445



446



447



 

 

 CITY OF APOPKA  

CITY COUNCIL 
 

 
 

        CONSENT AGENDA      MEETING OF: October 3, 2018  

___ PUBLIC HEARING      FROM:              Public Services 

        SPECIAL REPORTS      EXHIBITS:       Resolution 2018-22, 

  X   OTHER:  Resolution 2018-22               Agreement 
  

 

SUBJECT: RAILROAD REIMBURSEMENT AGREEMENT FOR THE CONSTRUCTION OF 

GRADE CROSSINGS AND TRAFFIC CONTROL DEVICES ON EAST 8
th

 

STREET 

 

REQUEST: ADOPT RESOLUTION NO. 2018-22 
  
SUMMARY: 

 

The Florida Department of Transportation (FDOT) and the Florida Central Railroad Company are 

currently under construction to improve safety on East 8
th

 Street. The full cost of the installation for the 

crossing upgrade will be paid by FDOT.  Per the agreement, the City will pay for fifty percent (50%) of 

the annual maintenance cost equaling $3,600 per year. 

 

Resolution No. 2018-22 authorizes the Mayor to sign the agreement with FDOT and the Florida Central 

Railroad Company, Inc. for the East 8
th

 Street grade crossing and traffic control devices construction and 

maintenance. 

  
FUNDING SOURCE: 
 

Fund 101 – Six Cents Gas Tax    
RECOMMENDATION ACTION: 
 

Adopt Resolution No. 2018-22 
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson     Finance Director  Public Services Director  

Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    

City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  

Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 
 

448



RESOLUTION NO. 2018-22 

 

A RESOLUTION OF CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA, 

AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO SIGN A RAILROAD 

REIMBURSEMENT AGREEMENT FOR THE 

CONSTRUCTION OF RAILROAD GRADE CROSSINGS, 

INSTALLATION OF TRAFFIC CONTROL DEVICES 

RAILROAD GRADE CROSSINGS, AND FUTURE 

MAINTENANCE AND ADJUSTMENT OF SAID 

CROSSINGS AND DEVICES; PROVIDING FOR THE 

EXPENDITURE OF FUNDS; AND PROVIDING FOR AN 

EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 

WHEREAS, the State of Florida Department of Transportation is constructing, 

reconstructing or otherwise changing a portion of the Public Road System, on East 8
th

 Street, 

which shall call for the installation and maintenance of railroad grade crossing traffic control 

devices for railroad grade crossing over or near said highway. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

APOPKA, FLORIDA, AS FOLLOWS: 

SECTION I.  That the City of Apopka enter into a RAILROAD REIMBURSEMENT 

AGREEMENT with the State of Florida Department of Transportation and the Florida Central 

Railroad Company, Inc. for the installation and maintenance of certain grade crossings and traffic 

control devices for grade crossings designated as Financial Project ID 44235915701, on E. 8
th

 

Street which crosses the right-of-way and tracks of the Company’s milepost number ST 802.22, at 

Railroad Crossing No. 625271-J located in Apopka, Florida; and 

SECTION II.  That the City of Apopka assume its share of the costs for future maintenance and 

adjustment of said grade crossing traffic control devices as designated in the RAILROAD 

REIMBURSEMENT AGREEMENT; and 

SECTION III.  The Mayor is hereby authorized to enter into such agreement with the State of 

Florida Department of Transportation and the Florida Central Railroad Company, Inc., as herein 

described. 

 

SECTION IV.  This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon approval and adoption. 

 

APPROVED AND ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Apopka, Florida, this 

3rd day of October, 2018. 

 

        CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA 

 
______________________________

Bryan Nelson, Mayor 

ATTEST:  

 
________________________________ 

Linda F. Goff, City Clerk 
449



450



451



452



453



454



455



456



457



458



459



460



461



462



463



464



465



466



467



468



469



470



471



472



473



474



475


	Top
	1. 10-03-18 - CC - Minutes - 09.19.18
	09-19-18 Draft.docx

	1. 10-03-18 - CC - Presentations - FDEP presentation of AAC FRDAP Grant
	2. 10-03-18 - CC - Presentations - Boy Scout - Monument
	1. 10-03-18 - CC - Consent - PD Lake County Agreement
	Lake-Apopka Agreement Extension SR.DOCX
	Apopka Amendment_partially executed.pdf

	2. 10-03-18 - CC - Consent - School Concurrency Agreement - Vista Reserve
	1 Vista Reserve OCPS Concurrency Mitigation Agreement CC 10-3-2018 C.pdf
	2 APK-18-017_09.21.18  Vista Reserve CMA.pdf

	3. 10-03-18 - CC - Consent - School Concurrency Mitigation Agreement - Meadow View Apartments
	1 Meadow View Apartments OCPS Concurrency Mitigation Agreement 9-10-2018 C.pdf
	2 APK-18-010 Meadow View Apartments 07.02.18 CMA.pdf
	3 APK-18-010 Meadow View Apartments Signature Page.pdf

	4. 10-03-18 - CC - Consent Agenda - Sewer &amp; Water Capacity Agreement - Lakeside, Phase 2
	1 Lakeside Phase II Sewer &amp;amp; Water Cap grnsht.pdf
	2 Lakeside Phase II Capacity Agreement.pdf

	1. 10-03-18 - CC - Business - ALW Community Center Award
	CA - 10-03-18 - ALW CDBG Award.docx

	2. 10-03-18 - CC - Business - Final Development Plan/Plat - Lakeside Phase 2
	1 Lakeside Phae 2 FDP Plat CC 100318.pdf
	2 Lakeside Phase 2 FDP.pdf
	3 Lakeside Phase 2 Plat.pdf

	3. 10-03-18 - CC - Business - Final Development Plan/Plat - Vista Reserve
	1 Vista Reserve FDP Plat CC 10 03 18 C.pdf
	2 Final Devleopment Plan.pdf
	3 Vista Reserve Plat.pdf

	1. 10-03-18 - CC - Ordinances - Ord. #2679 - 2nd Rd - Comp Plan CIE Element
	1 5 Year CIP Amendment 2nd Rding- CC -10-03-18.pdf
	2 Ord 2679 CIP Amendment.pdf
	3 APPENDIX 7-1 Excel.pdf

	2. 10-03-18 - CC - Ordinances - Ord. #2678 - 1st Rd - Change of Zoning/PUD Master Plan/PDP/SDP - Mid-Florida Logisitcs Center
	1 CC Staff Report Mid Florida Logistics Park PUD - ZON - CC 10 03 18.pdf
	2 Ordinance No. 2678.pdf
	3 Master Plan.pdf
	4 MidFL LogisticsPark TIA.pdf
	5 2018-27-08 ANC-1_Peterson Rd ROW Exhibit.pdf
	6  Public Comment-Coca-Cola Letter 08 23 18.pdf
	7 Public Comment -- 2nd Coca-Cola Letter 09 26 18.pdf

	3. 10-03-18 - CC - Ordinances - Ord. #2681 - Annexation Cycle 5 - Construesse USA, Inc.
	1 Contruesse USA Inc. Staff Report - CC 10 03 2018.pdf
	2 Ord 2681 - Contruesse USA Inc. Annexation.pdf

	4. 10-03-18 - CC - Resolution 2018-20 TEFRA
	Linda - TEFRA Staff Report.docx
	Resolution - TEFRA.docx
	Apopka Chief - Affidavit of Publication (01402908).pdf
	TEFRA - Apopka - Interlocal Agreement.pdf
	Exhibits TEFRA.pdf

	5. 10-03-18 - CC - Resolution 2018-21 - Statewide Mutual Aid Agreement
	FD - Mutual Aid Agreement Staff Report.docx
	RESO Statewide Disaster Mutual Aid.docx
	Statewide Mutual Aid Agreement.pdf

	6. 10-03-18 - CC - Resolution 2018-22 - Railroad Reimbursement Agreement
	Resolution 2018-22 Staff Report.docx
	DOT Railroad Crossing Resolution - 2018-22.docx
	FDOT RR Reimbursement Agr E 8th St.pdf

	1. 10-03-18 - CC - Mayor Report - Building at Park and 5th Street
	Bottom

